# Fluorescence Optical Imaging

# in Hand Osteoarthritis

Doctoral thesis by

Øystein Maugesten

2021





Diakonhjemmet Hospital

Department of Rheumatology

Oslo, Norway

University of Oslo

Faculty of Medicine

Oslo, Norway

# © Øystein Maugesten, 2021

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8377-881-6

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgments	2
Funding	5
List of abbreviations	6
List of papers	
1 Introduction and background	9
1.1 Clinical aspects of hand osteoarthritis (OA)	9
1.1.1 Definitions and classification criteria	9
1.1.2 Epidemiology	
1.1.3 Comorbidity and mortality	
1.1.4 Pathogenesis	
1.1.5 Risk factors	
1.1.6 Symptoms	
1.1.7 Clinical assessment and diagnosis	
1.1.8 Management	
1.1.9 Developing outcome measures in hand OA	
1.2 Fluorescence optical imaging (FOI)	24
1.2.1 Background	24
1.2.2 Xiralite®	
1.2.3 Scoring methods	
1.2.4 Measurement properties	
1.2.5 FOI in rheumatology	
1.2.6 Probes	
1.2.7 Other optical imaging modalities	
1.3 Imaging in hand OA	
1.3.1 Conventional radiography	
1.3.2 MRI	
1.3.3 Ultrasound	
2. General aim and specific research questions	41
3. Material and methods	
3.1 Study design	
3.2 Study population	

3.3 Data collection	
3.3.1 Nor-Hand cohort	
3.3.2 Data collection in reliability exercise	
3.4 Statistical methods	
3.4.1 General considerations	
3.4.2 Descriptive analysis and group comparisons	
3.4.3 Reliability	
3.4.5 Validity	
3.4.6 Linear and logistic regression analyses	
3.5 Legal and ethical aspects	
4. Summary of results	
Paper I	
Paper II	60
Paper III	
5. General discussion	63
5.1 Methodological aspects	63
5.1.1 Study design	
5.1.2 Study population	
5.1.3 FOI	64
5.1.4 MRI	
5.1.5 Contrast agents	
5.1.6 Patients self-reported measures and clinical examination	
5.2 Statistical aspects	68
5.2.1 Reliability	
5.2.2 Validity	71
5.2.3 Regression	
6. Main results	72
6.1 Demographics	72
6.2 Reliability	73
6.3 FOI-enhancement in erosive hand OA vs. rheumatoid arthritis	74
6.4 Prevalence of FOI, MRI and ultrasound findings in joint groups	
6.5 Diagnostic performance of FOI	77
6.6 FOI and pain	
7. Conclusions	
7.1 Answer to research questions	84

	7.2 Clinical implications	
8.	8. Errata	90
9.	). References	91
1(	0. Papers 1-3	

# Acknowledgments

This Ph.d-project would not have been possible without the contribution of a large number of people to whom I am sincerely grateful.

First of all, I am very thankful to my team of supervisors; your complimentary skills and encouraging supervision and support throughout these three years have been outstanding. My main supervisor and project leader in the Nor-Hand study, dr. Ida K. Haugen; thank you for your help, patience and thoroughness. Your ability to supervise and give valuable feedback on everything from statistical analyses to scientific writing is second to none. You are a force to be reckoned with in the field of hand OA and I feel very privileged to have worked with you throughout these three years. Co-supervisor dr. Sarah Ohrndorf; I am very grateful that you've been part of this project, with your positive spirit and solid knowledge about Fluorescence Optical Imaging and clinical research in rheumatology. Co-supervisor and professor Till Uhlig; thank you so much for your friendliness, constructive supervision, thorough review of my manuscripts and for listening to my rehearsals before oral presentations at congresses.

I am also very grateful to have had professor Tore K. Kvien involved in my phdproject from the very beginning. Thank you for sharing your extensive expertise within rheumatological research and for giving me thorough feedback on my manuscripts.

Special thanks go to dr. Barbara Slatkowsky-Christensen for performing clinical examination on all patients in the Nor-Hand-study, dr. Alexander Mathiessen and professor Hilde Berner Hammer for contributing with valuable ultrasound expertise in the data collection, MD Sigrid Hestetun for scoring FOI images and MD Karwan Faraj at the radiology department at Diakonhjemmet sykehus for answering questions about musculoskeletal MRI. Furthermore, I would like to thank professor Mikkel Østergaard, dr. Lene Terslev, dr. Mads Ammitzbøll-Danielsen, dr. Daniel Glinatsi and Yogan Kisten for coauthoring paper one and participating in the reliability exercise.

I would also express my gratitude to Jörn Berger at Xiralite GmbH for hosting the meeting in Berlin ahead of the reliability exercise and for always being helpful with practical and technical information regarding the Xiralite®. I would also like to thank dr. Stéphanie Werner for kindly answering my questions about FOI.

This project would not have been possible without the participation of 300 hand OA patients in the Nor-Hand study. I would like to express my gratitude to each and every one of these participants for generously giving of their time. I would also like to thank all the medical students who participated on the test evenings and collected data.

I have been surrounded by great colleagues in the research department at Diakonhjemmet hospital. I have worked on the Nor-Hand study with Pernille Steen Pettersen, Elisabeth Mulrooney and Marthe Gløersen; thank you for filling the office with laughter and inspirational conversation throughout these three years. I would also say thank you to all the great ph.d-students and senior researchers in the research department for supportive talks and nice lunch breaks along the way; Ulf, Grunde, Ellen, Nina, Vibeke, Lena, Brigitte, Ingrid, Marthe, Siri, Nina, Espen, Marte, Bitte, Silje, Anne Grete, Silvia, Karen, Anna-Birgitte; such a competent and friendly group of people! Statisticians Joe and Øivind; thank you for steady guiding me through the jungle of Stata-commands and statistical methodology. I have really appreciated how we can laugh about statistics every now and then. My coordinators Kristin and Gunnhild; thank you for helping me out with all my practical questions and for always making me feel welcome. I am also very thankful for the warm welcome from all the medical doctors and nurses in the rheumatology department at Diakonhjemmet hospital when starting my residency in October 2020.

Last but not least, I am very grateful to my close-knit family and friends for all the support, dinners, travels and fun throughout these three years. My thoughtful and generous parents and my devoted siblings Hanne Marie and Håvard, my two beloved grandparents and excellent extended family and all my caring and cheerful friends; thank you for always being there!

# Funding

The Nor-Hand study was supported by funds from the Southern and Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, the Pahles Foundation/the Norwegian Rheumatism Association, Simon Fougner Hartmanns Family Foundation, and Trygve Gythfeldt and Wife's Research Foundation. The ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation through EXTRA funds has financed the Ph.D. position of Øystein Maugesten.

# List of abbreviations

3D	Three-dimensional
ACR	American College of Rheumatology
AUC	Area under the curve
AUSCAN	Australian and Canadian Hand Index
BMI	Body Mass Index
CI	Confidence interval
СМС	Carpometacarpal joint
DAS-28	Disease Activity Score in 28 joints
DIP	Distal interphalangeal joints
DMARDs	Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs
EULAR	European League Against Rheumatism
FOI	Fluorescence Optical Imaging
FOIAS	Fluorescence Optical Imaging Activity Score
GEE	Generalized estimating equations
HOAMRIS	Hand OA MRI score
ICC	Intraclass correlation coefficient
ICG	Indocyanine green
IL	Interleukin
LED	Light-emitting diode
МСР	Metacarpophalangeal joints
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
OA	Osteoarthritis
OARSI	Osteoarthritis research society international

OMERACT	Outcome measures in rheumatology
OR	Odds ratio
OST	Optical spectral transmission
Pabak	Prevalence and bias adjusted kappa
Pabak-OS	Prevalence and bias adjusted kappa for ordinal scales
PCA	Percent close agreement
PEA	Percent exact agreement
PIP	Proximal interphalangeal joint <sup>1</sup>
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
RCT	Randomized controlled trials
SD	Standard deviation
STT	Scaphotrapeziotrapezoid
TOMS	Thumb Base Osteoarthritis Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scoring System

1. Throughout the thesis, PIP always includes 1st interphalangeal joint

## Paper I

Ø. Maugesten, S. Ohrndorf, D. Glinatsi, M. Ammitzbøll-Danielsen, Y. Kisten, M. Østergaard, L. Terslev, T. Uhlig, T.K. Kvien, I.K. Haugen

Evaluation of three scoring methods for Fluorescence Optical Imaging in erosive hand osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis

Osteoarthritis Cartilage Open. 2020;1(3-4). Doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocarto.2019.100017

Paper II

Ø. Maugesten, A. Mathiessen, H. B. Hammer, S. Hestetun, T. K. Kvien, Till Uhlig, S. Ohrndorf, I.K. Haugen

Validity and diagnostic performance of Fluorescence Optical Imaging measuring synovitis in hand osteoarthritis: baseline results from the Nor-Hand cohort

Arthritis Res Ther. 2020;22(1):98. Doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-020-02185-0

## Paper III

Ø. Maugesten, S. Ohrndorf, B. Slatkowsky-Christensen, T. K. Kvien, T. Uhlig, I.K. Haugen Associations between Fluorescence Optical Imaging and Magnetic Resonance Imaging and symptoms in hand osteoarthritis

Manuscript published in Rheumatology, 30th of January 2021.

Doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keab085

# 1 Introduction and background

# 1.1 Clinical aspects of hand osteoarthritis (OA)

# 1.1.1 Definitions and classification criteria

Osteoarthritis (OA) is one of the leading causes of disability and pain, affecting approximately 300 million people worldwide (1). Due to increased life expectancy, obesity, and a more sedate lifestyle the prevalence of OA is rising. Despite its considerable impact on quality of life and health care systems, no cure or efficient therapies exist so far (2). The name OA consists of *ostéon* (Greek, "related to bone"), *árthron* (Greek, "a joint"), and *-itis* (Latin, "inflammation"). Previously understood as a condition affecting cartilage secondary to "wear and tear", OA is now acknowledged to be a whole-joint disease, including the subchondral bone, synovium, joint capsule, ligaments, tendons, nerves and muscle in addition to the cartilage (3). Although any joint can be affected by OA, the knees, hips, hands, and spine are the most studied joints.

Hand OA is a heterogenous condition and is often divided into different entities based on distribution, radiographic findings or symptoms and clinical findings. Two entities of hand OA based on joint distribution are interphalangeal OA affecting the distal interphalangeal (DIP) and proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joints (nodal or non-nodal), and thumb base OA affecting the 1<sup>st</sup> carpometacarpal (CMC-1) and scaphotrapeziotrapezoid (STT) joints (3, 4). These two might coexist; however, thumb base OA is present in isolation more frequently than interphalangeal OA (5). The Kellgren Lawrence scoring system is commonly applied in hand OA research (6, 7). In a systematic search, definite radiographic hand OA on the joint level was defined as Kellgren Lawrence grade 2 or more in a clear majority of studies (95-100 %), while the definition of overall radiographic hand OA varied considerably (8). Clinical hand OA is based on clinical features only, and the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) classification criteria for hand OA are often applied. These include 1) pain, aching, or stiffness of the hands on most days of prior month, 2) bony enlargements of at least two out of 10 selected joints (the bilateral second and third DIP and PIP joints and the thumb base), 3) less than three swollen metacarpophalangeal (MCP) joints, 4) at least two DIP joints with bony enlargements and 5) at least 2 out of 10 selected joints (the bilateral second and third DIP and PIP joints and the thumb base) with deformity (9). Diagnosis requires items 1 to 3 and either 4 or 5. These criteria do not include radiographic findings and are hampered by poor sensitivity for early OA, and new classification criteria are being developed (10). Finally, symptomatic hand OA combines radiographic and clinical findings, i.e., presence of at least one hand joint with Kellgren Lawrence grade 2, or more, and hand pain, aching or stiffness (11).

Another common way of defining hand OA subsets is to differentiate between erosive vs. non-erosive disease, based on the presence of central erosions and collapse of the subchondral plate in finger joints. It remains a contentious subject whether erosive hand OA is a distinct entity or a severe form of hand OA and it has been suggested to be a more inflammatory phenotype than non-erosive hand OA (3, 4). More power Doppler activity has been demonstrated in erosive hand OA (12), and synovitis and radiographic changes progress faster (13).

Historically, OA was defined as primary or idiopathic when the etiology was unclear. The term secondary OA was applied when an underlying event or condition was hypothesized to be the driver of the disease. This included trauma, inflammatory arthritis, avascular necrosis and infection, endocrine disorders like acromegaly and hyperparathyroidism, systemic metabolic disease like hemochromatosis, ochronosis and Wilson disease and hypermobility syndrome (14). Nonetheless, with advancing knowledge of the complexity of

the OA etiopathogenesis, it has been acknowledged that no OA is truly idiopathic, and the terms primary and secondary OA are rarely applied in current OA research (15).

## 1.1.2 Epidemiology

Hand OA is a widespread condition, and reported prevalence and incidence differ based on the definition of disease, age, sex and geographical factors in the population studied (3). The reported prevalence of radiographic hand OA is higher than symptomatic hand OA (16). In the Framingham study, age-standardized prevalence of radiographic hand OA was found to be 44 % in women and 38 % in men (11). Two other studies presented half and twice this prevalence; in a cohort from North-Carolina (US), the overall prevalence of radiographic hand OA in women between 40 and 53 years was estimated to be 21 %, while a Japanese study with an older population (mean 66 years old) reported a prevalence of 90 % in men and 92 % in women (17, 18).

A systematic review by Pereira *et al.* found radiographic hand OA to be more prevalent (49 %) than radiographic hip OA (15 %) and radiographic knee OA (men 32 %, women 39 %) (16). Furthermore, symptomatic hand OA (15 %) was more prevalent than symptomatic knee OA in men (8 %) and comparable to symptomatic knee OA in women (16 %). Looking at overall prevalence (symptomatic, radiographic, self-reported) of OA, hand OA was more prevalent (43.3 %) than knee OA (23.9 %) and hip OA (10.9 %). A significant sex difference was only detected in knee OA, however less studies were included for hand and hip OA.

There is no consensus on how to define the incidence and progression of hand OA. The Framingham study reported a nine-year crude incidence of radiographic hand OA to be 35 % in women and 34 % in men (11). In comparison the nine-year incidence of symptomatic hand OA was considerably lower with 10 % and 4 % in women and men, respectively. An

average of one to two joints with established hand OA progressed throughout the nine-year study period, emphasizing that hand OA is a slowly progressing disease.

Finally, in a population-based cohort in North-Carolina (US), the estimated lifetime risk for developing symptomatic hand OA in at least one hand by the age of 85 was almost one in two (47 %) for women and one in four (25 %) for men (19). The high prevalence and incidence of hand OA might explain why many health care providers and patients alike perceive the condition as an inevitable part of aging (20).

# 1.1.3 Comorbidity and mortality

The OA Research Society International (OARSI) published the "white paper" in 2016, stating that OA is a serious disease and highlighting the burden of OA on quality of life and health care systems, and associations between OA and mortality and morbidity (2). OA in the hip and knee has been associated with increased mortality (21, 22); however, in the Framingham study, radiographic and symptomatic hand OA was not associated with increased mortality (23). Interestingly, symptomatic hand OA was associated with an increased incidence of cardiovascular disease, although no association between hand OA and brain infarction and congestive heart failure was detected. In a Canadian retrospective cohort study and a case-control study in general practice in England and Wales, OA patients demonstrated a strong prevalence of comorbidities (24, 25). Depression, anxiety and sleep disturbances are also commonly reported in OA patients (26, 27).

# 1.1.4 Pathogenesis

OA affects all parts of the joint, with cartilage destruction, subchondral remodeling, osteophyte formation, bone marrow lesions, synovial hypertrophy and effusion, and muscle and ligament abnormalities. These features and their underlying processes may converge, and

gradually lead to destruction of the osteoarthritic joint. OA research in general has focused on the pathophysiology of the knee, and it is uncertain whether hand OA joints share the same processes and pathways.

#### Cartilage

The articular cartilage in the joint serves two purposes; absorbing daily shock and repetitive wear, and decreasing joint friction through a wide range of motions. Chondrocytes are quiescent post-mitotic building blocks of cartilage tissue and provide homeostasis in the tissue, balancing catabolic and anabolic activity (28). Healthy cartilage tissue is both aneural and avascular, and chondrocytes have a metabolism adapted to anaerobic conditions, where most of its oxygen is supplied through the synovium (29). Aging chondrocytes are exposed to biomechanical and biochemical stressors, like free extracellular matrix particles in the synovial fluid and pro-inflammatory cytokines that can make them undergo a phenotypic shift, also referred to as chondrocytes' catabolic and anabolic properties, ultimately leading to chondrocyte hypertrophy, abnormal matrix production and an increased number of degrading enzymes (28, 30).

#### Synovium

The joint cavity is delineated by the synovium-lined joint capsule and articular cartilage on the distal bone and contains synovial fluid. The normal synovium consists of two thin layers. The intima contains two types of synoviocytes, a macrophage-like and a fibroblast-like cell, and the subintima features blood and lymphatic vessels and extracellular matrix (31, 32). Synovial fluid consist mainly of lubricin and hyaluronic acid (33), helping to reduce friction and maintain and prevent the accumulation of proteins at the articular surface (31, 34). What

initiates synovitis in the OA joint is uncertain. Synoviocytes and chondrocytes share the ability to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines (30, 35), and cross-talk between these two cell-types have been proposed to play a pivotal role in the OA pathogenesis (36). Acute or chronic joint injury has been hypothesized to expose cartilage fragments to the synovial fluid where they bind to toll-like receptors (TLR) in synoviocytes. This might in turn trigger the production of cytokines and chemokines leading to inflammatory cell infiltration and angiogenesis (37, 38). A plethora of cytokines can be found in the OA synovium; interleukin (IL)-1 beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha are the most extensively studied cytokines; however, other pro-inflammatory mediators like IL-15, IL-17, and IL-18 and the anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13 have also been suggested to play a role (38, 39). IL-1 has been considered a key cytokine in the osteoarthritis pathogenesis and drives catabolic responses in the chondrocyte (38) through inhibiting collagen synthesis and upregulation of proteolytic enzymes (40, 41). Nevertheless, anti-IL1-alfa and beta did not demonstrate improvement of pain or imaging outcomes in erosive hand OA patients in a recent phase 2 trial (42).

#### Bone

Several bone-related changes can be observed in the osteoarthritic joint. Subchondral sclerosis is a prominent feature, representing the deposition of mineralized collagen. Furthermore, fibrocartilaginous bony outgrowths, also known as osteophytes, are frequently manifested on the margins of the joint as a result of increased tissue stress (43). Bone marrow lesions appear in proximity to mechanical loading and represent microstructural bone damage with necrosis and fibrosis (44). Another frequently observed OA feature is subchondral cysts, suggested to be hollow enlargements induced by synovial fluid or microfractures in the subchondral bone

(45). Finally, in erosive hand OA, central erosions, and collapse of the subchondral plate can be present (3).

# 1.1.5 Risk factors

The etiology of OA is multifactorial, and the knowledge of risk factors and their interaction with pathophysiological pathways is evolving. Here follows a presentation of the most studied risk factors.

## Age

Increasing age is one of the main risk factors for OA. Incidence and prevalence of hand OA increase with age (11), which can be due to cumulative exposure to risk factors described in this section, as well as age-related processes like chondroscenescence and chondrocytes diminishing ability to perform tissue-repair (29, 46).

#### Biomechanical factors and trauma

Previous knee injury is a significant risk factor for the development of knee OA (47), while this association is less evident in hand OA. An American community-based study did not find self-reported hand injury to be a risk factor for developing hand OA (48). Although not weight-bearing, the hand is load-bearing, and the majority of the intraarticular force in the finger joints is induced by contraction of finger muscles (49). In the PIP joints, hypermobility has been shown to protect against OA (50), while in the CMC-1 joint, hypermobility and subluxation has been associated with the development of thumb base OA (51). Manual work and extensive use of pinch grip is associated with OA in the CMC-1 and interphalangeal joints, respectively, while forceful gripping has been associated with OA in the MCP joints (52-54). In line with these findings, OA in the dominant hand would be expected to be more prevalent; however, results on handedness and OA are inconclusive (55-57).

# Sex

A meta-analysis by Srikanth et al. found higher prevalence of knee and hand OA in women, while no significant difference was demonstrated for hip OA (58). The same study found no significant gender difference in hand OA severity. Furthermore, symptomatic and erosive hand OA has been demonstrated to have a female predominance (11). This discrepancy between men and women has suggested that hormonal factors play a role; however, a systematic review did not find evidence of an association between hormones and the development of hand OA (59).

## Genetics

Hand OA has a polygenetic influence ranging from 39 to 65 % depending on the joint group affected, and DIP and CMC-1 seem to be the joints most prone to heritability (60, 61). The use of genome-wide association studies has helped to identify new loci with potential importance in the OA pathogenesis (62). Several OA susceptible genes involved in cartilage catabolism and chondrocyte hypertrophy have been detected (63, 64). There is also increasing evidence that epigenetic alterations of inflammatory genes play a role in the development of the disease (65, 66).

#### Metabolic syndrome and obesity

Osteoarthritis has been suggested to share biochemical and inflammatory factors with the metabolic-syndrome, defined as obesity, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia and raised blood pressure, and a metabolic phenotype of OA has been described (67-70). However, looking at

hand OA in particular, Strand *et al.* found no association between metabolic syndrome and hand OA in cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses in the Framingham study (71). Furthermore, it has been proposed that obesity and hand OA are associated (5, 72, 73). As hand joints are less affected by weight gain than the hip and knee joints, the association between obesity and hand OA has been hypothesized to be caused by systemic factors (37). Obesity has been linked to chronic low-grade inflammation, and serum adipokine levels and elevated C-reactive protein levels have been proposed to influence OA (74-76). Despite these hypotheses, Magnusson *et al.* did not show any associations between body mass index (BMI) and the development of hand OA over 20 years in a case-control study (77). However, high BMI early in life demonstrated a weak association with future hand OA. Furthermore, no association was shown between obesity and hand OA in cross-sectional or longitudinal analyses in the OA Initiative supporting these findings (78).

#### Ethnicity

Ethnicity has been proposed to be a potential risk factor for OA, with a higher prevalence of knee OA in the black population (79, 80). In the Johnston county OA project in North-Carolina (US), lower lifetime risk of symptomatic hand OA in African Americans (29 %) compared to Caucasians (41 %) was detected (19). A recent study on data from the OA Initiative confirmed this finding with statistically significant lower odds for symptomatic, radiographic, and erosive hand OA in black subjects, also when known OA risk factors were corrected for (81).

# Phenotypes and machine learning

Machine learning is the ability of a computer system to process large amounts of data with varying degrees of human input to assess patterns and outcome variables (82, 83). With

quantum computers, complex disease mechanisms can be explored with the help of large data sets from different scientific fields (84). OA is a heterogeneous condition with several described phenotypes. A phenotype is the observable features of an individual's genome (85). Overlapping and distinct phenotypes and "drivers" of OA have been proposed, such as aging-, cartilage-, metabolic-, traumatic injury-, inflammatory- and subchondral bone-driven OA (86, 87). Detecting specific OA phenotypes, like slow vs. fast progression and erosive vs. nonerosive, and applying this knowledge to include well profiled groups in future OA trials might increase the likelihood of finding efficient new therapies (88). Image analysis has been the main focus of machine learning approaches in OA (89). A recent data-driven knee OA study with 597 subjects was able to detect a progression phenotype and its associated variables (bone marrow lesions, osteophytes, medial meniscal extrusion, and urine C-terminal crosslinkend telopeptide type II collagen) (90). Tiulpin et al. applied deep learning with convolutional neural networks for assessment of 5960 knee radiographs from the OA Initiative according to Kellgren and Lawrence, resulting in good diagnostic performance with area under the receiver operating curve (ROC) of 0.92 with expert radiologists as reference (91).

# 1.1.6 Symptoms

Symptomatic hand OA vary from mild to severe and can have a substantial impact on healthrelated quality of life (92). The disease burden in persons with OA who have been referred to secondary care has been acknowledged to be similar to that of RA (93). Pain is a primary concern for OA patients (94). Limited joint function and stiffness is also commonly reported. OA pain can present as constant or intermittent, is often present during motion and activities, and fluctuates throughout the day (95-97). Patients most commonly characterize the pain as sore, inhibiting, and annoying, and neuropathic-like characteristics like sticking, stabbing, burning, radiating, and creeping are also frequently reported (98). Pain mechanisms in hand OA are complicated, with biological, genetic, socio-cultural, and psychological factors contributing to the ultimate pain experience (95). Central sensitization can develop in chronic pain conditions, and is common in hand OA patients (99, 100). Furthermore, restricted hand function is commonly reported in hand OA (101-104). Manipulating and picking up smaller objects, writing, and twisting the hand are some complaints covered by common hand OA instruments (105).

Stiffness is also a frequently reported symptom in hand OA, often appearing after periods with inactivity or sleep (106). Morning stiffness lasting up to 30 minutes is common, as opposed to inflammatory arthritis where the stiffness tends to be more protracted (107). Finally, aesthetic dissatisfaction with the appearance of the hands is also reported (108).

# 1.1.7 Clinical assessment and diagnosis

The ACR classification criteria for hand OA are applied in research only, and there are no official diagnostic criteria for hand OA. Zhang *et al.* presented ten propositions for the diagnosis of hand OA in a European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) task force in 2009 (109). These recommendations summarize risk factors, typical symptoms of hand OA, clinical hallmarks, and functional impairment in hand OA, recognized subsets of hand OA and relevant differential diagnoses. The task force recommends conventional radiographs if doubt about the diagnosis; however, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) might be of higher value. Ultrasound can also be applied if uncertainty about the diagnosis (110, 111).

Clinical hallmarks of hand OA include Heberden's and Bouchard's nodes in the DIP and PIP joints, respectively. These nodes are associated with radiographic osteophytes (112, 113), and can be located on the marginal or dorsal aspect of the joint, separately or as one continuous node (114). Bony enlargements can also be present in the MCP and CMC-1 joints. Joint swelling, warmth and redness might be present, usually due to inflammation. Joint deformities in interphalangeal OA and subluxation of the MCP-1 joint and squaring of the CMC-1 in thumb base OA might also be noted. Pain on palpation and movement, as well as limited range of motion, might be present in affected joints.

#### 1.1.8 Management

A EULAR task force has reviewed recommendations for the management of hand OA (115). The overarching goal of hand OA treatment is to control symptoms and individualize treatment. The recommendations encompass general recommendations for all hand OA patients, from education and exercises, to more specific pharmacological therapies and surgery. Multidisciplinary management with a combination of pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment provided by doctors, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, and nurses has been shown to give overall better patient satisfaction. However, clinical outcomes did not improve significantly in OA patients undergoing multidisciplinary follow-up (116). This section presents updated recommendations of management of hand OA in three areas; non-pharmacological, pharmacological, and surgical treatment. Non-approved treatments and potential treatment targets will be discussed briefly.

#### Non-pharmacological treatment

Non-pharmacological treatment is the foundation of hand OA management and should be offered to all patients. Education about the underlying cause and development of hand OA and instruction in ergonomic principles is essential (117). Furthermore, the use of assistive devices and splints has been proved to be efficacious (118, 119), and several studies have shown that orthoses in thumb base OA can lower joint pain and increase function (120-123). However, the wide selection of materials and recommended use, makes the comparison of

different studies on assistive devices difficult. Hand exercise as analgesic therapy is frequently recommended to hand OA patients and have been demonstrated to be a costeffective measure and beneficial in reducing hand pain and finger joint stiffness (124). A metanalysis on exercise in hand OA showed a small positive effect on pain and function, without sustained effect at follow-up (125).

#### Established pharmacological treatment

EULAR recommendations presents topical treatments as the first pharmacological therapy of choice, due to a well-documented safety profile and effectiveness on pain (115, 126). Nonetheless, a metanalysis found that topical non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) were more efficient than placebo only in the two first weeks of treatment (127). Capsaicin, an analgesic chemical compound isolated from chili peppers, has been suggested as topical treatment for painful knee, hand and hip OA and is moderately effective in treating pain (128, 129). Oral NSAIDs can improve pain and function in hand OA patients (130); however, considering the safety profile, with gastrointestinal, renal, and cardiovascular side effects, these drugs should only be administered at lowest effective dose when needed. Paracetamol has been investigated predominantly in hip and knee OA, with limited clinical improvement (131). Only small studies on hand OA and paracetamol has been performed without clear improvement in pain and stiffness (132). Nevertheless, paracetamol is frequently prescribed to hand OA patients. The use of intraarticular glucocorticoids in hand OA is generally not recommended by EULAR; however, it might be considered in painful and inflamed interphalangeal joints as improvements in pain and function have been demonstrated (133). In the CMC-1 joint, on the other hand, intraarticular glucocorticoid injections have not shown improvement in pain and function (134-136). The studies on intraarticular injections in hand OA have several limitations. A small number of participants

were included, the injections were not ultrasound-guided, and ultrasound-defined inflammation was not an inclusion criterion. More extensive studies, including inflamed joints only, are needed to draw a conclusion. Recently, the use of oral Prednisolone 10 mg on erosive hand OA over 6 weeks demonstrated improvement in pain and function and a decrease in synovial thickening on ultrasound (137). Thus, prednisolone might be prescribed as a short-term therapy. This finding is supported by a study on 83 hand OA patients receiving CRx-102, a combination of dipyramidole and prednisolone (3 mg), where significantly reduced pain was demonstrated (138).

## Experimental pharmacological treatment

Glucosamine sulfate and chondroitin sulfate provides the elastic and shock-absorbing qualities of cartilage. Although frequently advertised as an efficient OA treatment, there are no high-quality placebo-controlled randomized controlled trials (RCTs) performed on glucosamine sulfate in hand OA. Chondroitin sulfate, on the other hand, demonstrated a significant decrease in patients' global assessment of hand pain and stiffness as well as increased function in a placebo-controlled RCT (139). However, grip strength and use of other analgesics remained similar in the two treatment arms. This finding was supported by a systematic review of studies on chondroitin sulfate in hip, knee and hand OA that suggested a clinically relevant effect on pain; however, the studies included were deemed to have poor quality and no clear recommendation was proposed. Furthermore, only a few of the studies in this review was on hand OA (140).

Conventional synthetic and biologic disease modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) targeting different inflammatory pathways has revolutionized the prognosis and burden of disease in inflammatory joint disease during the last two decades. As synovitis plays a central role in the hand OA pathogenesis, the repurposing of these anti-inflammatory

drugs has been investigated in several RCTs in hand OA patients with predominantly negative findings (3); the anti-TNF- $\alpha$  inhibitors etanercept (141) and adalimumab (142-144), anti-IL-1 (145), and hydroxychloroquine (146, 147) have not demonstrated effectiveness on pain. Furthermore, a study on methotrexate in erosive hand OA did not prove efficacious, but an impact on radiographic progression according to Gent University scoring system (GUSS) was suggested (148). The lack of efficacy of these potent DMARDs in hand OA suggest that inflammation is not an appropriate treatment target in hand OA. However, it has also been argued that the limited effect of these studies is due to heterogeneous patient populations where the majority had low-degree inflammation, too low dosage of the drug examined, concomitant use of NSAIDs and a substantial placebo response making the difference between the treatment groups less pronounced.

## Surgical treatment

Trapeziectomy in thumb base OA and arthrodesis and arthroplasty in interphalangeal OA should only be considered in patients not responding to pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment (115). These recommendations lack RCTs with placebo- or sham-controlled groups, and are based on expert opinion. Also, within joint groups there is sparse evidence of the superiority of one technique over another. A systematic review of the different surgical interventions of the thumb base did not demonstrate a difference in outcome between techniques (149).

### 1.1.9 Developing outcome measures in hand OA

Assessing a new outcome measure for synovitis in hand OA is at core of this thesis. Outcome Measures in Rheumatology (OMERACT) is an international task force focusing on improved outcome measures in rheumatological research. The OMERACT filter is an algorithm

developed for the selection of new outcomes or the modification of existing outcomes (150). This filter focuses on validity, reliability, sensitivity to change, and feasibility, and has been applied in the development of imaging and core instruments regarding pain, physical function, patient's global assessment, health-related quality of life, joint activity, and hand strength (151-153).

# 1.2 Fluorescence optical imaging (FOI)

## 1.2.1 Background

Since Antiquity, philosophers and scientists have questioned what light is. The roman thinker Lucretius proposed in year 50 anno domini that "the light and heat of the sun; these are composed of minute atoms which, when they are shoved off, loose no time in shooting right across the interspace of air in the direction imparted by the shove" (154). In the renaissance, Isaac Newton and Johannes Kepler also advocated for light to be particles, while Robert Hooke and Christian Huygens proposed that light was a wave phenomenon. The Scottish physicist and mathematician James Clerk Maxwell brought the two theories together when he, in 1865, presented that light is an electromagnetic disturbance; a wave of electric and magnetic fields following electromagnetic laws (155).

Electromagnetic waves' properties, i.e., wavelength and frequency, vary from carcinogenic ionizing radiation with high frequencies and relatively short wavelengths to benign micro and radio waves with low frequencies and long wavelengths. Visible light is in the middle of this spectrum (Figure 1). Infrared light starts where the visible red light ends, at wavelengths around 750 nanometers (nm), and extends to wavelengths of 1 millimeter (mm). Conventional subdivisions of infrared lightning is near-infrared, mid-wavelength and longwavelength (156). Near-infrared light has been applied in a wide range of fields, from medical

near-infrared spectroscopy (157) in pulse oximetry, to night vision goggles and fiber optics in telecommunication.



Figure 1: Electromagnetic spectrum, reprint from original paper (158) with permission from Elsevier.

Optics is defined as "The study of light and the phenomena associated with its generation, transmission, and detection" (159). Optical imaging is an umbrella term for imaging techniques that apply light from the ultraviolet to the near-infrared spectrum to detect cellular and molecular function. Optical imaging techniques can be used to create high-resolution images of the retina, brain mapping, and endoscopy, to name a few. Furthermore, fluorescence is defined as "the quality of absorbing light of a short wavelength and producing light of a longer wavelength" (159). In near-infrared FOI, unspecific, targeted or intelligent probes with a fluorophore contrast agent are injected and secondly, near-infrared light is projected onto the target site. The fluorophore absorbs the near-infrared light, and emits lower-energy light with longer wavelengths. A camera detects these signals and creates a fluorescent optical image.

# 1.2.2 Xiralite®

FOI of the hands can be performed with a commercially available device, the Xiralite® scanner, produced by Xiralite® GmbH (Germany) (Figure 2). The machine has approximately the size of an ultrasound machine. It consists of a hand rest, a highly sensitive camera with a charged coupled device, and light-emitting diodes (LED) (figure 3) (160). Before the examination, the patient is injected with a fluorescent dye (Indocyanine green (ICG)-pulsion, 0.1 mg/kg/body weight) and put the hands on a hand rest. The procedure is performed in a dark room, and the wrist is covered by a curtain to avoid ambient light entering the hand rest compartment and interacting with the near infrared light projected from LED lamps down on the hands. When ICG reaches the microcirculation in the hands, the fluorophore absorbs the near-infrared light from the LED lamps and emits light with lower energy and longer wavelengths, which is detected by the charged coupled device. One image per second is recorded, resulting in a total of three hundred and sixty images in one examination.



Figure 2: Xiralite® device, with kind permission from Xiralite GmbH



Figure 3: Xiralite® set-up, from original paper (160) with permission from Annals of the Rheumatic disease.

# 1.2.3 Scoring methods

The majority of studies utilizing the Xiralite® device has applied the semiquantitative FOI activity score (FOIAS) developed by Werner *et al.* (160). According to this method, three images are defined as the beginning of Phase 1, 2, and 3 based on the distribution of the contrast agent in the fingertips. Phase 1 starts with the contrast agent descending from the fingertips. Phase 2 and 3 are initiated with the absence of white and red pixels in the fingertips, respectively. The different phases start on different time points in different patients, e.g., Phase 1 can begin at image 20/360 or image 67/360, depending on the blood perfusion in the hands. The phases are defined for the left and right side separately. The XiraView software automatically generates a composite image, the Prima Vista Mode (PVM), where the 240 first images are summarized, and the contrast ("gain") of the image is

automatically adjusted (Figure 4). The meaning of the different phases remains uncertain and has not been confirmed by histology. Still, it has been suggested that Phase 1, with early enhancement, represents active disease, Phase 2 subclinical inflammation, and Phase 3 capillary leakage secondary to chronic inflammation (160, 161). Finally, dynamic methods and quantitative scoring methods have also been applied and will be discussed briefly below.



Figure 4: Screenshot of the XiraView® software with a Prima Vista Mode image of a hand OA patient with bilateral enhancement in the proximal interphalangeal joints.
#### 1.2.4 Measurement properties

Due to its limited tissue penetration, FOI can only be applied on small joints in the hands and feet. The Xiralite® device gives two-dimensional images of the hands in an anterior-posterior view and has only been paired with morphological data from radiographs or computer tomography in animal models (162). Scars, tattoos, potential skin plaques, wounds, and rings might affect the final image, and a photo of the hands before the exam can potentially help to rule out ambiguous enhancement. Nail polish can diminish the view of the well-vascularized nail beds and make the definition of the three phases difficult. It has been debated whether FOI is applicable to all skin types, however pigmentation does not significantly affect the final result and that cannot be ruled-out on photos are cold hands, excessive hand use before the examination, and dry skin. Images must be obtained in a dark room, and ambient light might influence the final image. Hand movement throughout the 360 seconds must also be avoided.

#### 1.2.5 FOI in rheumatology

FOI has been applied in rheumatological research in the last decade and has focused on RA and undifferentiated arthritis. Fischer *et al.* published the first clinical study on FOI in five RA patients and presented a good correlation between FOI enhancement and MRI-defined synovitis (rho = 0.84) (166). Several studies on animal models with induced arthritis (162) and studies of optical imaging in finger joints of RA patients without the use of a contrast agent preceded this study (167, 168). Werner *et al.* assessed 25 patients with undifferentiated arthritis, and with MRI as reference good specificity was demonstrated in PVM (81 %), Phase 1 (94 %) and Phase 3 (89 %). At the same time, Phase 2 had the highest sensitivity (72 %) and poorest specificity (56 %) (160). Similar findings were presented in two papers on patients with RA (169, 170). These studies had a limited number of patients, did not demonstrate

concomitant strong sensitivity and specificity for any of the phases, and area under the curve (AUC) values were not reported. In general, the best specificity was found in Phase 1 and the best sensitivity in Phase 2. Hirano *et al.* compared FOI enhancement with MRI as reference in RA and found good values for both Phase 1 (sensitivity 85 %, specificity 94 %) and Phase 2 (sensitivity 69 %, specificity 94 %); however, only wrist and MCP joints in 6 patients were included. Finally, FOI has demonstrated good correlation with greyscale (rho = 0.58 - 0.60) and power Doppler ultrasound (rho = 0.45 - 0.59) in a study on 25 RA patients with high disease activity, however both responders and non-responders demonstrated decreased FOI enhancement after one year (171).

All studies reported above assessed the FOI scans with the FOIAS. Meier *et al.* and Thuermel *et al.* applied a different semiquantitative scoring method on patients with RA and inflammatory arthritis and detected high specificity (85%, 92%) and moderate sensitivity (40%, 57%) (172, 173). FOI can also be assessed with quantitative scoring methods. Meier *et al.* calculated a rate of early enhancement, based on joint perfusion in patients with inflammatory arthritis after initiation of anti-inflammatory treatment (174). The authors found that FOI correctly identified responders and non-responders to therapy using the simple disease activity index as reference. Schaefer *et al.* presented a quantitative fluorescence readout analysis of three phases based on time only (175). To account for different degrees of perfusion, a fluorescence ratio based on enhancement in joint and nailbed was calculated. Using this ratio, they found statistically significant more enhancement in joints with MRI- and grey scale-defined synovitis compared to using the readout analyses only. This highlights the importance of individual physiological blood flow in the FOI examination.

Beck *et al.* have investigated FOI in pediatric patients with inflammatory joint diseases and demonstrated good specificity for all phases and PVM with grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity as reference. However, sensitivity was moderate with best values

in Phase 2 at 60 % (176). Furthermore, in systemic sclerosis, FOI has demonstrated high sensitivity and specificity in detecting inflammation and decreased perfusion (177, 178). A "green nail sign" has been suggested to be a sensitive marker for disturbed microcirculation in the nail bed in patients with psoriatic arthritis (179). Finally, only one previous study has investigated FOI in hand OA. Glimm *et al.* compared enhancement in different joint groups for hand OA and RA patients (161). They found more enhancement in the DIP joints in the hand OA patients in Phase 2 and PVM, while MCP joints had more enhancement in Phase 1 in RA patients.

#### 1.2.6 Probes

Golovko *et al.* and D'Agostino *et al.* have published overviews of different FOI probes in RA (180, 181). Generally, these probes can be divided into non-specific, specific, and intelligent probes. While the non-specific probes give information about microcirculation, and the targeted probes demonstrate an increased amount of a molecule within a particular location, the intelligent probes yield information about biochemical pathways (180).

Firstly, non-specific probes demonstrate enhanced microcirculation, and ICG is the only Food and Drug Administration approved fluorescent dye. ICG was created by the film company Kodak in the 1950s and was approved for use in human medicine in 1956 (182). ICG is an anionic and hydrophilic fluorescent dye with maximum emission and absorption wavelengths around 826-835 nm, placing it in the near-infrared spectrum of the electromagnetic field (183). ICG has been applied in several medical fields, from the visualization of microcirculation in surgery (184), chorioretinal angiography in ophthalmology (185, 186), and liver cancer assessment (187). Allergic reactions are rare, and it has a well-established safety profile (182, 188, 189). The main caveat for ICG is its limited fluorescent efficiency. ICG is only fluorescent when it is unbound (181); however, after

injection, about 98 % is quickly bound to plasma proteins (173). ICG also has a relatively fast clearance by the liver (190). Non-specific cyanine-based probes with a lower propensity to bind to plasma proteins have been applied in mice with induced arthritis with promising results; however, these dyes have not been approved for use in human beings by American or European health authorities (191)

Secondly, targeted probes consist of a fluorescent dye connected to a substance targeting a tissue of interest. A re-purposing of target molecules applied in positron emission tomography have demonstrated promising results in FOI in animal models with induced arthritis, and the targeting of the F4/80 marker in macrophages is one example of this approach (192).

Finally, intelligent probes are non-fluorescent pre-injection due to an inhibiting substrate (a quencher). When reaching a target tissue, the quencher is removed by an enzyme and the probe turns fluorescent. A fluorescent dye activated by cathepsins, a group of proteases that play a role in the inflammatory environment of OA, was able to detect arthritis in mice with induced arthritis (193).

### 1.2.7 Other optical imaging modalities

Optical imaging without contrast agents are based on the difference in transferal of light through normal and pathological tissues, due to enhanced microcirculation and protein content. Optical spectral transmission (OST) has been applied in RA patients with good diagnostic performance with ultrasound as reference (194). Nevertheless, a Dutch study found moderate results with MRI as reference, while a Danish study concluded that the sensitivity of OST was not superior to clinical examination (195, 196). The diagnostic performance of OST has also been investigated in hand OA, with fair performance in the PIP joints and poor performance in the DIP joints (197).

Experimental, non-commercial models of optical imaging have also been explored in rheumatological research. Sagittal laser diffuse optical tomography applies laser light in the infrared spectrum to detect inflammatory changes in human finger joints and has been paired with photo-acoustic imaging to improve the image resolution (198-200). Optical coherence tomography has demonstrated cartilage changes corresponding to findings from histology in thumb base OA (201). Finally, photography (from Greek "drawing with light") is also optical imaging *per se* and has been proposed to be a reliable and valid tool for diagnosing hand OA (3, 202, 203).

# 1.3 Imaging in hand OA

## 1.3.1 Conventional radiography

Last year (2020) marked the 125<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the discovery of x-rays by Wilhelm Conrad Röntgen. The German mechanical engineer and physician revolutionized medical diagnostics and received the first Nobel prize in physics in 1901 for his invention (Figure 5). Röntgen experimented with a cathode that emitted electromagnetic waves with different wavelengths and discovered that some waves could penetrate substances, while solid objects created a shadow on an exposed photographic paper. Since it was uncertain what these waves represented, they were named X-rays.



Figure 5: Copy of photograph of a radiograph of a hand, taken by Roentgen, Wurzburg, Germany, 1895. With permission from the Science Museum Group Collection.

# Technical aspects

An X-ray tube is a diode consisting of a cathode and an anode, and when electrons are accelerated between the two poles, energy is converted into x-rays with heat as a byproduct. A collimator helps to collect and focus the X-rays toward the examined object (204). X-rays represent ionizing radiation with a potential health hazard. They have short wavelength (0.01-10 nanometers) and high frequency, and has the ability to dethatch electrons from atoms.

#### Assessment of OA with radiographs

Conventional radiography has the advantage of being inexpensive, fast, and able to depict pathological features in OA, like osteophytes, joint space narrowing, erosions, soft tissue calcifications, cysts, and subchondral sclerosis. Limitations include inability to demonstrate soft tissue abnormalities, like synovitis and cartilage, and exposure to radiation. Nevertheless, the dose of 0.001 millisieverts for a hand radiograph is minimal (205). In comparison, average

background radiation in Norway has been estimated to 5.2 millisieverts/year per person by the Norwegian Radiation Protection Authority (206).

#### Scoring systems

The most common scoring system in OA is the Kellgren Lawrence score (8). This is a composite score from grade 0 to 4, where grade 2 is defined as definitive OA. Points are given for the absence/presence of typical OA features such as osteophytes, joint space narrowing, sclerosis, pseudocyst formation, and altered bone ends (6, 7). The scoring system has been criticized for emphasizing osteophytes too much (60), and modified versions of the score have been proposed.

The OARSI atlas, developed in 1995 and later revised in 2007, scores osteophytes and joint space narrowing on semiquantitative 0-3 scales in the 2<sup>nd</sup>-5<sup>th</sup> DIP, PIP, and CMC-1 joints while the features are scored as absent/present in the 1<sup>st</sup> interphalangeal joint. Malalignment, erosions, and subchondral sclerosis are scored as absent/present in DIP, PIP, and CMC-1, while subchondral cysts are scored as absent/present in PIP and CMC-1 only (207, 208). Nevertheless, this scoring method is time consuming and there is no consensus on which scores classify as definitive hand OA.

The Verbruggen Veys anatomical phase scoring system is an alternative scoring system for erosive hand OA, which is based on the assumption that the disease is progressing through predictable phases, from a stationary phase, to a joint space narrowing phase and finally to an erosive and remodeling phase (209).

The Ghent University Scoring System was recently developed to provide a more sensitive detection of progression in erosive finger joints (210). With an 11-point scale, erosive progression and remodeling are scored, defined by the amount of healthy subchondral bone, subchondral plate, and joint space width.

#### 1.3.2 MRI

#### Technical aspects

MRI applies strong magnetic fields and radio waves to create images. Here follows a brief presentation of some critical concepts (211, 212).

An MRI machine consists of a main magnetic coil creating a magnetic field (B0), several gradient coils which define the different planes of magnetization, a radiofrequency transmitter coil which stirs the protons out of their position, and a system for processing the incoming MRI signals. Hydrogen atoms are present in large amounts in the human body, and the nuclei of these atoms consist of protons creating an electromagnetic field when spinning around their axis. When hydrogen nuclei are placed under B0, they align and spin around in a wobbly manner called precession. How many times the protons spin, or precess, in a minute is described by the Larmor frequency. Stronger magnetic fields create higher precession frequency. Longitudinal magnetization is created as more protons align parallel to B0. When a radiofrequency pulse is directed towards the magnetic field, this longitudinal magnetization is decreased. This will only happen when the incoming pulse has the same frequency as the precessional protons, and this phenomenon is called *resonance*, hence magnetic *resonance* imaging. The protons pick up energy from the radiofrequency pulse and precess in phase, and create a transversal magnetization. Switching off the radiofrequency pulse will lead to a decrease in the transversal magnetization and an increase in the longitudinal magnetization. Thus, switching the radiofrequency on and off leads to protons going in and out of transversal and longitudinal magnetization planes. This creates an MRI signal. Relaxation of the longitudinal and transversal magnetization is referred to as T1 and T2, respectively.

#### Assessment of hand OA features with MRI

MRI can visualize important pathological features in hand OA including osteophytes, cartilage thinning, erosions, bone marrow lesions, cysts, synovitis and tenosynovitis, malalignment, abnormal joint capsule and collateral ligaments (213). MRI has the benefit of a multiplanar high-quality three-dimensional (3D) representation of the joint, while drawbacks include cost, availability, and the potential need of a contrast agent. Synovial enhancement in hand OA patients is frequently detected by MRI, while varying amounts of bone marrow lesions has been reported (214, 215).

## The validity of MRI in hand OA

MRI-detected osteophytes, cartilage loss, synovitis, and collateral ligaments detected by MRI have been validated against histologic specimen (216-219). MRI shows good agreement with ultrasound in detecting erosions and soft tissue changes in erosive hand OA (215), and MRI is more sensitive than radiographs in detecting osteophytes (220). Synovitis, erosions, attrition and osteophytes by MRI have been associated with pain on palpation in hand OA patients (214). In the same study, sum score of osteophytes demonstrated a negative association with grip strength, while sum score of MRI-defined synovitis demonstrated no association with measures of hand pain.

#### Scoring methods

The Oslo hand OA scoring system (OHOA-MRI) from 2011 assesses synovitis, erosive damage, cysts, osteophytes, cartilage space loss, malalignment, bone marrow lesions, flexor tenosynovitis and collateral ligament pathology (221). Based on this score, the semiquantiative Hand OA MRI Scoring system (HOAMRIS) was developed in 2014, including the same OA features as the Oslo hand OA scoring system, except flexor

tenosynovitis and collateral ligament pathology as these features were uncommon and demonstrated low reliability (151, 222). Good cross-sectional inter-reader reliability (Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) = 0.74) has been demonstrated in measuring synovitis with the HOAMRIS (151). Furthermore, the Thumb Base Osteoarthritis Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scoring System (TOMS) is a semiquantitative scoring system of thumb base OA developed from the HOAMRIS criteria, and measures synovitis, subchondral bone defects, osteophytes, cartilage assessment, and bone marrow lesions on semiquantitative 0-3 scores, and subluxation as absent/present (152). Good reliability in the measurement of synovitis in STT and CMC-1 joints has also been demonstrated.

## 1.3.3 Ultrasound

#### Technical aspects

Ultrasound waves have a frequency from 2 to 20 millihertz and are generated by piezoelectric crystals in the ultrasound probe. The ultrasound image is created by deflected ultrasound waves. Depending on the acoustic impedance in different tissues, shades from black to white are visualized (223). Bone deflects most of the ultrasound waves and creates a white (hyperechoic) line, while clear fluid is black (hypoechoic). Fat is yielded as black with white septae. Ultrasound has the benefit of being a non-ionizing, non-invasive technique, with the possibility of multiplanar visualization of multiple joints in an outpatient setting. The major drawback of ultrasound is its operator dependency.

#### Assessment of OA features with ultrasound

Several features in the hand OA joint can be visualized with grey scale ultrasound, including synovial hypertrophy and effusion, erosions, osteophytes, and cartilage thickness. Furthermore, power Doppler techniques can be applied to assess vascularization of the synovium. Several studies have demonstrated common presence of grey scale synovitis in hand OA (224-226). Power Doppler signals are less common in hand OA patients than grey scale synovitis, however synovial hypertrophy and power doppler activity have been reported in similar amounts in certain cohorts (225, 227).

#### Validity of ultrasound in hand OA

Osteophytes are associated with pain on joint level (228), and patients with symptomatic hand OA have demonstrated significantly more osteophytes than asymptomatic hand OA patients (229). Wittoek *et al.* found good agreement between ultrasound and MRI in the detection of synovitis and structural features (215). Furthermore, ultrasound is more sensitive than conventional radiography in the detection of erosions and osteophytes, and also more sensitive in detecting osteophytes compared to clinical examination (215, 225, 230).

#### Scoring methods

Keen *et al.* developed the first ultrasound atlas and semiquantitative scoring system for hand OA features, including osteophytes, grey scale synovitis, and power Doppler activity (231). Furthermore, OMERACT and EULAR groups have developed atlases and definitions of several pathological features, including synovitis (232, 233). With the use of an ultrasonographic atlas with RA features, Hammer *et al.* demonstrated high intra- and interreader reliability for grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity in the wrist, elbow, knee, talocrural, metatarsophalangeal and metacarpophalangeal joints, and this atlas has also been applied in OA studies (234). Furthermore, in erosive hand OA, Wittoek *et al.* has found good reliability for grey scale synovitis in interphalangeal joints applying the OMERACT definitions by Wakefield et al. (215, 233). Finally, Mathiessen *et al.* have developed an

ultrasound atlas for osteophytes in hand OA with excellent intra- and inter-reader reliability

(230).

# 2. General aim and specific research questions

General aim:

Is FOI a reliable and valid outcome measure for synovitis in hand OA patients?

Objectives in paper I:

1. To assess the inter-reader reliability of three different FOI scoring methods in erosive hand OA and RA patients.

 To quantify the distribution of FOI enhancement in different joint groups in erosive hand OA vs. RA.

3. To assess the diagnostic performance of FOI in 13 patients with erosive hand OA with MRI as reference.

#### Objectives in paper II:

1. To explore the distribution of FOI findings in hand OA patients and assess the amount of FOI enhancement in joints with various severity of radiographic hand OA.

2. To assess the correlation of FOI enhancement with MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis in hand OA patients.

3. To assess the diagnostic performance of FOI enhancement as a measure of synovitis using MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis as reference.

#### **Objectives in paper III:**

1. To explore the associations between FOI enhancement and pain in the same joint and the associations between the FOI sum score and the patients' hand pain, stiffness, and physical function.

2. To assess associations between MRI and measures of pain, stiffness, and physical function.

# 3. Material and methods

# 3.1 Study design

The majority of results in this thesis are based on cross-sectional baseline data from the Nor-Hand study, an observational hand OA cohort with 300 participants. Paper II and III include baseline data from this study only. Paper I contains a cross-sectional reliability exercise with five readers, comparing three different FOI scoring methods; the FOIAS and two methods developed in Copenhagen and Stockholm. This paper includes 13 Nor-Hand patients and 13 patients from the rheumatology outpatient clinic at Rigshospitalet (Copenhagen, Denmark).

# 3.2 Study population

#### Nor-Hand cohort

The main objective of the Nor-Hand study is to validate different outcome measures (including different imaging modalities) and to explore pain in persons with hand OA. A study protocol was published, and baseline data collection was performed at Diakonhjemmet Hospital (Oslo, Norway) in 2016-2017 (235).

Participants were predominantly recruited from the rheumatology outpatient clinic at Diakonhjemmet Hospital. Sixteen of the 300 participants in the study were recruited from the OA self-management education program ("Artroseskolen") at Diakonhjemmet Hospital. Participants in this program were referred from the rheumatology outpatient clinic or directly from their primary health care physician. A minor number of the 300 study participants (n=16) contacted the project leader directly; they were employees at Diakonhjemmet Hospital who heard about the study at work or hand OA patients recruited by friends and family already included in the study. All participants were screened for eligibility before inclusion. Inclusion criteria were age between 40 and 70 years at the time of screening and presence of hand OA features by clinical examination (Heberden's and Bouchards' nodes, bony enlargement and squaring or deformity of the thumb base) or by ultrasound (osteophytes in the interphalangeal joints or thumb base). Exclusion criteria were signs of clinical inflammatory arthritis or power Doppler activity in more than two MCP joints or the wrist, or known diagnosis of inflammatory arthritic disease or psoriasis. Furthermore, erythrocyte sedimentation rate >40 mm/hour or C-reactive protein >20 mg/L (without ongoing infection), anti-cyclic citrullinated protein or rheumatoid factor positivity, elevated ferritin (>300 micrograms/L for men and >200 micrograms/L for women and s-iron/s-total iron-binding capacity above 50%), major comorbidities, psychiatric disorders or alcohol or drug abuse were also exclusion criteria. All patients had to understand the purpose of the study and to sign an informed consent form approved by the national ethical committee.

The screening was performed on 431 patients, of whom 311 were eligible for participation and signed informed consent. Eleven participants were excluded due to missing data of essential information (e.g. hand radiographs or all questionnaires) or uncertainty about the exclusion criteria. Thus, 300 participants were included in the Nor-Hand cohort. Out of 300 participants, 252 performed FOI, and 246 performed gadolinium-enhanced T1weighted MRI (Table 1). We eliminated two of 252 FOI examinations due to a lack of contrast on all phases and PVM. A total of 221 participants underwent both gadoliniumenhanced T1-weighted MRI and FOI and were included in the analyses in paper II and III (Figure 6).

Reasons for missing FOI (n=48)	
Failing to insert an intravenous needle	18
Allergy to iodine, seafood or ICG	16
Refused fluorescent contrast	9
Missing blood test before test evening	2
Abnormal blood test before examination	1
Missing ICG at test evening	1
Artificial nails	1
Reasons for missing MRI examinations (n= 25)	
Refused exam	19
Claustrophobia	3
Pacemaker	2
Did not fit in the extremity MRI scanner	1
Reasons for missing gadolinium on MRI examinations (n= 29)	
Refused gadolinium contrast	10
Unknown	9
Allergy	8
Previous headache after gadolinium contrast	1
Abnormal blood test before examination	1
MRI; Magnetic resonance imaging, FOI; Fluorescence optical imaging, ICG; Indocyaninen	
green.	

# Table 1: Overview of missing FOI and MRI examinations



Figure 6: Flow chart of participants in the Nor-Hand cohort

#### Patient selection in reliability exercise

In the FOI reliability exercise in paper I, 13 RA patients from the rheumatology outpatient clinic at Rigshospitalet (Copenhagen, Denmark) were included. They were randomly selected from a group of 76 RA patients who had performed FOI, and they all had indication to start conventional synthetic DMARD or changing current treatment to conventional synthetic DMARD in combination with biologic therapy. Treatment change was initiated after the FOI examination. The 13 erosive hand OA patients in the reliability exercise were chosen randomly from the Nor-Hand cohort described above. They had at least one interphalangeal

joint in the erosive or remodeling phase according to the Verbruggen Veys anatomical phase scoring system and had performed gadolinium-enhanced T1-weighted MRI of the dominant hand.

# 3.3 Data collection

## 3.3.1 Nor-Hand cohort

We collected a broad range of data at the outpatient clinic at test evenings of three to four hours duration. The participants had blood tests withdrawn, underwent clinical joint examination, performed FOI, ultrasound of upper extremities and grip strength test. MRI and radiographs were performed before or after the test evening. This section describes the variables relevant for this thesis only, and other test results that were collected will not be described.

#### 3.3.1.1 Self-reported data

Questionnaires regarding lifestyle, pain, and physical function were distributed before the test evenings, and the majority of patients filled out the questionnaire digitally. Paper versions were available on request. Reminders were sent out if participants did not submit the completed questionnaire. Each participant marked hand joints on a hand diagram as painful yes/no the previous 24 hours and six weeks. The Australian/Canadian OA Hand Index (AUSCAN) with three subscales on pain (5 questions), physical function (9 questions), and stiffness (one question) was completed (236). The participants were asked about general hand pain the last 24 hours on a Numeric Rating Scale (NRS) (range 0-10).

#### 3.3.1.2 Clinical data

Patients reported comorbidities, symptom duration, and medical treatment in the questionnaire, and at the test evening, a medical student cross-checked the completeness of

these data. The use of anti-inflammatory medication was defined as oral NSAIDs or oral corticoids taken daily at the time of data collection.

The majority of clinical examinations were performed by dr. Barbara Slatkowsky-Christensen (MD, Ph.D.) who has over 20 years' clinical experience in rheumatology, specializing in hand OA. Sigrid Valen Hestetun (MD), Nina Krafft Sande (MD), and Ida K. Haugen (MD, Ph.D.) also performed clinical examinations at selected test evenings. The bilateral DIP, PIP, MCP, and CMC-1, were examined for tenderness according to the Doyle index (237). No reaction on palpation laterally and posterior-anteriorly was scored as 0, expressing pain was graded 1, frowning due to pain was graded 2, and retraction of the hand and frowning due to pain was graded 3. Weight and height were measured, and BMI was calculated. Grip strength of the dominant hand was measured with a Jamar dynamometer (238). The measurement was performed with the patient sitting in a chair with the elbow in a 90-degree angle without supporting the arm. A mean value was calculated after squeezing the dynamometer three times with 15 seconds pause.

#### 3.3.1.3 Laboratory samples

C-reactive protein, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, ferritin, s-iron, and total iron-binding capacity were obtained at the time of screening. Blood and urine samples were collected at the test evenings. Thyroid, liver, and kidney parameters were obtained before performing MRI and FOI.

#### 3.3.1.4 FOI

Optical images were acquired with the Xiralite® device. Participants without known allergy to iodine, seafood or indocyanine green or a previous reaction to imaging contrast, untreated hyperthyroidism (fT4 above 21 pmol/L and thyroid-stimulating hormone below 40 mL/min),

poor kidney function (glomerular filtration rate below 40 mL/min), reduced liver function (transaminases above twice the upper reference limit), or current pregnancy or breast-feeding were injected with a fluorescent dye (ICG pulsion, 0.1 mg/kg body weight) before the FOI scan. The participants inserted their hands into the Xiralite® scanner and were exposed to near-infrared light from LED lamps in six minutes. A highly sensitive camera produced 360 images (one/second) and captured the distribution and washing out of the fluorescent dye. The XiraView software generated a composite image (PVM) of the 240 first images of each examination. The images were scored according to FOIAS. Three phases were defined based on the distribution of the fluorescent dye in the fingertips, as described in the introduction. Four images per examination were evaluated in the Nor-Hand study; PVM and the first image of the three phases.

The DIP, PIP, MCP, and CMC-1 joints were graded on 0-3 scales based on colour intensity and width of enhancement. In case of uncertainties, the lowest grade was chosen. Sigrid Valen Hestetun (MD) assessed the FOI scans, after receiving training from an expert FOI reader, Sarah Ohrndorf (MD, PD). Example images with different grades of joint enhancement were demonstrated, and the two readers performed an inter-reader reliability exercise with 21 FOI examinations of hand OA patients. The readers were blinded for clinical and other imaging data, but not for age and sex. They obtained good to excellent inter-reader reliability in DIP, PIP, and MCP joints for Phase 2, 3, and PVM with ICCs for sum scores ranging from 0.87 to 0.89, while inter-reader agreement in Phase 1 was weak (ICC = 0.10) (239). Intra-reader reliability for the trained FOI reader on the same 21 patients was good to excellent for Phase 2, 3, and PVM ranging from 0.82 to 0.94, while the readers demonstrated moderate reliability in Phase 1 (ICC = 0.50).

In the reliability exercise in paper I we compared the FOIAS (also referred to as "the Berlin method" in paper I) with two semiquantitative scoring methods developed in

Stockholm and Copenhagen. In the Stockholm method, two composite images were evaluated, including the PVM generated from the 240 and 120 first images. Both images were assessed in the "temperature" palette setting in the XiraView software, as opposed to the "rainbow" palette applied in the FOIAS and Copenhagen method. After assessing these two images, the reader browsed all 360 images in the sequence to look for additional joint enhancement. Grading was based on the width and intensity of enhancement, similarly to the FOIAS. In the Copenhagen method, it is hypothesized that inflamed joints will demonstrate faster enhancement than surrounding healthy tissues. Thus, in the Copenhagen method, sharp FOI enhancement over a joint area persisting  $\geq 3$  images was graded from 1 to 3 based on the width of the enhancement in the third image after the initiation of enhancement (240, 241).

The composite images (PVM) scored in the FOIAS and the Stockholm method were pre-defined by the XiraView software, whereas the reader decided which image to score in Phase 1-3 images in FOIAS and in the Copenhagen method. All readers reported which image they defined as Phase 1 to 3 and which image they scored in each joint in the Copenhagen method. For assessment of feasibility, all readers recorded the time spent on scoring each of the 26 images.

#### 3.3.1.6 MRI

MRIs were acquired with a 1.5 tesla MRI (Siemens Aera, Germany) with a 16-channel hand/wrist coil covering the fingers and thumb base of the dominant hand. Participants without contraindications (previous allergic reaction or reduced kidney function with glomerular filtration rate < 40 mL/min) received gadolinium contrast (Dotarem 279.3 mg/mL, 0.2 mL/kg body weight). A coronal TI-weighted volumetric interpolated breath-hold examination pre- and post-gadolinium injection with 0.4 mm thickness was obtained, with possibility to reconstruct into axial and sagittal planes.

We applied the HOAMRIS to assess synovitis in the DIP and PIP joints on a 0-3 scale (151, 222). MCP joints are not included in the HOAMRIS and were assessed similarly to the PIP joints. In the DIP, PIP, and MCP joints sagittal and axial planes were assessed, and consistent findings in 3 consecutive slices in both planes were required to qualify as synovitis. The TOMS atlas was applied to evaluate synovitis in the CMC-1 and STT joints in the frontal and axial planes (242). In both HOAMRIS and TOMS grade 0-3 was defined as 0 = normal; 1 = mild; 2 = moderate; 3 = severe and the 1-3 scores were defined by thirds of the presumed maximum volume of enhancing tissue in the synovial compartment. Finally, we used the Oslo hand OA MRI scoring system to assess flexor tenosynovitis on a 0-3 scale (221). Inflammation along the extensor tendon sheath was evaluated as absent/present.

All MRI examinations were scored by a Ph.D. student (Øystein Maugesten) trained in assessing synovitis in hand joints with demonstration of atlases and example images (n=20) by an experienced reader (Ida K. Haugen). An experienced radiologist (Karwan Faraj) at the radiology department at Diakonhjemmet Hospital, with special interest in musculoskeletal MRI, was consulted for guidance on assessing synovitis. The training was followed by a calibration exercise where 30 patients were scored separately in groups of 13, 7, and 10 patients. In the 13 first patients, the readers obtained a weighted kappa of 0.57. In the following seven patients, a weighted kappa of 0.72 was obtained. In the last group of 10 patients, the weighted kappa was 0.69. After the calibration exercise, joints with two or more grades discrepancy as well as joints differing between zero and one (no synovitis/synovitis) were discussed and scored by consensus. When scoring the 246 MRI scans, the Ph.D. student consulted the experienced reader in case of uncertainties. The readers were always blinded for clinical and other imaging data, but not for age and sex. Finally, the Ph.D. student re-assessed 20 images approximately three months after scoring of the MRI scans, with good intra-reader reliability in the DIP and PIP joints (weighted kappa=0.72, ICC= 0.89).

#### 3.3.1.8 Ultrasonography

A medical student (Nikolas Ravn Aarskog) received ultrasound training by two experienced ultrasonographers (Hilde Berner Hammer (MD, Professor) and Alexander Mathiessen (MD, Ph.D.)) with demonstration of the probe and ultrasound machine, normal grey scale anatomy of the hand and presentation of an atlas with grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity grade 1 to 3 in the bilateral DIP, PIP, MCP, and CMC-1 joints (234). We used a General Electric Logic S8 ultrasound machine with a linear 6-15 millihertz probe to assess hand joints for grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity on 0-3 scales with the training atlas as reference. All participants had their bilateral DIP, PIP, MCP, and CMC-1 joints scanned longitudinally from the radial to the ulnar side, with transverse scanning in case of uncertainties. The ultrasonographer was blinded to other imaging data. A reliability exercise was performed by the end of the data collection with the medical student and one of the experienced ultrasonographers (Alexander Mathiessen) with consecutive enrollment of 10 patients. The two assessors obtained good inter-reader reliability with prevalence and bias adjusted kappa (Pabak) for power Doppler activity in DIP/PIP (0.85) and CMC-1 joints (0.92) and for grey scale synovitis in DIP and PIP (0.80) and CMC-1 joints (0.92) (243).

#### 3.3.1.9 Conventional radiography

Frontal conventional radiographs of the bilateral hands with a posterior-anterior view was obtained. An experienced reader (Ida K. Haugen) blinded for clinical and other imaging data, but not for age and sex, scored the radiographs. Using the Kellgren Lawrence scale (grade 0-4) and Verbruggen Veys anatomical phase scoring system, the DIP, PIP, MCP and CMC-1 joints were scored. We defined erosive hand OA as having one or more DIP and PIP joints in the erosive or remodeling phase of the Verbruggen Veys anatomical phase scoring system, one of several definitions for erosive hand OA (244). Further, we calculated Kellgren Lawrence sum score in Table 1 in paper II and III to give an impression of the overall severity of hand OA in the study participants. Intra-reader reliability for both scoring systems was excellent, with kappa of 0.93 (erosive vs. non-erosive) for the Verbruggen Veys score and weighted kappa on 0.92 for Kellgren Lawrence.

#### 3.3.2 Data collection in reliability exercise

The FOIAS and the scoring methods developed in Stockholm and Copenhagen were presented and evaluated in a meeting in the Xiralite® GmbH headquarters in Berlin (Germany). Example cases of RA and hand OA patients were demonstrated and scored for all three methods. After the meeting, an atlas of the three scoring systems was developed, and one patient was scored for calibration. We included 13 erosive hand OA patients from the Nor-Hand cohort and 13 RA patients from the rheumatology outpatient clinic at Rigshospitalet (Copenhagen, Denmark) for the final reliability exercise. FOI scans in the RA patients were acquired as described above, and treatment change was performed after the FOI scan. MRI scans were not available from RA patients. Age, BMI, ethnicity, disease duration, anti-citrullinated protein antibody status, rheumatoid factor status, C-reactive protein, visual analogue scale (VAS) pain, VAS global, health assessment questionnaire and Disease Activity Score in 28 joints (DAS-28) was registered on all patients and was received from the study doctor in Copenhagen after the reliability exercise was completed.

# 3.4 Statistical methods

## 3.4.1 General considerations

For MRI, ultrasound, and conventional radiography, joints missing due to amputation, arthrodesis, or trapezioectomy were imputed with a mean value of all hand joints when calculating sum scores. The same joints remained missing when calculating frequencies and evaluating diagnostic performance. Stata versions 14.0 and 15.0 were applied for all statistical analyses throughout the thesis. Statisticians Joe Sexton and Øivind Skare at Diakonhjemmet Hospital were consulted for questions regarding analysis and coding in the statistical software.

### 3.4.2 Descriptive analysis and group comparisons

In all three papers, we provided demographic information about the participants in the first table. Continuous data were presented as mean and standard deviation or median and interquartile range, as appropriate. Categorical variables were presented as the percentage of the most prevalent value. We calculated the Kellgren Lawrence sum score and presented number of patients with erosive disease to summarize the severity of OA in the participants. Sum scores of MRI, ultrasound, and FOI findings were calculated to give an overview of the inflammatory burden in the participants.

In paper I we investigated FOI enhancement in different joint groups in RA vs. erosive hand OA patients with three different FOI scoring methods. As the sum scores for FOI enhancement were not normally distributed for all scoring methods, we applied the nonparametric Mann-Whitney U test to assess differences between the two groups.

#### 3.4.3 Reliability

In paper I, we investigated the reliability of three different scoring methods with five readers, thus ten different reader pairs. On patient level, we calculated sum scores for each participant and estimated intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC, two-way mixed-effects model, absolute agreement) of 10 reader pairs. The presented ICC value was the average of these 10 reader pairs. On joint level, we calculated linearly weighted kappa values and prevalence and bias adjusted kappa values for ordinal scales (Pabak-OS) for 10 reader pairs. We estimated mean values for reader pairs across four joint groups (DIP, PIP, MCP, wrist) for the three different methods. Furthermore, percent exact agreement (PEA) and percent close agreement with a difference of one grade across the five readers was calculated.

In paper II, we presented previously published inter-reader reliability for the scoring of FOI enhancement and grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity. Intra-reader reliability with weighted kappa for scoring radiographic OA severity according to the Kellgren Lawrence scale and kappa for erosive vs. non-erosive was reported. Finally, we reported inter-reader reliability for MRI score of all hand joints as weighted kappa.

In paper III we reported inter- and intra-rater reliability (weighted kappa and ICC) for FOI and MRI for DIP and PIP joints only, as these were the only joints included in the analyses. Kappa and ICC values in all papers were interpreted as poor (0 - 0.2), fair (0.2 - 0.4), moderate (0.4 - 0.6), good (0.6 - 0.8) and very good (0.8 - 1.0) (245).

## 3.4.5 Validity

Correlation coefficients

In paper II, we estimated the validity of FOI compared to MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis. We calculated Spearmans' rho between sum scores for all three imaging modalities in all finger joints together (DIP, PIP, MCP) and for joint groups separately. For the comparisons of FOI and ultrasound, sum scores of both hands were calculated, while sum scores of the dominant hand were used for the comparison of FOI and MRI. We performed stratified analyses on patients with erosive hand OA vs. non-erosive hand OA.

#### Diagnostic performance

In paper I, we assessed the diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis with MRI as reference in a small group of erosive hand OA patients (n=13). Sensitivity, specificity, negative (NPV), and positive predictive value (PPV) and PEA were calculated.

In paper II, we continued investigating the diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis in 221 hand OA patients with MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis as reference. We calculated sensitivity, specificity, NPV, PPV, and AUC. Analyses were repeated with an increased cut-off for MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis to grade 2, and FOI enhancement grade 0/1 vs. grade 2/3. Stratified analyses on patients with erosive vs. non-erosive hand OA were performed.

### 3.4.6 Linear and logistic regression analyses

In paper III, we applied logistic regression to assess the associations between FOI enhancement and pain last 24 hours, last six weeks, and pain on palpation. We also explored the associations between MRI-defined synovitis and the three pain variables. Generalized estimating equations (GEE) were applied to consider several joints within each patient. Furthermore, we applied multiple linear regression to investigate whether FOI enhancement was associated with AUSCAN pain, AUSCAN function and AUSCAN stiffness, grip strength of the dominant hand, and NRS pain. The analyses were repeated for MRI-defined synovitis and the same pain, stiffness and physical function variables. We applied different regression models for each pain and physical function variable, and all analyses were adjusted for age, sex, BMI, and use of anti-inflammatory drugs. P-values below 0.05 were regarded as statistically significant.

# 3.5 Legal and ethical aspects

The Nor-Hand study was conducted according to the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written consent was collected from all participants before attending the study. The Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics (REK) approved the study (number 2014/2057). Participants could withdraw from the study at any point without explanation. Paper I included data from 13 RA patients from Rigshospitalet (Copenhagen, Denmark). These patients also signed informed consent, and the regional ethics committee in Denmark approved the study.

Xiralite® GmbH has produced the FOI device applied in this study. The Department of Rheumatology at Diakonhjemmet Hospital has leased a Xiralite® device throughout the data collection. Representatives from Xiralite® GmbH (Jörn Berger, Matthias Cziumplik) were present during the FOI meeting in Berlin before the reliability exercise in paper I. They contributed with valuable technical and practical information regarding the FOI device. None of them, or other representatives from Xiralite® GmbH, contributed to the study design, collection or interpretation of the data in this project, the writing of the manuscript, or the decision to publish the data. The authors have not received funding from Xiralite® GmbH. None of the external funders influenced the protocol, methods, analysis, or drafting of the research papers.

Participation on test evenings was not remunerated, however food and coffee were provided, and transportation cost was covered in certain circumstances. Contrast-enhanced

imaging procedures were only performed in the absence of contraindications. The written informed consent included information about a low radiation dose of 0.001 millisieverts (equivalent to 3 hours of naturally occurring background radiation) for hand radiographs.

Finally, the involvement of the study participants has been a priority. A representative of the participants, Mrs. Thalita Blanck, has been involved in the development of the study protocol and has given valuable feedback throughout the test evenings. After the baseline collection was finished, we organized a seminar for all participants with a presentation of preliminary results and a question and answer session.

# 4. Summary of results

# Paper I

Our first objective was to assess the inter-reader reliability of the FOIAS and two semiquantitative scoring methods developed in Stockholm and Copenhagen. Secondly, we wanted to investigate the distribution of FOI findings in different joint groups in patients with RA and erosive hand OA with these three methods. Finally, we assessed the diagnostic performance for FOI measuring synovitis in erosive hand OA with MRI-defined synovitis as reference.

We found good inter-reader agreement on patient level with a very good ICC for FOIAS PVM, good values for FOIAS Phase 2 and 3, and the Stockholm method, while the Copenhagen method and FOIAS Phase 1 showed moderate agreement. On joint level, Pabak-OS across all methods were moderate to good with FOIAS PVM being the strongest (0.78) followed by FOIAS Phase 1 (0.69), the Stockholm method (0.63) and FOIAS Phase 3 (0.62). The Copenhagen method (0.56) and FOIAS Phase 2 (0.50) had moderate reliability. Similar reliability for erosive hand OA and RA was found when performing separate analyses for the two diagnoses.

We found more FOI enhancement in the DIP and PIP joints in the erosive hand OA patients for three different FOI scoring methods, although statistically significant differences were detected in the DIP joints only. The RA patients demonstrated more FOI enhancement in the MCP joints, while no consistent differences between diagnoses were observed in the wrist. The erosive hand OA patients demonstrated overall more enhancement in the hands than the RA patients by FOIAS PVM (p<0.001), FOIAS Phase 2 (p=0.12), and the Stockholm method (p=0.03).

Finally, we calculated diagnostic performance for FOI measuring synovitis with MRIdefined synovitis as reference in the erosive hand OA patients. The erosive hand OA patients featured frequent inflammation and only 4/107 DIP and PIP joints had no MRI-defined synovitis. FOIAS PVM and Phase 1 were the most specific phases (91%), while FOIAS Phase 2 was the most sensitive (91%). The PEA for the different methods ranged from 52 to 75%.

We concluded that FOI enhancement can be assessed with moderate to good reliability with three different scoring methods in patients with erosive hand OA and RA. We found significantly more enhancement in the DIP joints in erosive hand OA patients, while RA patients had more enhancement in the MCP joints. The diagnostic performance of FOI with MRI as reference demonstrated good specificity for FOIAS Phase 1 and good sensitivity for FOIAS Phase 2, respectively, however only 13 patients were included and larger studies are needed to explore this finding.

# Paper II

In this second paper, we examined the frequency of FOI enhancement according to FOIAS and MRI- and grey scale-defined synovitis and power Doppler activity in different joint groups. Secondly, we assessed the amount of FOI enhancement in joints with increasing degree of radiographic hand OA. Finally, we investigated the validity and diagnostic performance of FOI as a measure of synovitis in hand OA using MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis as a reference.

We found no FOI enhancement in the thumb base, although 81 % of the participants had MRI-defined synovitis grade 1 - 3 in CMC-1 and/or STT joints. Sixty-one % of all STT and CMC-1 joints demonstrated MRI-defined synovitis grade 1 - 3, and the CMC-1 joint was more commonly affected (69 %) than the STT joint (54 %). Ultrasound of the bilateral hands also demonstrated frequent activity in the thumb base with grey scale synovitis grade 1 - 3 in 26 % of CMC-1 joints and power Doppler activity grade 1 - 3 in 19 % of CMC-1 joints. MCP joints showed frequent low-grade MRI-defined synovitis (32 % of joints, predominantly grade 1) while FOI and ultrasound demonstrated sparse findings in this joint group. The PIP joints demonstrated more enhancement than the DIP joints in Phase 2, 3, and PVM and more frequent MRI-defined synovitis, while ultrasound-defined grey scale synovitis, power Doppler and Phase 1 enhancement were more common in the PIP joints. Joints with increasing Kellgren Lawrence grade and Verbruggen Veys score demonstrated more FOI enhancement in PVM compared to normal joints.

We found poor to fair Spearman's correlation coefficients between FOI enhancement and synovitis defined by MRI (0.01 - 0.24) and ultrasound (0.12 - 0.25). The diagnostic performance of FOI with MRI-defined synovitis as reference demonstrated good specificity in Phase 1 (99 %) and Phase 3 (90 %), and the best sensitivity in Phase 2 (58 %). However, weak AUC-values for FOI enhancement with MRI-defined synovitis as reference was

detected (0.50 - 0.61). Similar results were found with grey scale synovitis as reference (AUC 0.51 - 0.63). When increasing the cut-off for MRI-defined synovitis to grade 2 or more, the diagnostic performance increased slightly.

To conclude, FOI was not able to detect enhancement in the thumb base. Joints with an increasing degree of radiographic OA had more FOI enhancement than normal joints. Correlation between FOI enhancement and MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis was poor to fair. Although Phase 1 and 3 had good specificity, and Phase 2 moderate sensitivity, none of the phases or PVM demonstrated overall good diagnostic performance and AUC-values were low.

# Paper III

The main objective of this third paper was to explore associations between FOI enhancement according to FOIAS and pain, stiffness and physical function. Associations between MRI and the same hand symptom variables were also assessed.

Only interphalangeal joints were included in the analysis due to no enhancement in the thumb base and little to no enhancement in the MCP joints. On joint level, FOI enhancement on PVM was associated with pain during the last 24 hours (OR (95 % CI) grade 1: 1.24 (1.06, 1.45) and grade 2-3: 2.0 (1.6, 2.4)) and similar associations with a dose-response relationship was found for FOI and pain last six weeks and tenderness on palpation. The same dose-response relationship was found between MRI-defined synovitis and pain last 24 hours (OR (95 % CI) grade 1: 1.4 (1.1, 1.8), grade 2: 3.4 (2.4, 4.7), grade 3: 5.2 (3.1, 8.6)), and the two other pain variables.

On patient level, FOI sum scores were weakly associated with NRS hand pain and AUSCAN physical function, while there were no associations between FOI sum scores and AUSCAN pain and stiffness. The sum score of MRI-defined synovitis was also weakly associated with NRS hand pain, AUSCAN hand pain and physical function, although not statistically significant.

To conclude, FOI enhancement was associated with self-reported pain in the same joint last 24 hours and six weeks, and with tenderness on palpation. MRI-defined synovitis demonstrated numerically stronger associations with the same pain variables. On patient level, FOI enhancement showed no to weak association with measures of pain, stiffness and physical function. Similarly, no significant associations were found between MRI-defined synovitis and the same hand symptom variables.

# 5. General discussion

# 5.1 Methodological aspects

This section presents strengths and limitations regarding study design and population, imaging techniques, scoring systems, clinical examination, questionnaires, and statistical methods.

### 5.1.1 Study design

The main body of this thesis and all data in paper II and III are based on cross-sectional baseline data from the Nor-Hand study. This study includes 300 participants who performed FOI, MRI, ultrasound, radiographs, clinical examination and pain testing. It is one of the larger hospital-based observational hand OA studies to date. We have analyzed baseline data only, and the collection of follow-up data is ongoing.

With baseline data, we can assess frequencies, reliability, associations, and diagnostic performance. Without longitudinal data, we were not able to explore causal relationships and predictors for structural change and disease progression. In an observational study, particular caution must be exercised not to introduce systematic bias, as patients are not randomized into different groups. Systematic bias, i.e., selection bias, information bias or confounding, can weaken the internal validity of the results and limit the generalizability of findings.

## 5.1.2 Study population

The Department of Rheumatology at Diakonhjemmet Hospital serves a large part of the metropolitan area of Oslo, contributing to a varied socio-economic composition of the patient cohort. The majority of participants in the Nor-Hand study were recruited to screening by a

rheumatologist at the outpatient clinic at Diakonhjemmet Hospital, and we hypothesize that our participants had a higher disease activity, and more symptoms than hand OA patients in primary health care. Furthermore, they might have been referred to specialist health care due to uncertainty about the diagnosis, and might not be representative for the average hand OA patient. Although the majority of patients were recruited from the outpatient clinic, the cohort was not strictly hospital-based. Some participants were invited to screening after contacting the study coordinator directly and others were recruited through the OA self-management education program. Including very motivated patients who requested participation in the study, as well as participants in self-management programs, might have introduced selection bias in the cohort.

Too narrow inclusion criteria might limit the generalizability of findings while applying too broad inclusion criteria can introduce excess variability in the data. Proven hand OA by clinical examination or ultrasound was the first inclusion criterion. As opposed to the ACR hand OA criteria, hand pain or stiffness was not required, as we also wanted to recruit patients with early and/or low-degree OA. Patients had to be 40 to 70 years old at the time of inclusion. Follow-up exams after four and eight years were planned, and to avoid loss to follow-up the age limit at inclusion was set to 70 years. The lower limit was set to 40 years, as hand OA is rare in younger age groups (11).

### 5.1.3 FOI

The FOI examination was performed in a standardized setting at each test evening. Any extraordinary features present were noted in the XiraView® software. Taking photos of the hands to document potential factors influencing the final result, i.e. nail polish, rings, tattoos, and scars, could be an option in future studies. In retrospect, we would have added washing of
hands in lukewarm water to secure similar temperature in all hands and also the application of a neutral moisturizer to avoid artifacts from dry skin (167).

In the reliability exercise in paper I, three different semiquantitative scoring methods were compared. These had a moderate to good inter-reader reliability; however, the FOIAS was the one reaching highest inter-reader reliability and best diagnostic performance in measuring synovitis on a small sample of erosive hand OA patients. It is also the FOI scoring method most commonly referred to in the literature. Thus, we applied FOIAS to assess all FOI scans in the Nor-Hand cohort.

In the FOIAS, three phases are defined based on the distribution and washing-out of the contrast agent. The experienced FOI reader and the reader of FOI scans decided to score the first image in each phase, as these have strict definitions. We hypothesized that this would improve reliability. However, in previous studies by Werner *et al.*, Phase 2 is not assessed as one image only (160, 169). As the beginning of Phase 2 often demonstrates rich enhancement and becomes too sensitive, a final score is given after scrolling through the whole phase to give a more correct representation of the joint.

Cost should also be considered. The FOI device has approximately the same price as an average ultrasound device and is considerably cheaper than an MRI machine. Compared to ultrasound, the FOI exam has the additional cost of ICG of approximately 300 NOK/30 EUR per examination.

#### 5.1.4 MRI

Due to cost and no conclusive evidence on handedness and degree of hand OA, we obtained MRI of the dominant hand only (57, 246). Furthermore, we wanted to include the MCP joints as limited data has been published on the presence of synovitis in these joints in hand OA patients. Compared to the commonly affected DIP, PIP, and thumb base joints, radiographic

findings in MCP joints are relatively uncommon in hand OA, as demonstrated in the population-based Framingham study (11). Nevertheless, a recent study applying ultrasound to assess cartilage in a small cohort of RA and hand OA patients found the MCP joints to be commonly affected in hand OA and with similar prevalence as in RA (247).

Due to feasibility, all imaging procedures were not performed on the same day. FOI and ultrasound were performed on the test evening, while the MRI was performed mean (SD) 9 (14) days after. Low-grade MRI-defined synovitis might be a normal finding and might fluctuate (248). However, we found good correlation between ultrasound and MRI-defined synovitis (rho=0.58), suggesting minor variation in the degree of synovitis between the test evening and the MRI examination.

Gadolinium contrast is contraindicated in acute kidney failure and if glomerular filtration rate <30 ml/min (249, 250). We obtained gadolinium-enhanced MRI scans of all participants, given no previous allergic reactions to radiographic contrast agents or reduced kidney function (GFR < 40 mL/min). Gadolinium has long been considered a benign contrast agent. However, recent studies have suggested that repeated gadolinium-enhanced MRI examinations might lead to deposits of gadolinium in the basal cell ganglia of the brain (251). Other studies have reported gadolinium deposition in bone (252), skin (253), and liver tissue (254). The impact of the deposited gadolinium in different organ systems and the duration of the deposition post-examination remains unknown. The patients performed only one MRI examination in this study; however, we did not routinely ask participants about previous gadolinium exposure.

One average bolus of Dotarem for a 70 kg patient cost approximately 300 NOK/30 EUR. The cost and maintenance of an MRI machine vary depending on technology and local agreements; however, it is more expensive than ultrasound machines and optical imaging devices.

When assessing synovitis on MRI scans of the hand, several pitfalls must be considered. As described by McQueen *et al.*, the timing of gadolinium injection is essential for the assessment of synovitis in the post-gadolinium image (255). The intravenously injected gadolinium contrast will ultimately end up in the small synovial vessels and in the interstitium of the synovial membrane. This happens at different rates depending on the individual physiology, and thus, the thickness of the synovium might be over- and underestimated according to when the images are taken. It has been suggested that images should be acquired within 10 minutes after the administration of contrast agent to obtain the best contrast between synovium and joint fluid (256). In the Nor-Hand study, the post-contrast images were taken approximately 5 minutes and 15 seconds after the injection of gadolinium. Finally, metal, movement, and susceptibility artifacts must also be kept in mind, the latter due to adjacent tissues with different susceptibility to magnetization, for example soft tissue and trabecular bone (255).

#### 5.1.5 Contrast agents

Gadolinium contrast is better tolerated than iodine-based radiocontrast, and severe allergic reactions are rare (257, 258). ICG, applied in FOI, has a well-established safety profile, and severe allergic reactions are estimated to 0.05 % (182, 188, 259). ICG contains a small amount of iodine. Previous allergic reactions to radiocontrast are often erroneously referred to as seafood allergy or iodine allergy. Iodine plays an important role in several physiological processes in all human beings, and anaphylactoid reactions (type 1 reactions) to iodine are not theoretically possible (260). Furthermore, seafood allergy does not increase the risk of allergic reactions to radiocontrast more than other food-allergies (261). Nevertheless, to avoid misunderstandings, no gadolinium or ICG was administered if allergies to seafood, iodine or radio contrast were reported.

#### 5.1.6 Patients self-reported measures and clinical examination

AUSCAN pain and NRS hand pain describe slightly different aspects of hand pain. The NRS consists of one question about general hand pain. A recall period of 24 hours is commonly applied and was also chosen for this study (262). The AUSCAN pain subscale includes five questions, with four questions concerning pain in activity and one about pain at rest. Thus, AUSCAN pain might pick up activity-related pain to a larger extent than NRS pain. Several factors contribute to the general hand OA pain experience in addition to structural changes, like psychosocial factors, sensitization, and genetics (95, 263). Focusing on absence/presence of pain in separate joints might remove some of the effect of psychosocial factors and central sensitization on general hand pain. Thus, we asked participants to mark painful joints last 24 hours and last six weeks on hand diagrams and assessed tenderness on joint level by clinical examination.

### 5.2 Statistical aspects

#### 5.2.1 Reliability

Several statistical methods can be applied to calculate reliability, depending on the numbers of readers, if the measure is a continuous or categorical variable and if the categorical variable is ordinal or nominal.

In the reliability exercise in paper I, agreement on both patient and joint level was evaluated. On the patient level, we created sum scores for the total amount of hand FOI enhancement using different semiquantitative FOI scoring methods and calculated ICC values with two-way mixed-effect models with absolute individual agreement. A total of five readers participated in ten possible combinations of reader pairs. We presented the mean value of the ten reader pairs as well as the range from weakest to best agreement to show the variety in reliability between reader pairs.

On joint level PEA, weighted kappa values and Pabak-OS were presented (264, 265). PEA assess the percentage of similar scorings; however, it does not take into consideration that similar scorings might be due to chance. This consideration is incorporated when calculating Cohen's kappa. Furthermore, Cohen's kappa can be weighted linearly, for example giving a discrepancy of one grade between readers less importance than a difference of two or three grades. Non-independence of findings is required when calculating Cohen's kappa; thus one joint can only be measured once, and scores from different readers must be independent (266).

The weighted kappa coefficient represents the proportion of agreement higher than that expected by pure chance but does not consider the prevalence of scores and bias of accessors (264, 267). Firstly, a prevalence effect might be introduced when the total percentage of agreements on the positive classification (FOI enhancement) differs from that of the negative classification (no FOI enhancement) between two readers. Secondly, bias is a potential pitfall in the estimation of a kappa value. The disagreement in the total proportion of positive and negative cases between two readers might lead to a large or small bias index. A high bias index affects smaller kappa values, while a high prevalence index affects higher kappa values (Figure 7) (268).



Figure 7: Relationship of kappa to prevalence index for three values of Pabak, as marked, and in each case for a bias of zero (solid line) and for the maximum possible bias (dotted line). Figure from original paper (268) with permission from Journal of Clinical Epidemiology.

Kappa values might be adjusted for prevalence and bias. The resulting coefficient is known as prevalence and bias adjusted kappa value (Pabak), and can also be linearly weighted for ordinal variables (268). The use of Pabak has been criticized for creating a hypothetical value without bias between readers and differences in prevalence, and that these effects on kappa are interesting per se and should not be adjusted for (264, 269). It has been suggested to always present Pabak values with their corresponding weighted kappa value, the separate proportions of positive and negative agreements or original data in a contingency table, so that the reader can assess the effect of prevalence and bias (268, 270, 271). We initially applied the Pabak-OS calculator by Vannest *et al.* (272), and secondly, a statistician (Øyvind Skare) at Diakonhjemmet Hospital made an algorithm for Pabak-OS in Stata 14. We

calculated Pabak-OS values for all ten reader pairs and presented mean values of these ten pairs.

#### 5.2.2 Validity

The validity of FOI measuring synovitis in hand OA is at the core of this thesis. The four main types of validity include content, face, criterion, and construct validity. Content validity investigates whether a test includes all aspects of the disease, while face validity takes biologic coherence into account, and measures if a test represents the true nature of the disease. When assessing criterion validity, a test is compared to an already validated, true gold standard. It is not certain whether synovitis in the arthritic joint has a true imaging gold standard (273). When assessing whether FOI is a valid measure of synovitis in hand OA we assess construct validity, where the test (FOI) is compared with other tests (MRI and ultrasound) measuring the same construct (synovitis). We applied correlation, agreement, diagnostic performance and logistic and linear regression to explore the validity of FOI measuring synovitis in hand OA.

Correlation assess the relationship between two variables, while agreement is applied for concordance between two measures of a variable (274). The difference between these two terms can be visualized in a scatter plot. A good correlation can be detected if the dots fall on a straight line, while good agreement would require the dots to fall on a straight line at 45 degrees (275). Thus, a test with good agreement will result in a high correlation coefficient, whereas a strong correlation coefficient not necessarily yields a high agreement (276). Pearsons' r and Spearmans' rho are common measures of correlation. Both ranges from -1 to +1 and presents the strength and direction of the association. Pearsons' r is applied for continuous variables that are normally distributed, while Spearmans' rho is a nonparametric

rank correlation coefficient (277). Calculated sum scores were not normally distributed for all FOI phases and were based on ordinal scales, thus we applied Spearmans' rho.

To assess diagnostic performance, we applied calculations of sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV and AUC. We used binary outcomes (diseased/non-diseased), and for the primary analyses, we used FOI grade 0 vs. grade 1 - 3 with MRI-defined synovitis grade 0 vs. grade 1 - 3 and ultrasound-defined grey scale synovitis grade 0 vs. grade 1 - 3 as reference. We performed the analyses with different cut-offs for the three modalities to assess if the diagnostic performance increased with a stricter definition of enhancement/synovitis.

#### 5.2.3 Regression

Confounding factors for linear and logistic analyses on FOI enhancement and pain and MRI and pain were assessed using directed acyclic graphs. We corrected the regression analyses for age and sex as these factors might influence both pain and degree of inflammation. Several studies have presented associations between obesity and low-degree inflammation (278-280) and obesity and pain (281), and thus we adjusted for BMI. Finally, antiinflammatory drugs might affect both pain and degree of inflammation. Although few patients were regular users of anti-inflammatory drugs such as NSAIDs and prednisolone (n=31), this covariate was also added to the final model.

## 6. Main results

#### 6.1 Demographics

Among the 221 participants in the Nor-Hand study who performed MRI and FOI, the majority were women (88 %), with a mean (SD) age of 60.6 (6.2) years. They were slightly overweight with a mean (SD) BMI of 26.2 (4.7) kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Ninety-two % fulfilled the ACR hand

OA criteria and 34 % had erosive hand OA defined as having at least one interphalangeal joint in the erosive or remodeling phase of the Verbruggen Veys anatomical phase score. The mean (SD) NRS hand pain was 3.7 (2.3).

#### 6.2 Reliability

One FOI sequence consists of 360 images. The semiquantitative scoring method FOIAS is the most commonly applied in the literature (160, 161, 169-171, 176, 177, 179, 282, 283), however quantitative methods are also reported (173-175, 284). The reliability of the FOIAS was compared with two semiquantitative FOI scoring methods developed in Copenhagen and Stockholm on 13 patients with erosive hand OA and 13 patients with RA. The best interreader reliability was found for FOIAS PVM on both joint level (Pabak OS = 0.78, weighted kappa = 0.51) and patient level (ICC = 0.85). The Stockholm method presented good agreement (ICC = 0.65, Pabak OS = 0.63) while the Copenhagen method (ICC = 0.46 Pabak OS=0.56) had moderate agreement. Reliability did not differ substantially when performing separate analyses on erosive hand OA and RA patients.

No previous studies have presented reliability data on the Stockholm or Copenhagen method. The FOIAS has previously demonstrated good inter-reader (weighted k = 0.73) and intra-reader reliability (weighted k = 0.71) for experienced readers in early RA, while a lower inter-reader agreement was found for the less experienced reader (weighted k = 0.55) (169). The latter value corresponds with our weighted kappa. Meier *et al.* did not apply the FOIAS and found lower inter-reader (k = 0.47) and intra-reader reliability (k = 0.50) in 45 patients with inflammatory joint disease (173).

There are several limitations to the reliability exercise in paper I. Best reliability was found in a reader pair from the same institution, who had previously worked together with a semiquantitative FOI scoring method. Furthermore, one of the readers differed substantially

from the remaining four readers, and reliability for Phase 1 was improved when analyses were repeated without this reader. This underlines the importance of calibration before a reliability exercise. Due to busy clinical schedule for many readers, only one patient was scored by consensus with the three semiquantitative scoring methods at a webinar before the reliability exercise. In retrospect, we would have performed a calibration exercise with more cases and possibly have scored the cases separately before the webinar. Finally, due to feasibility and time constraints, we did not calculate intra-reader reliability for the three scoring methods, which would have yielded a complete representation of the reliability of the three methods.

Phase 1 has previously been hypothesized to capture active inflammation in inflammatory joint diseases (161). We demonstrated low reliability for Phase 1, in line with a reliability exercise between two readers on the Nor-Hand data (239). In paper I, we hypothesized that Phase 1 had the lowest reliability due to rapid changes in the distribution of the fluorescent dye at the beginning of the examination. Furthermore, the onset of Phase 1 is defined as fluorescent enhancement descending from the fingertips, and we registered that readers interpreted this differently. Scoring different images (for example image 39/360 instead of 44/360) at the beginning of the image sequence resulted in clear discrepancies in joint enhancement, while scoring of different images within a broad range in Phase 2 and 3 (i.e., image 220/360 vs. image 280/360) still yielded good reliability. We hypothesize that this is due to slow changes in the distribution of the fluorescent dye by the end of the examination.

6.3 FOI-enhancement in erosive hand OA vs. rheumatoid arthritis Erosive hand OA and RA have distinct patterns of hand joint involvement, with RA predominantly affecting MCP and wrist joints while hand OA has a predilection for the DIP and CMC-1 joints. PIP is commonly affected in both diseases. In paper I, we compared patients with erosive hand OA and RA using three different FOI scoring methods. FOI enhancement patterns differed between the two diseases. We found statistically significantly more enhancement in the DIP joints in the hand OA group for all methods, comparable to findings by Glimm *et al.* (161). The RA group, on the other hand, demonstrated numerically more FOI enhancement in the MCP joints for all three methods. We did not find consistent differences between the groups in the wrist joints for any of the methods.

Glimm et al. demonstrated more enhancement in Phase 1 in the wrist, MCP, and PIP in the RA patients (n=67) compared to hand OA patients (n=23) (171). We studied a smaller sample of RA (n=13) and erosive hand OA patients (n=13) and did not find more enhancement in the RA group in Phase 1. Using the PVM and the Stockholm method, the erosive hand OA patients had indeed statistically significantly overall more enhancement than the RA patients. From a clinical perspective, RA typically involves florid inflammation, while OA tends to have low-grade synovitis. Given the severity of symptoms in the RA group, with indication to start or switch therapy and high disease activity score with mean (SD) DAS28 of 5.3 (0.7), it would be interesting to explore why the erosive hand OA patients still presented overall more enhancement. Firstly, 10 out of 13 RA patients were already treated with DMARDs, and ongoing treatment when the FOI was performed might have obscured the difference between the diseases. Secondly, erosive hand OA has been suggested to be a more inflammatory phenotype than non-erosive hand OA, and we found frequent MRI-defined synovitis and FOI enhancement in the erosive hand OA group. It is difficult to conclude on the level of synovitis in the RA group, as we lack MRI scans from these patients. Differences between inflammatory features in hand OA and RA might also explain the difference, and will be further discussed in the section on diagnostic performance.

6.4 Prevalence of FOI, MRI and ultrasound findings in joint groups A total of 221 participants from the Nor-Hand cohort performed FOI, MRI, ultrasound, and conventional radiographs. They demonstrated a wide range of radiographic findings and synovitis.

The median Kellgren Lawrence sum score (range 0 - 120) was 28.8, comparable to the findings of n=106 patients in the Oslo hand OA cohort (Median (interquartile range) Kellgren Lawrence sum score 26 (15 - 41)) (220). The number of patients with erosive disease was 34 %, lower than comparable hand OA studies by Wittoek *et al.* (62 %), and the Oslo hand OA cohort by Haugen *et al.* (60 %) (220, 285).

MRI-defined synovitis was detected in the thumb base (CMC-1 and/or STT) in 81 % of the participants, and in 61 % of the total CMC-1 and STT joints of the dominant hand. The CMC-1 joint demonstrated synovitis more frequently (69 %) than the STT joint (54 %). Twenty-six percent of the CMC-1 joints had grey scale synovitis, while 19 % demonstrated power Doppler activity. Remarkably, none of the participants showed FOI enhancement in the thumb base. We are not aware of other studies reporting FOI enhancement in this joint region, most likely because it is located too deep and is surrounded by more subcutaneous tissue than the interphalangeal joints. We conclude that this is a significant limitation in the use of FOI in hand OA. This could possibly be solved by a 3D device with the pairing of dorsal, palmar, medial, and lateral images to encompass the whole joint region.

MRI-defined synovitis was more often detected in the PIP joints than in the DIP joints, while grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity were more frequently detected in the DIP joints. Hand OA is more common in the DIP joints and it is surprising that MRI did not demonstrate more enhancement in this joint group. The DIP joints are smaller than the PIP joints. Enhancement in three consecutive MRI slices was required to qualify as synovitis, and this could have been more difficult to fulfill in the small DIP joints. PVM and Phase 2 and 3

demonstrated most enhancement in the PIP joints, while Phase 1 had most activity in the DIP joints. Although frequent low-grade inflammation was detected in the MCP joints by MRI, this was rarely the case for ultrasound and FOI. These results contrast with the findings of Glimm *et al.*, who investigated the distribution of FOI enhancement in 23 hand OA patients and detected more MCP enhancement for all FOIAS phases and PVM (161). A different definition of vascular structures might explain the different findings. Structures resembling vessels should not be scored as enhancement, and particularly at the wrist and MCP joints, this enhancement can be ambiguous and difficult to categorize.

Overall, MRI was the modality with most positive findings. The majority of positive joints had low-degree synovitis, particularly in the MCP joints. MRI has demonstrated to be more sensitive than ultrasound in detecting synovitis (286). However, it is also debated whether the low-degree gadolinium enhancement found on MRI represents pathology or a normal finding. Several studies have found low-degree synovitis in MCP and wrist joints in healthy subjects, and the clinical relevance of these findings should be interpreted with caution (248, 287, 288).

#### 6.5 Diagnostic performance of FOI

FOI, MRI, grey scale and power Doppler ultrasound and conventional radiographs were performed on 221 participants. DIP, PIP, MCP, and thumb base joints (CMC-1 and STT with MRI, CMC-1 with ultrasound, and thumb base as a whole for FOI) were assessed on semiquantitative 0-3 scales and radiographs were scored according to Kellgren Lawrence score and Verbruggen Veys anatomical phase score. We found good correlation between sum scores of MRI and grey scale synovitis for all hand joints summarized (r = 0.58) and in all joint groups except the MCP joints (rho = -0.04). Correlation between grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity was good for all joint groups (rho = 0.79). FOI demonstrated poor to fair correlations with MRI-defined synovitis and correlated poorly with grey scale synovitis. PVM correlated with MRI-defined synovitis in the PIP joints with rho=0.32, while correlations between PVM and synovitis by MRI and grey-scale synovitis by ultrasound were poor in the DIP joints (rho=0.00 to 0.14). These results differ from correlation coefficients reported on FOI and MRI, and FOI and ultrasound, in inflammatory joint diseases. With a similar near-infrared optical imaging device, Fischer *et al.* presented strong correlation between MRI and FOI in five RA patients (rho=0.84), while Werner *et al.* applied the Xiralite® scanner and found moderate correlation between grey scale synovitis and FOI (rho = 0.40) in patients with arthritis (160, 166).

Percentage agreement between FOI (enhancement yes/no) and MRI (synovitis yes/no) ranged from 53 to 61 %, whereas the percentage agreement between FOI and ultrasound (synovitis yes/no) was 57 to 89 %. We presented the distribution of these agreements with number of positive FOI joints out of number of positive MRI joints and amount of negative FOI joints out of negative MRI joints. When comparing FOI and MRI, good agreement was mostly due to negative joints, while ultrasound and FOI had a more heterogeneous picture with agreement on negative joints in Phase 1 and Phase 3, while Phase 2 and PVM had a higher percentage of agreement on positive joints.

Diagnostic performance for FOI was calculated with sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV, and AUC using MRI-defined synovitis and grey scale synovitis as reference. The highest specificity with MRI as reference, with corresponding low sensitivity, was found for Phase 1 (99%), while the strongest sensitivities were found for Phase 2 (58 %) and PVM (48 %). High NPV was demonstrated for FOI with grey scale synovitis as reference, proposing that negative joints were unlikely to have grey scale synovitis. Nevertheless, low PPV values suggested that FOI enhancement is not corresponding to grey scale synovitis. FOI

demonstrated similar diagnostic performance with power Doppler and grey scale synovitis as reference.

The diagnostic performance was affected by MRI-defined synovitis being more prevalent than grey scale synovitis, particularly in the MCP joints. Thus, FOI demonstrated higher PPV and lower NPV with MRI as reference compared with ultrasound. We repeated the analyses using MRI synovitis grade 2 or higher as reference, and sensitivity, specificity, and AUC improved to the level of grey scale synovitis. Nonetheless, the findings of AUC values from 0.50 to 0.61 for FOI with MRI as reference and AUC of 0.51 to 0.63 for FOI and ultrasound suggest poor discrimination.

A trend for higher proportion of joints with FOI enhancement in PVM in joints with increasing Kellgren Lawrence and Verbruggen Veys scores was detected. A hypothesis for this finding is that bone remodeling with increased vascularity of the periphery of bone might demonstrate FOI enhancement.

We did not find AUC values for semiquantitative FOI scores with MRI or ultrasound as reference in the literature, making our weak findings difficult to compare. Other studies applying a semiquantitative FOI score in RA, undifferentiated arthritis and juvenile idiopathic arthritis have demonstrated better sensitivity in Phase 1 with MRI and ultrasound as reference (160, 169, 170, 283), supporting the hypothesis that early enhancement represents active inflammation with rich vascularization (161). Our participants had relatively few joints with power Doppler activity, with a mean sum score of 2.4 joints in DIP and PIP joints in the bilateral hands, which may explain the sparse enhancement and poor diagnostic performance in Phase 1. We expected better diagnostic performance in hand OA patients in Phase 2 and 3 as these phases have been suggested to be a measure of subclinical inflammation and increased capillary permeability, respectively (169). Nevertheless, sensitivity and specificity

in these phases were lower than previously reported values in RA and early arthritis (160, 169, 170).

A hallmark of inflammatory arthritis is increased leukocytes in synovial fluid. Although synovitis in hand OA and RA can be indistinguishable, several features might differ: leukocyte count in RA tend to be higher than in OA (289) and different subgroups of multinucleated giant cells have been detected in the two diseases (290, 291). Furthermore, a dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI study of finger joints suggested different pharmacokinetic patterns in patients with hand OA and RA (292). From a clinical perspective, hand OA often presents with chronic inflammation with minimal vascularization compared to the active inflammation of RA. The difference in synovial anatomy and mechanisms of angiogenesis in these two conditions could explain why FOI performs poorly in hand OA. We hypothesize that true FOI enhancement in hand OA due to synovitis possibly gets camouflaged by substantial background noise from the unspecific fluorescent dye. Nevertheless, separate analyses on erosive hand OA, hypothesized to be a more inflammatory entity, did not yield consistent improvement in the diagnostic performance of FOI.

MRI-defined flexor tenosynovitis was uncommon in the Nor-Hand cohort, and most common around the MCP joints. We hypothesize that these structures are located too deep, comparable to the CMC-1 joint, to affect the final result. Performing stratified analyses on the presence or absence of tenosynovitis in RA, Krohn *et al.* detected no essential changes in sensitivity and specificity, supporting this assumption (170). Peritendinous inflammation along the extensor tendons seems likely to be detectable by the dorsal-palmar view of the FOI device. However, none of the patients demonstrated this feature on MRI. Finally, extraarticular hypervascularity due to inflamed subcutaneous tissues might have contributed to FOI enhancement. Nevertheless, this feature was not assessed on the MRI scans.

Our findings of low correlation and diagnostic performance for FOI in hand OA might be explained by the scoring method. Firstly, FOIAS is primarily developed for inflammatory joint diseases and has only been applied on hand OA patients in one previous study (161). Secondly, FOIAS takes differences in blood circulation of the hands into consideration through defining different phases based on contrast distribution and the automatic adjustment of gain in PVM. However, this can also be done by quantitative scoring methods, possibly with better results (174, 175, 284). Furthermore, machine learning remains an exciting option in future FOI research. Pairing the dynamic pixel enhancement in different regions of interest with more established imaging markers could perhaps yield a scoring algorithm with improved validity for measuring synovitis in hand OA.

Finally, our findings are limited by the lack of a control group. Healthy controls and controls with arthralgia and no sign of inflammation have demonstrated minimal FOI enhancement in previous studies (160, 169, 172, 176, 177). Klein *et al.* reported some enhancement in the wrist in their control group, hypothesized to be caused by mechanical stress before the examination (282). Prominent vessel-structures and enhancement located outside the region of interest can frequently be seen in healthy controls and arthritic patients alike, and should not be scored as enhancement.

Fluorescent enhancement has corresponded to synovitis on histology in rodents with induced arthritis (162). However, our findings of poor correlation and poor to moderate diagnostic performance of FOI with MRI and ultrasound as reference and increasing FOI enhancement in joints with increasing degree of radiographic hand OA limits our understanding of what FOI measures in hand OA patients.

#### 6.6 FOI and pain

Two-hundred and twenty-one study participants performed FOI and MRI and marked painful hand joints in the last 24 hours and six weeks on a hand diagram. Clinical examination of tender joints was performed. Only DIP and PIP joints were included in the logistic regression analysis, due to minor enhancement in MCP joints and no enhancement in the thumb base. We found a clear dose-response relationship between PVM, Phase 2, and Phase 3 and pain in the same joint during the last 24 hours and six weeks, as well as tenderness on palpation, while Phase 1 had little enhancement and demonstrated a clear dose-response relationship for pain last 24 hours only. We dichotomized the Phase 1 scores as absence/presence of enhancement and found statistically significant associations with all three pain variables.

Furthermore, we performed calculations with MRI-defined synovitis as the independent variable and the same three pain variables. We found numerically stronger associations between MRI and all three pain variables and detected the same dose-response relationship observed for FOI and pain. This is in line with previous findings from the Nor-Hand study where grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity were associated with self-reported pain last 24 hours and six weeks and tenderness on palpation with similar strengths of association (243).

On patient level, associations between sum scores of FOI enhancement and measures of pain, stiffness, and physical function were calculated. All participants completed NRS hand pain, AUSCAN pain, AUSCAN physical function, and AUSCAN stiffness subscale and performed grip strength tests. The same analyses were repeated with MRI-defined synovitis sum score as the independent variable. In the linear regression analysis with NRS hand pain as the dependent variable, we found weak associations to PVM, Phase 2, and Phase 3, while no association to Phase 1 or MRI was demonstrated. Neither FOI nor MRI were associated with AUSCAN pain and AUSCAN physical function subscale, or grip strength, except for a weak association between Phase 3 and AUSCAN physical function subscale. Finally, we found an inverse association between sum scores of MRI-defined synovitis and AUSCAN pain, AUSCAN physical function, and NRS hand pain. However, none of these associations were statistically significant.

MRI- and ultrasound-detected synovitis and radiographic findings have not shown strong and consistent associations with pain on patient level in previous hand OA studies (214, 243, 293). The thumb base joints were not included in the analyses, and these joints might affect functional outcomes more than the interphalangeal joints and explain the lack of association with AUSCAN physical function subscale and grip strength. On the other hand, weak statistically significant associations were detected between FOI and NRS hand pain, while no statistically significant associations were detected between FOI and AUSCAN pain subscale. NRS hand pain reflects overall pain in the hand, while AUSCAN pain subscale consists of 5 items where the majority relates to pain during activities. These questions might be challenging to answer if patients avoid certain activities. The NRS hand pain question is more general and might reflect the patients' average pain during the day to a larger extent than AUSCAN pain. Finally, this discrepancy might be due to spurious associations without clinical relevance, as we performed a large number of linear regression analysis.

## 7. Conclusions

### 7.1 Answer to research questions

#### **Objectives in paper I:**

1. To assess the inter-reader reliability of three different FOI scoring methods in erosive hand OA and RA patients.

FOI scans of patients with erosive hand OA and RA can be assessed with moderate to good reliability with three different semiquantitative scoring methods, and the best reliability was obtained for the preset PVM image from FOIAS.

2. To quantify the distribution of FOI enhancement in different joint groups in erosive hand OA vs. RA.

Erosive hand OA patients showed statistically significantly more enhancement in the DIP joints than RA patients. Numerically more enhancement was found in the PIP joints in the OA patients and in the MCP joints in the RA patients. No consistent differences for the wrist joints were detected. Patients with erosive hand OA demonstrated overall more enhancement than RA patients.

3. To assess the diagnostic performance of FOI in 13 erosive hand OA patients with MRI as reference.

The highest sensitivity was found for Phase 2 (91 %), while the highest specificities was found for PVM (91 %) and Phase 1 (91 %) and the Stockholm method (85 %). FOI showed best specificity and sensitivity in the PIP joints.

#### **Objectives in paper II:**

 To explore the distribution of FOI findings in hand OA patients and assess the amount of FOI enhancement in joints with increasing degree of hand OA

FOI was not able to detect synovitis in the thumb base, although the hand OA patients demonstrated frequent inflammation in these joints by ultrasound and MRI. Phase 1 had limited enhancement, while Phase 2, 3, and PVM showed frequent enhancement in the DIP and PIP joints. The MCP joints were rarely affected, in line with grey scale synovitis and power Doppler activity. Conversely, low-degree MRI-defined synovitis in the MCP joints was frequent. More FOI enhancement was detected in finger joints with an increasing degree of radiographic OA severity and erosions.

2. To assess the correlation between FOI enhancement in hand OA and MRI- and ultrasounddefined synovitis in hand OA patients

FOI had poor to fair correlation with ultrasound-defined synovitis and poor correlation with MRI-defined synovitis for all joint groups (DIP, PIP and MCP). The strongest correlation between FOI and MRI was found in the PIP joints, while the DIP joints showed the weakest correlation. MRI-defined synovitis and grey scale synovitis correlated well (rho = 0.58) in the 221 participants. A good correlation was also detected between power Doppler activity and grey scale synovitis (rho = 0.79).

3. To assess the diagnostic performance of FOI enhancement as a measure of synovitis using MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis as reference.

Concomitant good sensitivity and specificity was not detected for PVM or any of the phases, and AUC values were low. Phase 1 and 3 with MRI or ultrasound as reference demonstrated an AUC of 0.50 and 0.57, respectively. Phase 2 had the best sensitivity (58 %), while Phase 1 had best specificity (99 %). Phase 1 has been hypothesized to represent active inflammation and was less sensitive in hand OA patients compared to previous findings in inflammatory joint diseases. FOI demonstrated poorer diagnostic performance with MRI rather than ultrasound as reference, which may be explained by the high prevalence of low-grade MRI-defined synovitis, particularly in the MCP joints. When increasing the cut-off for MRI synovitis to grade 2 or higher, FOI had similar diagnostic performance and correlations did not improve in analyses on erosive hand OA patients only.

#### **Objectives in paper III:**

1. To explore the associations between FOI enhancement and pain on joint level and the associations between FOI and measures of pain, stiffness, and physical function on patient level.

FOI enhancement was associated with pain in the same joint last 24 hours, last 6 weeks and with tenderness on palpation. The associations demonstrated a clear dose-response

relationship. On patient-level, there were no to weak associations between sum scores of FOI and measures of pain, stiffness, and physical function.

2. To assess associations between MRI-defined synovitis and measures of pain, stiffness, and physical function.

On the joint level, a strong association with a dose-response relationship was demonstrated for MRI-defined synovitis and pain last 24 hours, pain last 6 weeks and tenderness on palpation. No statistically significant associations were detected between sum scores of MRIdefined synovitis and measures of pain, stiffness, and physical function.

### 7.2 Clinical implications

Hand OA is a whole joint disease where inflammation has been hypothesized to play an important role in the pathogenesis. Synovitis has been proposed as an outcome measure in future hand OA trials with disease modifying OA drugs targeting inflammation, and valid and cost-effective imaging techniques are warranted. FOI has been suggested to measure enhanced microcirculation around finger joints as a proxy for inflammation, and certain studies on FOI and inflammatory joint diseases have reported good agreement with MRI and ultrasound.

FOI enhancement can be assessed with moderate to good reliability in hand OA patients with three semiquantitative scoring methods. However, our results are questioning the validity of FOI measuring synovitis in hand OA, demonstrated by the weak correlations between FOI and MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis and poor to moderate diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis with MRI and ultrasound as reference. Nevertheless, we found strong and dose-dependent associations between FOI enhancement and pain in the same joints, and also more FOI enhancement in joints with increasing structural damage and erosive disease. With these conflicting findings, it is difficult to conclude what FOI enhancement represents in hand OA.

There are several limitations to FOI and its use in future hand OA trials. Although the device is less expensive than an MRI machine and has similar cost as average ultrasound machines, the need for a fluorescent dye increases the cost per examination compared to ultrasound. As opposed to ultrasound and MRI, FOI does not yield any morphological information about the joints examined. Furthermore, the current technology is not able to detect synovitis in the thumb base, a frequently affected joint site in hand OA patients. An FOI device with a 3D representation of joints could possibly overcome this limitation. Finally, a machine learning approach, with an automated quantitative and dynamic scoring

method and targeting of the synovium with a more specific probe, could possibly increase the validity of FOI measuring synovitis in hand OA patients.

Moderate to good reliability was demonstrated for the FOIAS, and a clear association between FOI-enhancement and pain on joint level was detected. Furthermore, there was increasing FOI enhancement in joints with increasing degree of OA. Nevertheless, FOI scans obtained by the Xiralite® device after the injection of ICG and scored by the semiquantitative scoring method FOIAS demonstrated clear limitations as a measure of synovitis in hand OA patients with MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis as reference.

## 8. Errata

#### Paper 2:

1. In figure 2 the percentage of joints with MRI-defined synovitis grade 1-3 in the thumb base is reported as 81 %. The correct number is 61 %.

As reported under "Results, Frequency distribution of synovitis according to FOI, MRI, and ultrasound" 81 % of the participants demonstrated MRI enhancement in the CMC-1 and/or STT joint. However, 61 % of the total STT and CMC-1 joints examined demonstrated MRI-defined synovitis.

2. Supplementary figure 2: Erosive and remodeling phase is reported in two identical columns. The correct figure should have only one of the two columns representing joints in erosive and remodeling phase.

The above corrections have been reported to the journal.

# 9. References

1. James SL, Abate D, Abate KH, Abay SM, Abbafati C, Abbasi N, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1789-858.

2. OARSI. Osteoarthritis research society international, White Paper - OA as a serious disease 2016 [Available from: <u>https://www.oarsi.org/education/oarsi-resources/oarsi-white-paper-oa-serious-disease</u>.

3. Marshall M, Watt FE, Vincent TL, Dziedzic K. Hand osteoarthritis: clinical phenotypes, molecular mechanisms and disease management. Nature reviews Rheumatology. 2018;14(11):641-56.

4. Kloppenburg M, Kwok W-Y. Hand osteoarthritis—a heterogeneous disorder. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2012;8(1):22-31.

5. Marshall M, Peat G, Nicholls E, van der Windt D, Myers H, Dziedzic K. Subsets of symptomatic hand osteoarthritis in community-dwelling older adults in the United Kingdom: prevalence, inter-relationships, risk factor profiles and clinical characteristics at baseline and 3-years. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2013;21(11):1674-84.

6. Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 1957;16(4):494-502.

7. Kellgren JH. Epidemiology of chronic rheumatism: Oxford: Blackwell Scientific; 1963. 1-13 p.

8. Marshall M, Dziedzic KS, van der Windt DA, Hay EM. A systematic search and narrative review of radiographic definitions of hand osteoarthritis in population-based studies. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2008;16(2):219-26.

9. Altman R, Alarcón G, Appelrouth D, Bloch D, Borenstein D, Brandt K, et al. The American College of Rheumatology criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis of the hand. Arthritis and rheumatism. 1990;33(11):1601-10.

10. Haugen IK, Felson DT, Abhishek A, Berenbaum F, Bierma-Zeinstra S, Borgen T, et al. Development of classification criteria for hand osteoarthritis: comparative analyses of persons with and without hand osteoarthritis. RMD open. 2020;6(2).

11. Haugen IK, Englund M, Aliabadi P, Niu J, Clancy M, Kvien TK, et al. Prevalence, incidence and progression of hand osteoarthritis in the general population: the Framingham Osteoarthritis Study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(9):1581-6.

12. Kortekaas MC, Kwok WY, Reijnierse M, Huizinga TW, Kloppenburg M. In erosive hand osteoarthritis more inflammatory signs on ultrasound are found than in the rest of hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2013;72(6):930-4.

13. Haugen IK, Mathiessen A, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Magnusson K, Boyesen P, Sesseng S, et al. Synovitis and radiographic progression in non-erosive and erosive hand osteoarthritis: is erosive hand osteoarthritis a separate inflammatory phenotype? Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2016;24(4):647-54.

14. Moskowitz RW. Osteoarthritis: Diagnosis and Medical/surgical Management: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007.

15. Brandt KD, Dieppe P, Radin EL. Commentary: is it useful to subset "primary" osteoarthritis? A critique based on evidence regarding the etiopathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2009;39(2):81-95.

16. Pereira D, Peleteiro B, Araújo J, Branco J, Santos RA, Ramos E. The effect of osteoarthritis definition on prevalence and incidence estimates: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2011;19(11):1270-85.

17. Kodama R, Muraki S, Oka H, Iidaka T, Teraguchi M, Kagotani R, et al. Prevalence of hand osteoarthritis and its relationship to hand pain and grip strength in Japan: The third survey of the ROAD study. Mod Rheumatol. 2016;26(5):767-73.

18. Sowers M, Lachance L, Hochberg M, Jamadar D. Radiographically defined osteoarthritis of the hand and knee in young and middle-aged African American and Caucasian women. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2000;8(2):69-77.

19. Qin J, Barbour KE, Murphy LB, Nelson AE, Schwartz TA, Helmick CG, et al. Lifetime Risk of Symptomatic Hand Osteoarthritis: The Johnston County Osteoarthritis Project. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2017;69(6):1204-12.

20. Gignac MA, Davis AM, Hawker G, Wright JG, Mahomed N, Fortin PR, et al. "What do you expect? You're just getting older": A comparison of perceived osteoarthritis-related and aging-related health experiences in middle- and older-age adults. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2006;55(6):905-12.

21. Nüesch E, Dieppe P, Reichenbach S, Williams S, Iff S, Jüni P. All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis: population based cohort study. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2011;342:d1165.

22. Hochberg MC. Mortality in osteoarthritis. Clinical & Experimental Rheumatology. 2008;26(5):S120.

23. Haugen IK, Ramachandran VS, Misra D, Neogi T, Niu J, Yang T, et al. Hand osteoarthritis in relation to mortality and incidence of cardiovascular disease: data from the Framingham heart study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2015;74(1):74-81.

24. Birtwhistle R, Morkem R, Peat G, Williamson T, Green ME, Khan S, et al. Prevalence and management of osteoarthritis in primary care: an epidemiologic cohort study from the Canadian Primary Care Sentinel Surveillance Network. CMAJ Open. 2015;3(3):E270-5.

25. Kadam UT, Jordan K, Croft PR. Clinical comorbidity in patients with osteoarthritis: a case-control study of general practice consulters in England and Wales. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2004;63(4):408-14.

26. Sharma A, Kudesia P, Shi Q, Gandhi R. Anxiety and depression in patients with osteoarthritis: impact and management challenges. Open Access Rheumatol. 2016;8:103-13.
27. Allen KD, Renner JB, Devellis B, Helmick CG, Jordan JM. Osteoarthritis and sleep: the Johnston County Osteoarthritis Project. The Journal of rheumatology. 2008;35(6):1102-7.

Singh P, Marcu KB, Goldring MB, Otero M. Phenotypic instability of chondrocytes in osteoarthritis: on a path to hypertrophy. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2019;1442(1):17-34.

29. Mobasheri A, Matta C, Zákány R, Musumeci G. Chondrosenescence: Definition, hallmarks and potential role in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Maturitas. 2015;80(3):237-44.

30. Goldring MB. Chondrogenesis, chondrocyte differentiation, and articular cartilage metabolism in health and osteoarthritis. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 2012;4(4):269-85.

31. Smith MD. The normal synovium. Open Rheumatol J. 2011;5:100-6.

32. Iwanaga T, Shikichi M, Kitamura H, Yanase H, Nozawa-Inoue K. Morphology and functional roles of synoviocytes in the joint. Arch Histol Cytol. 2000;63(1):17-31.

33. Hui AY, McCarty WJ, Masuda K, Firestein GS, Sah RL. A systems biology approach to synovial joint lubrication in health, injury, and disease. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med. 2012;4(1):15-37.

34. Rhee DK, Marcelino J, Baker M, Gong Y, Smits P, Lefebvre V, et al. The secreted glycoprotein lubricin protects cartilage surfaces and inhibits synovial cell overgrowth. J Clin Invest. 2005;115(3):622-31.

35. Kapoor M, Martel-Pelletier J, Lajeunesse D, Pelletier J-P, Fahmi H. Role of proinflammatory cytokines in the pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2011;7(1):33-42.

36. Chou C-H, Jain V, Gibson J, Attarian DE, Haraden CA, Yohn CB, et al. Synovial cell cross-talk with cartilage plays a major role in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Scientific Reports. 2020;10(1):10868.

37. Berenbaum F. Osteoarthritis as an inflammatory disease (osteoarthritis is not osteoarthrosis!). Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2013;21(1):16-21.

38. Scanzello CR, Goldring SR. The role of synovitis in osteoarthritis pathogenesis. Bone. 2012;51(2):249-57.

39. Wojdasiewicz P, Poniatowski Ł A, Szukiewicz D. The role of inflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Mediators Inflamm. 2014;2014:561459.

40. Mengshol JA, Vincenti MP, Coon CI, Barchowsky A, Brinckerhoff CE. Interleukin-1 induction of collagenase 3 (matrix metalloproteinase 13) gene expression in chondrocytes requires p38, c-Jun N-terminal kinase, and nuclear factor kappaB: differential regulation of collagenase 1 and collagenase 3. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2000;43(4):801-11.

41. Goldring MB, Birkhead J, Sandell LJ, Kimura T, Krane SM. Interleukin 1 suppresses expression of cartilage-specific types II and IX collagens and increases types I and III collagens in human chondrocytes. J Clin Invest. 1988;82(6):2026-37.

42. Kloppenburg M, Peterfy C, Haugen IK, Kroon F, Chen S, Wang L, et al. Phase IIa, placebo-controlled, randomised study of lutikizumab, an anti-interleukin-1 $\alpha$  and anti-interleukin-1 $\beta$  dual variable domain immunoglobulin, in patients with erosive hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2019;78(3):413.

43. van der Kraan PM, van den Berg WB. Osteophytes: relevance and biology. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2007;15(3):237-44.

44. Taljanovic MS, Graham AR, Benjamin JB, Gmitro AF, Krupinski EA, Schwartz SA, et al. Bone marrow edema pattern in advanced hip osteoarthritis: quantitative assessment with magnetic resonance imaging and correlation with clinical examination, radiographic findings, and histopathology. Skeletal Radiol. 2008;37(5):423-31.

45. Audrey HX, Abd Razak HRB, Andrew THC. The truth behind subchondral cysts in osteoarthritis of the knee. Open Orthop J. 2014;8:7-10.

46. Martin JA, Buckwalter JA. Aging, articular cartilage chondrocyte senescence and osteoarthritis. Biogerontology. 2002;3(5):257-64.

47. Muthuri SG, McWilliams DF, Doherty M, Zhang W. History of knee injuries and knee osteoarthritis: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2011;19(11):1286-93.

48. Wilder FV, Barrett JP, Farina EJ. Joint-specific prevalence of osteoarthritis of the hand. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2006;14(9):953-7.

49. Radin E, Parker H, Paul I. PATTERN OF DEGENERATIVE ARTHRITIS: Preferential Involvement of Distal Finger-joints. The Lancet. 1971;297(7695):377-9.

50. Kraus VB, Li Y-J, Martin ER, Jordan JM, Renner JB, Doherty M, et al. Articular hypermobility is a protective factor for hand osteoarthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2004;50(7):2178-83.

51. Jónsson H, Valtýsdóttir ST, Kjartansson O, Brekkan A. Hypermobility associated with osteoarthritis of the thumb base: a clinical and radiological subset of hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 1996;55(8):540-3.

52. Fontana L, Neel S, Claise JM, Ughetto S, Catilina P. Osteoarthritis of the thumb carpometacarpal joint in women and occupational risk factors: a case-control study. J Hand Surg Am. 2007;32(4):459-65.

53. Hunter DJ, Zhang Y, Nevitt MC, Xu L, Niu J, Lui LY, et al. Chopstick arthropathy: the Beijing Osteoarthritis Study. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2004;50(5):1495-500.

54. Jensen V, Bøggild H, Johansen JP. Occupational use of precision grip and forceful gripping, and arthrosis of finger joints: a literature review. Occup Med (Lond). 1999;49(6):383-8.

55. Kalichman L, Cohen Z, Kobyliansky E, Livshits G. Patterns of joint distribution in hand osteoarthritis: Contribution of age, sex, and handedness. American Journal of Human Biology. 2004;16(2):125-34.

56. Neame R, Zhang W, Deighton C, Doherty M, Doherty S, Lanyon P, et al. Distribution of radiographic osteoarthritis between the right and left hands, hips, and knees. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2004;50(5):1487-94.

57. Lane NE, Bloch DA, Jones HH, Simpson U, Fries JF. Osteoarthritis in the hand: a comparison of handedness and hand use. The Journal of rheumatology. 1989;16(5):637-42.

58. Srikanth VK, Fryer JL, Zhai G, Winzenberg TM, Hosmer D, Jones G. A meta-analysis of sex differences prevalence, incidence and severity of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2005;13(9):769-81.

59. de Klerk BM, Schiphof D, Groeneveld FP, Koes BW, van Osch GJ, van Meurs JB, et al. No clear association between female hormonal aspects and osteoarthritis of the hand, hip and knee: a systematic review. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2009;48(9):1160-5.

60. Spector TD, Cooper C. Radiographic assessment of osteoarthritis in population studies: whither Kellgren and Lawrence? Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 1993;1(4):203-6.

61. Hunter DJ, Demissie S, Cupples LA, Aliabadi P, Felson DT. A genome scan for jointspecific hand osteoarthritis susceptibility: The Framingham Study. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2004;50(8):2489-96.

62. Warner SC, Valdes AM. The genetics of osteoarthritis: A review. J Funct Morphol Kinesiol. 2016;1(1):140-53.

63. Sandell LJ. Etiology of osteoarthritis: genetics and synovial joint development. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2012;8(2):77-89.

64. Evans DS, Cailotto F, Parimi N, Valdes AM, Castaño-Betancourt MC, Liu Y, et al. Genome-wide association and functional studies identify a role for IGFBP3 in hip osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2015;74(10):1861-7.

65. Rogers EL, Reynard LN, Loughlin J. The role of inflammation-related genes in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2015;23(11):1933-8.

66. Raman S, FitzGerald U, Murphy JM. Interplay of Inflammatory Mediators with Epigenetics and Cartilage Modifications in Osteoarthritis. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2018;6:22.

67. Katz JD, Agrawal S, Velasquez M. Getting to the heart of the matter: osteoarthritis takes its place as part of the metabolic syndrome. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2010;22(5):512-9.
68. Courties A, Berenbaum F, Sellam J. The Phenotypic Approach to Osteoarthritis: A

Look at Metabolic Syndrome-Associated Osteoarthritis. Joint Bone Spine. 2019;86(6):725-30.

69. Zhuo Q, Yang W, Chen J, Wang Y. Metabolic syndrome meets osteoarthritis. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. 2012;8(12):729.

70. Day C. Metabolic syndrome, or What you will: definitions and epidemiology. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2007;4(1):32-8.

71. Strand MP, Neogi T, Niu J, Felson DT, Haugen IK. Association Between Metabolic Syndrome and Radiographic Hand Osteoarthritis: Data From a Community-Based Longitudinal Cohort Study. Arthritis Care & Research. 2018;70(3):469-74.

72. Carman WJ, Sowers M, Hawthorne VM, Weissfeld LA. Obesity as a risk factor for osteoarthritis of the hand and wrist: a prospective study. Am J Epidemiol. 1994;139(2):119-29.

73. Reyes C, Leyland KM, Peat G, Cooper C, Arden NK, Prieto-Alhambra D. Association Between Overweight and Obesity and Risk of Clinically Diagnosed Knee, Hip, and Hand Osteoarthritis: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2016;68(8):1869-75.

74. Filková M, Lisková M, Hulejová H, Haluzík M, Gatterová J, Pavelková A, et al. Increased serum adiponectin levels in female patients with erosive compared with non-erosive osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2009;68(2):295-6.

75. Yusuf E, Ioan-Facsinay A, Bijsterbosch J, Klein-Wieringa I, Kwekkeboom J, Slagboom PE, et al. Association between leptin, adiponectin and resistin and long-term progression of hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(7):1282-4.

76. Pearle AD, Scanzello CR, George S, Mandl LA, DiCarlo EF, Peterson M, et al. Elevated high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels are associated with local inflammatory findings in patients with osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2007;15(5):516-23.

77. Magnusson K, Osteras N, Haugen IK, Mowinckel P, Nordsletten L, Natvig B, et al. No strong relationship between body mass index and clinical hand osteoarthritis: results from a population-based case-control study. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2014;43(5):409-15.

78. Haugen IK, Magnusson K, Turkiewicz A, Englund M. The Prevalence, Incidence, and Progression of Hand Osteoarthritis in Relation to Body Mass Index, Smoking, and Alcohol Consumption. The Journal of rheumatology. 2017;44(9):1402-9.

79. Allen KD. Racial and ethnic disparities in osteoarthritis phenotypes. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2010;22(5):528-32.

80. Jordan JM, Helmick CG, Renner JB, Luta G, Dragomir AD, Woodard J, et al. Prevalence of knee symptoms and radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in African Americans and Caucasians: the Johnston County Osteoarthritis Project. The Journal of rheumatology. 2007;34(1):172-80.

81. Pishgar F, Kwee RM, Haj-Mirzaian A, Guermazi A, Haugen IK, Demehri S. Association between Race and Radiographic, Symptomatic, and Clinical Hand Osteoarthritis: A Propensity Score-Matched Study Using Osteoarthritis Initiative Data. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2020.

82. Erickson BJ, Korfiatis P, Akkus Z, Kline TL. Machine Learning for Medical Imaging. RadioGraphics. 2017;37(2):505-15.

83. Beam AL, Kohane IS. Big Data and Machine Learning in Health Care. Jama. 2018;319(13):1317-8.

84. Biamonte J, Wittek P, Pancotti N, Rebentrost P, Wiebe N, Lloyd S. Quantum machine learning. Nature. 2017;549(7671):195-202.

85. Wojczynski MK, Tiwari HK. Definition of Phenotype. Advances in Genetics. 60: Academic Press; 2008. p. 75-105.

86. Mobasheri A, Rayman MP, Gualillo O, Sellam J, van der Kraan P, Fearon U. The role of metabolism in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Nature reviews Rheumatology. 2017;13(5):302-11.

87. Bijlsma JW, Berenbaum F, Lafeber FP. Osteoarthritis: an update with relevance for clinical practice. Lancet (London, England). 2011;377(9783):2115-26.

88. Kluzek S, Mattei TA. Machine-learning for osteoarthritis research. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2019;27(7):977-8.

89. Nelson AE. How feasible is the stratification of osteoarthritis phenotypes by means of artificial intelligence? Expert Review of Precision Medicine and Drug Development. 2020:1-3.

90. Nelson AE, Fang F, Arbeeva L, Cleveland RJ, Schwartz TA, Callahan LF, et al. A machine learning approach to knee osteoarthritis phenotyping: data from the FNIH Biomarkers Consortium. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2019;27(7):994-1001.

91. Tiulpin A, Thevenot J, Rahtu E, Lehenkari P, Saarakkala S. Automatic Knee Osteoarthritis Diagnosis from Plain Radiographs: A Deep Learning-Based Approach. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):1727.

92. Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Mowinckel P, Loge JH, Kvien TK. Health-related quality of life in women with symptomatic hand osteoarthritis: A comparison with rheumatoid arthritis patients, healthy controls, and normative data. Arthritis Care & Research. 2007;57(8):1404-9.

93. Chua J, Gibson K, Pincus T. Pain and other self-reported scores in patients with osteoarthritis indicate generally similar disease burden to patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017;35(107):S88-S93.

94. Hawker GA, Stewart L, French MR, Cibere J, Jordan JM, March L, et al. Understanding the pain experience in hip and knee osteoarthritis--an OARSI/OMERACT initiative. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2008;16(4):415-22.

95. Neogi T. The epidemiology and impact of pain in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2013;21(9):1145-53.

96. Kjeken I, Dagfinrud H, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Mowinckel P, Uhlig T, Kvien TK, et al. Activity limitations and participation restrictions in women with hand osteoarthritis: patients' descriptions and associations between dimensions of functioning. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2005;64(11):1633-8.

97. Allen KD, Coffman CJ, Golightly YM, Stechuchak KM, Keefe FJ. Daily pain variations among patients with hand, hip, and knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2009;17(10):1275-82.

98. Mulrooney E, Magnusson K, Hammer HB, Dagfinrud H, Kvien TK, Haugen IK. Assessing pain characteristics in persons with hand osteoarthritis using the McGill pain questionnaire. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2019;27:S407-S8.

99. Ji R-R, Nackley A, Huh Y, Terrando N, Maixner W. Neuroinflammation and Central Sensitization in Chronic and Widespread Pain. Anesthesiology: The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists. 2018;129(2):343-66.

100. Steen Pettersen P, Neogi T, Magnusson K, Berner Hammer H, Uhlig T, Kvien TK, et al. Peripheral and Central Sensitization of Pain in Individuals With Hand Osteoarthritis and Associations With Self-Reported Pain Severity. Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ). 2019;71(7):1070-7.

101. Stamm T, van der Giesen F, Thorstensson C, Steen E, Birrell F, Bauernfeind B, et al. Patient perspective of hand osteoarthritis in relation to concepts covered by instruments measuring functioning: a qualitative European multicentre study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2009;68(9):1453-60.

102. Elliott AL, Kraus VB, Fang F, Renner JB, Schwartz TA, Salazar A, et al. Jointspecific hand symptoms and self-reported and performance-based functional status in African Americans and Caucasians: The Johnston County Osteoarthritis Project. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2007;66(12):1622-6.

103. Kjeken I, Dagfinrud H, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Mowinckel P, Uhlig T, Kvien TK, et al. Activity limitations and participation restrictions in women with hand osteoarthritis: patients' descriptions and associations between dimensions of functioning. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2005;64(11):1633-8.

104. Zhang Y, Niu J, Kelly-Hayes M, Chaisson CE, Aliabadi P, Felson DT. Prevalence of symptomatic hand osteoarthritis and its impact on functional status among the elderly: The Framingham Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2002;156(11):1021-7.

105. Stamm T, Geyh S, Cieza A, Machold K, Kollerits B, Kloppenburg M, et al. Measuring functioning in patients with hand osteoarthritis--content comparison of questionnaires based on the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2006;45(12):1534-41.

106. Bellamy N, Sothern RB, Campbell J, Buchanan WW. Rhythmic variations in pain, stiffness, and manual dexterity in hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2002;61(12):1075.

107. Firestein GS, Budd RC, Gabriel SE, McInnes IB, O'Dell JR, Koretzky G. Firestein & Kelley's Textbook of Rheumatology. 11 ed: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2020.

108. Liu R, Damman W, Beaart-van de Voorde LJJ, Kaptein AA, Rosendaal FR, Huizinga TWJ, et al. Aesthetic dissatisfaction in patients with hand osteoarthritis and its impact on daily life. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology. 2016;45(3):219-23.

109. Zhang W, Doherty M, Leeb BF, Alekseeva L, Arden NK, Bijlsma JW, et al. EULAR evidence-based recommendations for the diagnosis of hand osteoarthritis: report of a task force of ESCISIT. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2009;68(1):8-17.

110. Sivakumaran P, Hussain S, Ciurtin C. Comparison between Several Ultrasound Hand Joint Scores and Conventional Radiography in Diagnosing Hand Osteoarthritis. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2018;44(3):544-50.

111. Sakellariou G, Conaghan PG, Zhang W, Bijlsma JWJ, Boyesen P, Agostino MA, et al. EULAR recommendations for the use of imaging in the clinical management of peripheral joint osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2017;76(9):1484.

112. Thaper A, Zhang W, Wright G, Doherty M. Relationship between Heberden's nodes and underlying radiographic changes of osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2005;64(8):1214-6.

113. Cicuttini FM, Baker J, Hart DJ, Spector TD. Relation between Heberden's nodes and distal interphalangeal joint osteophytes and their role as markers of generalised disease. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 1998;57(4):246-8.

114. Alexander CJ. Heberden's and Bouchard's nodes. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 1999;58(11):675.

115. Kloppenburg M, Kroon FPB, Blanco FJ, Doherty M, Dziedzic KS, Greibrokk E, et al. 2018 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2019;78(1):16.

116. Moe RH, Grotle M, Kjeken I, Olsen IC, Mowinckel P, Haavardsholm EA, et al. Effectiveness of an Integrated Multidisciplinary Osteoarthritis Outpatient Program versus Outpatient Clinic as Usual: A Randomized Controlled Trial. The Journal of rheumatology. 2016;43(2):411-8.

117. Dziedzic K, Nicholls E, Hill S, Hammond A, Handy J, Thomas E, et al. Selfmanagement approaches for osteoarthritis in the hand: a  $2 \times 2$  factorial randomised trial. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2015;74(1):108-18.

118. Kjeken I, Darre S, Smedslund G, Hagen KB, Nossum R. Effect of assistive technology in hand osteoarthritis: a randomised controlled trial. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(8):1447-52.

119. Watt FE, Kennedy DL, Carlisle KE, Freidin AJ, Szydlo RM, Honeyfield L, et al. Night-time immobilization of the distal interphalangeal joint reduces pain and extension deformity in hand osteoarthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2014;53(6):1142-9.

120. Rannou F, Dimet J, Boutron I, Baron G, Fayad F, Macé Y, et al. Splint for base-of-thumb osteoarthritis: a randomized trial. Annals of internal medicine. 2009;150(10):661-9.

121. Gomes Carreira AC, Jones A, Natour J. Assessment of the effectiveness of a functional splint for osteoarthritis of the trapeziometacarpal joint on the dominant hand: a randomized controlled study. J Rehabil Med. 2010;42(5):469-74.

122. Hermann M, Nilsen T, Eriksen CS, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Haugen IK, Kjeken I. Effects of a soft prefabricated thumb orthosis in carpometacarpal osteoarthritis. Scand J Occup Ther. 2014;21(1):31-9.

123. Arazpour M, Soflaei M, Ahmadi Bani M, Madani SP, Sattari M, Biglarian A, et al. The effect of thumb splinting on thenar muscles atrophy, pain, and function in subjects with thumb carpometacarpal joint osteoarthritis. Prosthet Orthot Int. 2017;41(4):379-86.

124. Oppong R, Jowett S, Nicholls E, Whitehurst DG, Hill S, Hammond A, et al. Joint protection and hand exercises for hand osteoarthritis: an economic evaluation comparing methods for the analysis of factorial trials. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2015;54(5):876-83.

125. Østerås N, Kjeken I, Smedslund G, Moe RH, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Uhlig T, et al. Exercise for Hand Osteoarthritis: A Cochrane Systematic Review. The Journal of rheumatology. 2017;44(12):1850-8.

126. Altman RD, Dreiser RL, Fisher CL, Chase WF, Dreher DS, Zacher J. Diclofenac sodium gel in patients with primary hand osteoarthritis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. The Journal of rheumatology. 2009;36(9):1991-9.

127. Lin J, Zhang W, Jones A, Doherty M. Efficacy of topical non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs in the treatment of osteoarthritis: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2004;329(7461):324-.

128. Laslett LL, Jones G. Capsaicin for osteoarthritis pain. Prog Drug Res. 2014;68:277-91.
129. Guedes V, Castro JP, Brito I. Topical capsaicin for pain in osteoarthritis: A literature review. Reumatol Clin. 2018;14(1):40-5.

130. Grifka JK, Zacher J, Brown JP, Seriolo B, Lee A, Moore A, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of lumiracoxib versus placebo in patients with osteoarthritis of the hand. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2004;22(5):589-96.

131. Machado GC, Maher CG, Ferreira PH, Pinheiro MB, Lin CW, Day RO, et al. Efficacy and safety of paracetamol for spinal pain and osteoarthritis: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised placebo controlled trials. BMJ (Clinical research ed). 2015;350:h1225.
132. Rovetta G, Monteforte P. Dexketoprofen-trometamol in patients with osteoarthritis of the hands. Minerva ortopedica e traumatologica. 2001;52(1):27-30.

133. Spolidoro Paschoal Nde O, Natour J, Machado FS, de Oliveira HA, Furtado RN. Effectiveness of Triamcinolone Hexacetonide Intraarticular Injection in Interphalangeal Joints: A 12-week Randomized Controlled Trial in Patients with Hand Osteoarthritis. The Journal of rheumatology. 2015;42(10):1869-77.

134. Meenagh GK, Patton J, Kynes C, Wright GD. A randomised controlled trial of intraarticular corticosteroid injection of the carpometacarpal joint of the thumb in osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2004;63(10):1260-3.

135. Heyworth BE, Lee JH, Kim PD, Lipton CB, Strauch RJ, Rosenwasser MP. Hylan versus corticosteroid versus placebo for treatment of basal joint arthritis: a prospective, randomized, double-blinded clinical trial. J Hand Surg Am. 2008;33(1):40-8.

136. Kroon FP, Rubio R, Schoones JW, Kloppenburg M. Intra-Articular Therapies in the Treatment of Hand Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Literature Review. Drugs Aging. 2016;33(2):119-33.

137. Kroon FPB, Kortekaas MC, Boonen A, Bohringer S, Reijnierse M, Rosendaal FR, et al. Results of a 6-week treatment with 10 mg prednisolone in patients with hand osteoarthritis (HOPE): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet (London, England). 2019;394:1993-2001.

138. Kvien TK, Fjeld E, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Nichols M, Zhang Y, Prøven A, et al. Efficacy and safety of a novel synergistic drug candidate, CRx-102, in hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2008;67(7):942-8.

139. Gabay C, Medinger-Sadowski C, Gascon D, Kolo F, Finckh A. Symptomatic effects of chondroitin 4 and chondroitin 6 sulfate on hand osteoarthritis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial at a single center. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2011;63(11):3383-91.

140. Singh JA, Noorbaloochi S, MacDonald R, Maxwell LJ. Chondroitin for osteoarthritis. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2015;1:CD005614-CD.

141. Kloppenburg M, Ramonda R, Bobacz K, Kwok WY, Elewaut D, Huizinga TWJ, et al. Etanercept in patients with inflammatory hand osteoarthritis (EHOA): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2018;77(12):1757-64.

142. Chevalier X, Ravaud P, Maheu E, Baron G, Rialland A, Vergnaud P, et al. Adalimumab in patients with hand osteoarthritis refractory to analgesics and NSAIDs: a randomised, multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2015;74(9):1697-705.

143. Aitken D, Laslett LL, Pan F, Haugen IK, Otahal P, Bellamy N, et al. A randomised double-blind placebo-controlled crossover trial of HUMira (adalimumab) for erosive hand OsteoaRthritis - the HUMOR trial. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2018;26(7):880-7.

144. Verbruggen G, Wittoek R, Vander Cruyssen B, Elewaut D. Tumour necrosis factor blockade for the treatment of erosive osteoarthritis of the interphalangeal finger joints: a double blind, randomised trial on structure modification. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2012;71(6):891-8.

145. Kloppenburg M, Peterfy C, Haugen IK, Kroon F, Chen S, Wang L, et al. OP0168 A phase 2a, placebo-controlled, randomized study of ABT-981, an anti-interleukin-1ALPHA and -1BETA dual variable domain immunoglobulin, to treat erosive hand osteoarthritis (EHOA). Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2017;76(Suppl 2):122.

146. Kingsbury SR, Tharmanathan P, Keding A, Ronaldson SJ, Grainger A, Wakefield RJ, et al. Hydroxychloroquine Effectiveness in Reducing Symptoms of Hand Osteoarthritis: A Randomized Trial. Annals of internal medicine. 2018;168(6):385-95.

147. Lee W, Ruijgrok L, Boxma-de Klerk B, Kok MR, Kloppenburg M, Gerards A, et al. Efficacy of Hydroxychloroquine in Hand Osteoarthritis: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(9):1320-5.

148. Ferrero S, Wittoek R, Allado E, Fontas E, Cruzel C, Euller-Ziegler L, et al. OP0175 METHOTREXATE IN PATIENTS WITH HAND OSTEOARTHRITIS REFRACTORY TO ANALGESICS: A RANDOMISED, DOUBLE-BLIND, PLACEBO CONTROLLED TRIAL. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2019;78(Suppl 2):163.

149. Wajon A, Vinycomb T, Carr E, Edmunds I, Ada L. Surgery for thumb (trapeziometacarpal joint) osteoarthritis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;2015(2):Cd004631.

150. Boers M, Brooks P, Strand CV, Tugwell P. The OMERACT filter for Outcome Measures in Rheumatology. The Journal of rheumatology. 1998;25(2):198-9.

151. Haugen IK, Ostergaard M, Eshed I, McQueen FM, Bird P, Gandjbakhch F, et al. Iterative development and reliability of the OMERACT hand osteoarthritis MRI scoring system. The Journal of rheumatology. 2014;41(2):386-91.

152. Kroon FPB, Conaghan PG, Foltz V, Gandjbakhch F, Peterfy C, Eshed I, et al. Development and Reliability of the OMERACT Thumb Base Osteoarthritis Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scoring System. The Journal of rheumatology. 2017;44(11):1694-8. 153. Wittoek R, Kroon FPB, Kundakci B, Abhishek A, Haugen IK, Berenbaum F, et al. Report from the Hand Osteoarthritis Working Group at OMERACT 2018: Update on Core Instrument Set Development. The Journal of rheumatology. 2019;46(9):1183-7.

154. Lucretius Carus T, Bailey C. Lucretius on the Nature of Things. 1910.

155. Maxwell JC. VIII. A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. 1865;155:459-512.

156. Vatansever F, Hamblin MR. Far infrared radiation (FIR): its biological effects and medical applications. Photonics Lasers Med. 2012;4:255-66.

157. Sakudo A. Near-infrared spectroscopy for medical applications: Current status and future perspectives. Clinica Chimica Acta. 2016;455:181-8.

158. Dyer J. Infrared functional textiles. Functional textiles for improved performance, protection and health: Elsevier; 2011. p. 184-97.

159. Richard R, Jonathan L. A Dictionary of Physics: Oxford University Press; 2019.

160. Werner SG, Langer HE, Ohrndorf S, Bahner M, Schott P, Schwenke C, et al. Inflammation assessment in patients with arthritis using a novel in vivo fluorescence optical imaging technology. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2012;71(4):504-10.

161. Glimm AM, Werner SG, Burmester GR, Backhaus M, Ohrndorf S. Analysis of distribution and severity of inflammation in patients with osteoarthitis compared to rheumatoid arthritis by ICG-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging and musculoskeletal ultrasound: a pilot study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2016;75(3):566-70.

162. Meier R, Krug C, Golovko D, Boddington S, Piontek G, Rudelius M, et al. Indocyanine green-enhanced imaging of antigen-induced arthritis with an integrated optical imaging/radiography system. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2010;62(8):2322-7.

163. Castano AP, Demidova TN, Hamblin MR. Mechanisms in photodynamic therapy: part one-photosensitizers, photochemistry and cellular localization. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2004;1(4):279-93.

164. Yu Y, Sassaroli A, Chen DK, Homer MJ, Graham RA, Fantini S. Near-infrared, broad-band spectral imaging of the human breast for quantitative oximetry: applications to healthy and cancerous breasts. Journal of Innovative Optical Health Sciences. 2010;3(04):267-77.

165. Werner SG, Langer H-E, Burmester GR, Backhaus M. Comment on: A novel arthritis in vivo fluorescence optical imaging technology pushed to the limits. Rheumatology. 2013;52(8):1540-2.

166. Fischer T, Ebert B, Voigt J, Macdonald R, Schneider U, Thomas A, et al. Detection of rheumatoid arthritis using non-specific contrast enhanced fluorescence imaging. Academic radiology. 2010;17(3):375-81.

167. Scheel AK, Krause A, Rheinbaben IM, Metzger G, Rost H, Tresp V, et al. Assessment of proximal finger joint inflammation in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, using a novel laser-based imaging technique. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2002;46(5):1177-84.

168. Scheel AK, Backhaus M, Klose AD, Moa-Anderson B, Netz UJ, Hermann KG, et al. First clinical evaluation of sagittal laser optical tomography for detection of synovitis in arthritic finger joints. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2005;64(2):239-45.

169. Werner SG, Langer HE, Schott P, Bahner M, Schwenke C, Lind-Albrecht G, et al. Indocyanine green-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging in patients with early and very early arthritis: a comparative study with magnetic resonance imaging. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2013;65(12):3036-44.

170. Krohn M, Ohrndorf S, Werner SG, Schicke B, Burmester GR, Hamm B, et al. Nearinfrared Fluorescence Optical Imaging in Early Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Comparison to Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Ultrasonography. The Journal of rheumatology. 2015;42(7):1112-8.
171. Glimm A-M, Sprenger LI, Haugen IK, Mansmann U, Hermann S, Häupl T, et al. Fluorescence optical imaging for treatment monitoring in patients with early and active rheumatoid arthritis in a 1-year follow-up period. Arthritis research & therapy. 2019;21(1):209.

172. Thuermel K, Neumann J, Jungmann PM, Schaffeler C, Waldt S, Heinze A, et al. Fluorescence optical imaging and 3T-MRI for detection of synovitis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in comparison to a composite standard of reference. European journal of radiology. 2017;90:6-13.

173. Meier R, Thurmel K, Moog P, Noel PB, Ahari C, Sievert M, et al. Detection of synovitis in the hands of patients with rheumatologic disorders: diagnostic performance of optical imaging in comparison with magnetic resonance imaging. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2012;64(8):2489-98.

174. Meier R, Thuermel K, Noel PB, Moog P, Sievert M, Ahari C, et al. Synovitis in patients with early inflammatory arthritis monitored with quantitative analysis of dynamic contrast-enhanced optical imaging and MR imaging. Radiology. 2014;270(1):176-85.

175. Schäfer VS, Hartung W, Hoffstetter P, Berger J, Stroszczynski C, Müller M, et al. Quantitative assessment of synovitis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis using fluorescence optical imaging. Arthritis research & therapy. 2013;15(5):R124.

176. Beck MC, Glimm AM, Ohrndorf S, Minden K, Trauzeddel R, Werner SG, et al. Fluorescence optical imaging in pediatric patients with inflammatory and non-inflammatory joint diseases: a comparative study with ultrasonography. Arthritis research & therapy. 2017;19(1):233.

177. Pfeil A, Drummer KF, Bottcher J, Jung C, Oelzner P, Renz DM, et al. The Application of Fluorescence Optical Imaging in Systemic Sclerosis. BioMed research international. 2015;2015:658710.

178. Friedrich S, Luders S, Werner SG, Glimm AM, Burmester GR, Riemekasten G, et al. Disturbed microcirculation in the hands of patients with systemic sclerosis detected by fluorescence optical imaging: a pilot study. Arthritis research & therapy. 2017;19(1):87.

179. Wiemann O, Werner SG, Langer HE, Backhaus M, Chatelain R. The "green nail" phenomenon in ICG-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging - a potential tool for the differential diagnosis of psoriatic arthritis. Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft = Journal of the German Society of Dermatology : JDDG. 2019;17(2):138-47.

180. Golovko D, Meier R, Rummeny E, Daldrup-Link H. Optical imaging of rheumatoid arthritis. International journal of clinical rheumatology. 2011;6(1):67-75.

181. D'Agostino MA, Haavardsholm EA, van der Laken CJ. Diagnosis and management of rheumatoid arthritis; What is the current role of established and new imaging techniques in clinical practice? Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology. 2016;30(4):586-607.

182. Papadia A, Gasparri ML, Mueller M. Are allergic reactions to indocyanine green really that uncommon? A single institution experience. Obstetrics and gynecology reports. 2017;1(2):1-2.

183. Mordon S, Devoisselle JM, Soulie-Begu S, Desmettre T. Indocyanine green:
physicochemical factors affecting its fluorescence in vivo. Microvasc Res. 1998;55(2):146-52.
184. Mothes H, Dönicke T, Friedel R, Simon M, Markgraf E, Bach O. Indocyanine-green
fluorescence video angiography used clinically to evaluate tissue perfusion in microsurgery.
The Journal of trauma. 2004;57(5):1018-24.

185. Ando F, Sasano K, Ohba N, Hirose H, Yasui O. Anatomic and visual outcomes after indocyanine green-assisted peeling of the retinal internal limiting membrane in idiopathic macular hole surgery. Am J Ophthalmol. 2004;137(4):609-14.

186. Brancato R, Trabucchi G. Fluorescein and indocyanine green angiography in vascular chorioretinal diseases. Semin Ophthalmol. 1998;13(4):189-98.

187. Ishizawa T, Fukushima N, Shibahara J, Masuda K, Tamura S, Aoki T, et al. Real-time identification of liver cancers by using indocyanine green fluorescent imaging. Cancer. 2009;115(11):2491-504.

188. Chu W, Chennamsetty A, Toroussian R, Lau C. Anaphylactic Shock After Intravenous Administration of Indocyanine Green During Robotic Partial Nephrectomy. Urol Case Rep. 2017;12:37-8.

189. Benya R, Quintana J, Brundage B. Adverse reactions to indocyanine green: a case report and a review of the literature. Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn. 1989;17(4):231-3.

190. El-Desoky A, Seifalian AM, Cope M, Davidson BR. Experimental study of liver dysfunction evaluated by direct indocyanine green clearance using near infrared spectroscopy. British journal of surgery. 1999;86(8):1005-11.

191. Sonja V, Ines G, Axel V, Beatrix S, Jörg S, Jan V, et al. <i>In vivo</i> therapy monitoring of experimental rheumatoid arthritis in rats using near-infrared fluorescence imaging. Journal of biomedical optics. 2014;19(3):1-8.

192. Chen WT, Mahmood U, Weissleder R, Tung CH. Arthritis imaging using a near-infrared fluorescence folate-targeted probe. Arthritis research & therapy. 2005;7(2):R310-7.
193. Lai WF, Chang CH, Tang Y, Bronson R, Tung CH. Early diagnosis of osteoarthritis using cathepsin B sensitive near-infrared fluorescent probes. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2004;12(3):239-44.

194. Besselink NJ, van der Meijde P, Rensen WHJ, Meijer PBL, Marijnissen ACA, van Laar JM, et al. Optical spectral transmission to assess inflammation in hand and wrist joints of rheumatoid arthritis patients. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2018;57(5):865-72.

195. van Onna M, Ten Cate DF, Tsoi KL, Meier AJ, Jacobs JW, Westgeest AA, et al. Assessment of disease activity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis using optical spectral transmission measurements, a non-invasive imaging technique. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2016;75(3):511-8.

196. Krabbe S, Ammitzboll-Danielsen M, Ostergaard M, Giard MC, Terslev L. Sensitivity and specificity of optical spectral transmission imaging in detecting joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2016;75(3):632-3.

197. Besselink NJ, Jacobs JWG, Westgeest AAA, van der Meijde P, Welsing PMJ, Marijnissen ACA, et al. Can optical spectral transmission assess ultrasound-detected synovitis in hand osteoarthritis? PloS one. 2019;14(2):e0209761-e.

198. Hielscher AH, Klose AD, Scheel AK, Moa-Anderson B, Backhaus M, Netz U, et al. Sagittal laser optical tomography for imaging of rheumatoid finger joints. Physics in Medicine and Biology. 2004;49(7):1147-63.

199. Hielscher AH, Bluestone AY, Abdoulaev GS, Klose AD, Lasker J, Stewart M, et al. Near-infrared diffuse optical tomography. Dis Markers. 2002;18(5-6):313-37.

200. Xu G, Rajian J, Girish G, Kaplan M, Fowlkes JB, Carson P, et al. Photoacoustic and ultrasound dual-modality imaging of human peripheral joints. Journal of biomedical optics. 2012;18(1):010502.

201. Cernohorsky P, de Bruin DM, van Herk M, Bras J, Faber DJ, Strackee SD, et al. Insitu imaging of articular cartilage of the first carpometacarpal joint using co-registered optical coherence tomography and computed tomography. Journal of biomedical optics. 2012;17(6):060501.

202. Marshall M, Jonsson H, Helgadottir GP, Nicholls E, van der Windt D, Myers H, et al. Reliability of Assessing Hand Osteoarthritis on Digital Photographs and Associations With Radiographic and Clinical Findings. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2014;66(6):828-36.

203. Jonsson H, Helgadottir GP, Aspelund T, Sverrisdottir JE, Eiriksdottir G, Sigurdsson S, et al. The use of digital photographs for the diagnosis of hand osteoarthritis: the AGES-Reykjavik study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2012;13:20.

204. Johnston J, Fauber TL. Essentials of radiographic physics and imaging: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2015.

205. Mettler FA, Jr., Huda W, Yoshizumi TT, Mahesh M. Effective doses in radiology and diagnostic nuclear medicine: a catalog. Radiology. 2008;248(1):254-63.

206. Komperød M, Friberg E, Rudjord A. Radiation Doses to the Norwegian Population; Summary of radiation doses from planned exposure and the environment2015.

207. Altman RD, Gold GE. Atlas of individual radiographic features in osteoarthritis, revised. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2007;15:A1-A56.

208. Altman RD, Hochberg M, Murphy WA, Jr., Wolfe F, Lequesne M. Atlas of individual radiographic features in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 1995;3 Suppl A:3-70.

209. Verbruggen G, Veys EM. Numerical scoring systems for the anatomic evolution of osteoarthritis of the finger joints. Arthritis and rheumatism. 1996;39(2):308-20.

210. Verbruggen G, Wittoek R, Vander Cruyssen B, Elewaut D. Morbid anatomy of 'erosive osteoarthritis' of the interphalangeal finger joints: an optimised scoring system to monitor disease progression in affected joints. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2010;69(5):862-7.

211. Schild HH. MRI made easy: (... well almost): Berlex Laboratories; 1994.

212. Currie S, Hoggard N, Craven IJ, Hadjivassiliou M, Wilkinson ID. Understanding

MRI: basic MR physics for physicians. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2013;89(1050):209.

213. Haugen IK, Bøyesen P. Imaging modalities in hand osteoarthritis--and perspectives of conventional radiography, magnetic resonance imaging, and ultrasonography. Arthritis research & therapy. 2011;13(6):248.

214. Haugen IK, Boyesen P, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Sesseng S, van der Heijde D, Kvien TK. Associations between MRI-defined synovitis, bone marrow lesions and structural features and measures of pain and physical function in hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2012;71(6):899-904.

215. Wittoek R, Jans L, Lambrecht V, Carron P, Verstraete K, Verbruggen G. Reliability and construct validity of ultrasonography of soft tissue and destructive changes in erosive osteoarthritis of the interphalangeal finger joints: a comparison with MRI. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(2):278-83.

216. Lewis AR, Nolan MJ, Hodgson RJ, Benjamin M, Ralphs JR, Archer CW, et al. High resolution magnetic resonance imaging of the proximal interphalangeal joints. Correlation with histology and production of a three-dimensional data set. J Hand Surg Br. 1996;21(4):488-95.

217. Tan AL, Toumi H, Benjamin M, Grainger AJ, Tanner SF, Emery P, et al. Combined high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging and histological examination to explore the role of ligaments and tendons in the phenotypic expression of early hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2006;65(10):1267-72.

218. Loeuille D, Sauliere N, Champigneulle J, Rat AC, Blum A, Chary-Valckenaere I. Comparing non-enhanced and enhanced sequences in the assessment of effusion and synovitis in knee OA: associations with clinical, macroscopic and microscopic features. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2011;19(12):1433-9.

219. de Lange-Brokaar BJE, Ioan-Facsinay A, Yusuf E, Visser AW, Kroon HM, Andersen SN, et al. Degree of synovitis on MRI by comprehensive whole knee semi-quantitative scoring method correlates with histologic and macroscopic features of synovial tissue inflammation in knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2014;22(10):1606-13.

220. Haugen IK, Boyesen P, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Sesseng S, Bijsterbosch J, van der Heijde D, et al. Comparison of features by MRI and radiographs of the interphalangeal finger joints in patients with hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2012;71(3):345-50.

221. Haugen IK, Lillegraven S, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Haavardsholm EA, Sesseng S, Kvien TK, et al. Hand osteoarthritis and MRI: development and first validation step of the proposed Oslo Hand Osteoarthritis MRI score. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(6):1033-8.

222. Haugen IK, Eshed I, Gandjbakhch F, Foltz V, Ostergaard M, Boyesen P, et al. The Longitudinal Reliability and Responsiveness of the OMERACT Hand Osteoarthritis Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scoring System (HOAMRIS). The Journal of rheumatology. 2015;42(12):2486-91.

223. Abu-Zidan FM, Hefny AF, Corr P. Clinical ultrasound physics. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2011;4(4):501-3.

224. Keen HI, Wakefield RJ, Grainger AJ, Hensor EM, Emery P, Conaghan PG. An ultrasonographic study of osteoarthritis of the hand: synovitis and its relationship to structural pathology and symptoms. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2008;59(12):1756-63.

225. Vlychou M, Koutroumpas A, Malizos K, Sakkas LI. Ultrasonographic evidence of inflammation is frequent in hands of patients with erosive osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2009;17(10):1283-7.

226. Kortekaas MC, Kwok WY, Reijnierse M, Watt I, Huizinga TW, Kloppenburg M. Pain in hand osteoarthritis is associated with inflammation: the value of ultrasound. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2010;69(7):1367-9.

227. Mancarella L, Magnani M, Addimanda O, Pignotti E, Galletti S, Meliconi R. Ultrasound-detected synovitis with power Doppler signal is associated with severe radiographic damage and reduced cartilage thickness in hand osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2010;18(10):1263-8.

228. Kortekaas MC, Kwok WY, Reijnierse M, Huizinga TW, Kloppenburg M. Osteophytes and joint space narrowing are independently associated with pain in finger joints in hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(10):1835-7.

229. Usón J, Fernández-Espartero C, Villaverde V, Condés E, Godo J, Martínez-Blasco MJ, et al. Symptomatic and asymptomatic interphalangeal osteoarthritis: an ultrasonographic study. Reumatología Clínica (English Edition). 2014;10(5):278-82.

230. Mathiessen A, Haugen IK, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Boyesen P, Kvien TK, Hammer HB. Ultrasonographic assessment of osteophytes in 127 patients with hand osteoarthritis: exploring reliability and associations with MRI, radiographs and clinical joint findings. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2013;72(1):51-6.

231. Keen HI, Lavie F, Wakefield RJ, D'Agostino MA, Hammer HB, Hensor E, et al. The development of a preliminary ultrasonographic scoring system for features of hand osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2008;67(5):651-5.

232. Backhaus M, Burmester GR, Gerber T, Grassi W, Machold KP, Swen WA, et al. Guidelines for musculoskeletal ultrasound in rheumatology. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2001;60(7):641-9.

233. Wakefield RJ, Balint PV, Szkudlarek M, Filippucci E, Backhaus M, D'Agostino MA, et al. Musculoskeletal ultrasound including definitions for ultrasonographic pathology. The Journal of rheumatology. 2005;32(12):2485-7.

234. Hammer HB, Bolton-King P, Bakkeheim V, Berg TH, Sundt E, Kongtorp AK, et al. Examination of intra and interrater reliability with a new ultrasonographic reference atlas for scoring of synovitis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2011;70(11):1995-8.

235. Gloersen M, Mulrooney E, Mathiessen A, Hammer HB, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Faraj K, et al. A hospital-based observational cohort study exploring pain and biomarkers in patients with hand osteoarthritis in Norway: The Nor-Hand protocol. BMJ open. 2017;7(9):e016938.

236. Bellamy N, Campbell J, Haraoui B, Buchbinder R, Hobby K, Roth JH, et al. Dimensionality and clinical importance of pain and disability in hand osteoarthritis: Development of the Australian/Canadian (AUSCAN) Osteoarthritis Hand Index. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2002;10(11):855-62.

237. Bijsterbosch J, Wassenaar MJE, le Cessie S, Slagboom PE, Rosendaal FR, Huizinga TWJ, et al. Doyle Index is a valuable additional pain measure in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2010;18(8):1046-50.

238. Schmidt RT, Toews JV. Grip strength as measured by the Jamar dynamometer. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1970;51(6):321-7.

239. Haugen IK, Hestetun S, Drude B, Burmester GR, Kvien TK, Ohrndorf S. Altered Microcirculation As a Proxy for Inflammation in Hand Osteoarthritis Can Reliably be Assessed Using Fluorescence Optical Imaging [abstract]. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69.

240. Danielsen MA, Østergaard M, Terslev L, Ohrndorf S, Malm DE. Development and Validation of a Flourescence Optical Imaging Rheumatoid Arthritis Scoring System for Synovitis in the Wrist and Hand (Abstract). Arthritis and Rheumatology. 2017;69(S10).

241. Danielsen MA, Malm DE, Terslev L, Østergaard M. Novel Fluorescence Optical Imaging Scoring System of Inflammation in the Hand and Wrist in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis–Agreement with Ultrasonography and Sensitivity to Change (Abstract). Arthritis and Rheumatology. 2018;70(S9).

242. Kroon FPB, van Beest S, Ermurat S, Kortekaas MC, Bloem JL, Reijnierse M, et al. In thumb base osteoarthritis structural damage is more strongly associated with pain than synovitis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2018;26(9):1196-202.

243. Fjellstad CM, Mathiessen A, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Kvien TK, Hammer HB, Haugen IK. Associations between ultrasound-detected synovitis, pain and function in interphalangeal and thumb base osteoarthritis: Data from the Nor-Hand study. Arthritis Care Res. 2019.

244. Gazeley DJ, Yeturi S, Patel PJ, Rosenthal AK. Erosive osteoarthritis: A systematic analysis of definitions used in the literature. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2017;46(4):395-403.
245. Altman DG. Practical statistics for medical research. London: Chapman and Hall; 1991.

246. Solovieva S, Vehmas T, Riihimäki H, Luoma K, Leino-Arjas P. Hand use and patterns of joint involvement in osteoarthritis. A comparison of female dentists and teachers. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2005;44(4):521-8.

247. Hurnakova J, Filippucci E, Cipolletta E, Di Matteo A, Salaffi F, Carotti M, et al. Prevalence and distribution of cartilage damage at the metacarpal head level in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis: an ultrasound study. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2019;58(7):1206-13.

248. Ejbjerg B, Narvestad E, Rostrup E, Szkudlarek M, Jacobsen S, Thomsen HS, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of wrist and finger joints in healthy subjects occasionally shows changes resembling erosions and synovitis as seen in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2004;50(4):1097-106.

249. Christiansen RE, Sviland L, Sekse I, Svarstad E. [Nephrogenic systemic fibrosis and use of MR contrast media]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2009;129(3):180-2.

250. Schieda N, Blaichman JI, Costa AF, Glikstein R, Hurrell C, James M, et al. Gadolinium-Based Contrast Agents in Kidney Disease: A Comprehensive Review and Clinical Practice Guideline Issued by the Canadian Association of Radiologists. Canadian Journal of Kidney Health and Disease. 2018;5:2054358118778573.

251. Guo BJ, Yang ZL, Zhang LJ. Gadolinium Deposition in Brain: Current Scientific Evidence and Future Perspectives. Front Mol Neurosci. 2018;11:335-.

252. Gibby WA, Gibby KA, Gibby WA. Comparison of Gd DTPA-BMA (Omniscan) versus Gd HP-DO3A (ProHance) retention in human bone tissue by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy. Invest Radiol. 2004;39(3):138-42.

253. Roberts DR, Lindhorst SM, Welsh CT, Maravilla KR, Herring MN, Braun KA, et al. High Levels of Gadolinium Deposition in the Skin of a Patient With Normal Renal Function. Invest Radiol. 2016;51(5):280-9.

254. Maximova N, Gregori M, Zennaro F, Sonzogni A, Simeone R, Zanon D. Hepatic Gadolinium Deposition and Reversibility after Contrast Agent-enhanced MR Imaging of Pediatric Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant Recipients. Radiology. 2016;281(2):418-26.

255. McQueen F, Østergaard M, Peterfy C, Lassere M, Ejbjerg B, Bird P, et al. Pitfalls in scoring MR images of rheumatoid arthritis wrist and metacarpophalangeal joints. Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2005;64 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):i48-i55.

256. Østergaard M, Klarlund M. Importance of timing of post-contrast MRI in rheumatoid arthritis: what happens during the first 60 minutes after IV gadolinium-DTPA? Annals of the rheumatic diseases. 2001;60(11):1050-4.

257. Li A, Wong CS, Wong MK, Lee CM, Au Yeung MC. Acute adverse reactions to magnetic resonance contrast media--gadolinium chelates. Br J Radiol. 2006;79(941):368-71.
258. Beckett KR, Moriarity AK, Langer JM. Safe Use of Contrast Media: What the Radiologist Needs to Know. RadioGraphics. 2015;35(6):1738-50.

259. Hope-Ross M, Yannuzzi LA, Gragoudas ES, Guyer DR, Slakter JS, Sorenson JA, et al. Adverse reactions due to indocyanine green. Ophthalmology. 1994;101(3):529-33.

260. Krohne TU, Allam JP, Novak N, Holz FG. ["Iodine allergy" : A medical myth with risks for the ophthalmological patient]. Ophthalmologe. 2016;113(12):1023-8.

261. Schabelman E, Witting M. The Relationship of Radiocontrast, Iodine, and Seafood Allergies: A Medical Myth Exposed. The Journal of Emergency Medicine. 2010;39(5):701-7.
262. Hawker GA, Mian S, Kendzerska T, French M. Measures of adult pain: Visual Analog Scale for Pain (VAS Pain), Numeric Rating Scale for Pain (NRS Pain), McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ), Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ), Chronic Pain Grade Scale (CPGS), Short Form-36 Bodily Pain Scale (SF-36 BPS), and Measure of Intermittent and Constant Osteoarthritis Pain (ICOAP). Arthritis Care & Research. 2011;63(S11):S240-S52.

263. Eitner A, Hofmann GO, Schaible H-G. Mechanisms of Osteoarthritic Pain. Studies in Humans and Experimental Models. Front Mol Neurosci. 2017;10(349).

264. Sim J, Wright CC. The Kappa Statistic in Reliability Studies: Use, Interpretation, and Sample Size Requirements. Physical Therapy. 2005;85(3):257-68.

265. Chen G, Faris P, Hemmelgarn B, Walker R, Quan H. Measuring agreement of administrative data with chart data using prevalence unadjusted and adjusted kappa. BMC medical research methodology. 2009;9:5.

266. Brennan RL, Prediger DJ. Coefficient Kappa: Some Uses, Misuses, and Alternatives. Educational and Psychological Measurement. 1981;41(3):687-99.

267. Feinstein AR, Cicchetti DV. High agreement but low kappa: I. The problems of two paradoxes. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 1990;43(6):543-9.

268. Byrt T, Bishop J, Carlin JB. Bias, prevalence and kappa. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 1993;46(5):423-9.

269. Hoehler FK. Bias and prevalence effects on kappa viewed in terms of sensitivity and specificity. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 2000;53(5):499-503.

270. Cicchetti DV, Feinstein AR. High agreement but low kappa: II. Resolving the paradoxes. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 1990;43(6):551-8.

271. Lantz CA, Nebenzahl E. Behavior and interpretation of the kappa statistic: resolution of the two paradoxes. Journal of clinical epidemiology. 1996;49(4):431-4.

272. Vannest KJ, Parker, R.I., Gonen, O., & Adiguzel, T. Single Case Research: web based calculators for SCR analysis. (Version 2.0) PABAK-OS (Prevalance and Bias Adjusted Kappa-Ordinal Scale) Texas A&M University2016 [Available from: http://www.singlecaseresearch.org/calculators/pabak-os.

273. Tins BJ, Butler R. Imaging in rheumatology: reconciling radiology and rheumatology. Insights into Imaging. 2013;4(6):799-810.

274. Ranganathan P, Pramesh CS, Aggarwal R. Common pitfalls in statistical analysis: Measures of agreement. Perspect Clin Res. 2017;8(4):187-91.

275. Martin Bland J, Altman D. STATISTICAL METHODS FOR ASSESSING AGREEMENT BETWEEN TWO METHODS OF CLINICAL MEASUREMENT. The Lancet. 1986;327(8476):307-10.

276. Morgan CJ, Aban I. Methods for evaluating the agreement between diagnostic tests. Journal of Nuclear Cardiology. 2016;23(3):511-3.

277. Jan H, Tomasz K. Comparison of Values of Pearson's and Spearman's Correlation Coefficients on the Same Sets of Data. Quaestiones Geographicae. 2011;30(2):87-93.

278. Forsythe LK, Wallace JMW, Livingstone MBE. Obesity and inflammation: the effects of weight loss. Nutrition Research Reviews. 2008;21(2):117-33.

279. Murray ET, Hardy R, Hughes A, Wills A, Sattar N, Deanfield J, et al. Overweight across the life course and adipokines, inflammatory and endothelial markers at age 60–64 years: evidence from the 1946 birth cohort. International Journal of Obesity. 2015;39(6):1010-8.

280. Visser M, Bouter LM, McQuillan GM, Wener MH, Harris TB. Elevated C-Reactive Protein Levels in Overweight and Obese Adults. Jama. 1999;282(22):2131-5.

281. Amy Janke E, Kozak AT. "The more pain I have, the more I want to eat": obesity in the context of chronic pain. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012;20(10):2027-34.

282. Klein A, Just GW, Werner SG, Oommen PT, Minden K, Becker I, et al. Fluorescence optical imaging and musculoskeletal ultrasonography in juvenile idiopathic polyarticular disease before and during antirheumatic treatment - a multicenter non-interventional diagnostic evaluation. Arthritis research & therapy. 2017;19(1):147.

283. Hirano F, Yokoyama-Kokuryo W, Yamazaki H, Tsutsumino M, Sakai R, Satoh S, et al. Comparison of fluorescence optical imaging, ultrasonography and clinical examination with magnetic resonance imaging as a reference in active rheumatoid arthritis patients. Immunological medicine. 2018;41(2):75-81.

284. Dziekan T, Weissbach C, Voigt J, Ebert B, Macdonald R, Bahner ML, et al. Detection of rheumatoid arthritis by evaluation of normalized variances of fluorescence time correlation functions. Journal of biomedical optics. 2011;16(7):076015.

285. Wittoek R, Cruyssen BV, Verbruggen G. Predictors of functional impairment and pain in erosive osteoarthritis of the interphalangeal joints: Comparison with controlled inflammatory arthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2012;64(5):1430-6.

286. Ohrndorf S, Boer AC, Boeters DM, ten Brinck RM, Burmester G-R, Kortekaas MC, et al. Do musculoskeletal ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging identify synovitis and tenosynovitis at the same joints and tendons? A comparative study in early inflammatory arthritis and clinically suspect arthralgia. Arthritis research & therapy. 2019;21(1):59.

287. Tan AL, Tanner SF, Conaghan PG, Radjenovic A, O'Connor P, Brown AK, et al. Role of metacarpophalangeal joint anatomic factors in the distribution of synovitis and bone erosion in early rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism. 2003;48(5):1214-22.

288. Partik B, Rand T, Pretterklieber ML, Voracek M, Hoermann M, Helbich TH. Patterns of gadopentetate-enhanced MR imaging of radiocarpal joints of healthy subjects. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2002;179(1):193-7.

289. Sokolove J, Lepus CM. Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis: latest findings and interpretations. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis. 2013;5(2):77-94.

290. Prieto-Potin I, Largo R, Roman-Blas JA, Herrero-Beaumont G, Walsh DA. Characterization of multinucleated giant cells in synovium and subchondral bone in knee osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015;16:226.

291. Mathiessen A, Conaghan PG. Synovitis in osteoarthritis: current understanding with therapeutic implications. Arthritis research & therapy. 2017;19(1):18.

292. Kirkhus E, Bjørnerud A, Thoen J, Johnston V, Dale K, Smith HJ. Contrast-Enhanced Dynamic Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Finger Joints in Osteoarthritis and Rheumatoid Arthritis: An Analysis Based on Pharmacokinetic Modeling. Acta Radiologica. 2006;47(8):845-51.

293. Haugen IK, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Bøyesen P, van der Heijde D, Kvien TK. Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations between radiographic features and measures of pain and physical function in hand osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage. 2013;21(9):1191-8.

10. Papers 1-3

I

Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Open 1 (2020) 100017



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

### Cesteoarthritis and Cartilage Open

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/journals/osteoarthritis-and-cartilage-open/2665-9131

Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Open

# Evaluation of three scoring methods for Fluorescence Optical Imaging in erosive hand osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis



Ø. Maugesten <sup>a, b, \*</sup>, S. Ohrndorf<sup>c</sup>, D. Glinatsi <sup>d, e</sup>, M. Ammitzbøll-Danielsen <sup>d</sup>, Y. Kisten <sup>f</sup>, M. Østergaard <sup>d, g</sup>, L. Terslev <sup>d, g</sup>, T. Uhlig <sup>a, b</sup>, T.K. Kvien <sup>a, b</sup>, I.K. Haugen <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Rheumatology, Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Oslo, Norway

<sup>b</sup> Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

<sup>c</sup> Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Charité Universitätsmedizin, Berlin, Germany

<sup>d</sup> Copenhagen Center for Arthritis Research (COPCARE), Center for Rheumatology and Spine Diseases, Centre for Head and Orthopaedics, Rigshospitalet, Glostrup, Denmark

<sup>e</sup> Department of Rheumatology, Skaraborg Hospital, Skövde, Sweden

f Department of Medicine, Rheumatology Division, Karolinska Institute, Karolinska University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden

<sup>8</sup> Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Fluorescence optical imaging Hand osteoarthritis Rheumatoid arthritis Magnetic resonance imaging Arthritis Xiralite

#### SUMMARY

*Objective:* Fluorescence Optical Imaging (FOI) demonstrates indocyanine green (ICG)-enhanced microcirculation in wrist and finger joints, as a sign of inflammation. We wanted to assess the reliability of three FOI scoring methods from Berlin, Stockholm, and Copenhagen, to assess the validity of FOI with MRI as reference and to compare enhancement in hand joints in erosive hand osteoarthritis (OA) vs. rheumatoid arthritis (RA). *Design:* Five readers scored all finger and wrist joints of 26 patients with erosive hand OA and RA on semi-quantitative 0–3 scales using three different FOI scoring methods. To evaluate inter-reader reliability, we calculated the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) for sum scores and prevalence and bias adjusted kappa values for ordinal scales (Pabak-OS) on joint level. Enhancement in joint groups in erosive hand OA vs. RA was compared using Mann-Whitney test. Sensitivities and specificities of FOI was calculated with MRI as reference for hand OA patients only.

*Results:* We found moderate to good inter-reader reliability for all FOI scoring methods (Pabak-OS: 0.50–0.78, ICC: 0.43–0.85) and different patterns of enhancement in erosive hand OA vs. RA with significantly more FOI enhancement in DIP joints in erosive hand OA across all methods. With MRI as reference the different FOI scoring methods reached similar sensitivities (63–65%) and specificities (76–91%).

*Conclusion:* FOI enhancement can be measured reliably in erosive hand OA and RA using three different scoring methods. More DIP enhancement in erosive hand OA patients and good agreement with MRI support the diagnostic performance of FOI.

#### 1. Introduction

Joint inflammation plays an essential role in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and in the last decade studies have suggested that synovitis also is an important pathological component in hand osteoarthritis (OA) [1–3]. Monitoring inflammation with sensitive and cost-effective imaging techniques is important in both diseases. Inflammation assessed by imaging is not included in current remission criteria for RA, but there is increasing interest on the value of imaging-based treat-to-target strategies [22]. For treatment of hand OA there are

currently no disease-modifying OA drugs (DMOADs) available and in future trials with drugs targeting synovitis, imaging might be an important and relevant outcome measure. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and musculoskeletal ultrasound (US) can reliably monitor synovitis in both diseases, however MRI is hampered by high cost and limited availability and US by potential operator dependency and the need for sufficient US training. Fluorescence Optical Imaging (FOI) is a novel imaging technique using near infrared light and the fluorophore agent indocyanine green (ICG) to demonstrate enhanced microcirculation due to inflammation in wrist and finger joints. The FOI device can be

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocarto.2019.100017

Received 3 September 2019; Accepted 28 November 2019

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Department of Rheumatology, Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Diakonveien 12, 0370, Oslo, Norway. *E-mail address:* oystein.maugesten@gmail.com (Ø. Maugesten).

<sup>2665-9131/© 2019</sup> Osteoarthritis Research Society International (OARSI). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-ac-ad/4.0/).

operated by trained medical personnel, emits no radiation and is relatively inexpensive and fast. FOI has since 2010 been applied in clinical research on inflammatory joint diseases [4–9] and in a previous study on patients with undifferentiated arthritis FOI demonstrated good sensitivity and moderate specificity with MRI (n = 25; sensitivity 76%, specificity 54%) and power Doppler ultrasound (n = 74; sensitivity 74%, specificity 42%) as reference [10].

A reliable scoring method is crucial in the assessment of FOI images. The 'Berlin scoring method' developed at the Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin as the fluorescence optical imaging activity score ('FOIAS') is the most commonly used scoring method in available literature [6,10–12]. A previous study by Werner et al. found moderate to good inter-reader reliability for the Berlin method (k = 0.71) [10] whereas Meier et al. have presented lower weighted kappa values (k = 0.47) [5].

New scoring methods have been developed at Karolinska University Hospital in Stockholm (Sweden) and at Rigshospitalet in Copenhagen (Denmark), but reliability for these two scoring methods has not yet been published. Our primary aim was to assess the inter-reader reliability of these three methods in erosive hand OA and RA patients, and to compare the degree of enhancement in different joint groups in these two diseases. Secondly, we wanted to investigate the diagnostic performance of the different FOI scoring methods in erosive hand OA patients using MRIdefined synovitis as a reference standard.

#### 2. Methods

### 2.1. Patients

The erosive hand OA patients (n = 13) were randomly selected from the Nor-Hand study, where 300 patients with hand OA were recruited from the rheumatology outpatient clinic at Diakonhjemmet hospital [13]. Inclusion criteria was proven hand OA by clinical examination and/or ultrasound and no clinical sign of inflammatory arthritis. RA patients (n = 13) with the indication to start or switch synthetic DMARDs or switch from synthetic to a combination of synthetic and biological DMARDs were recruited from the rheumatology outpatient clinic at Rigshospitalet, Denmark. New treatment was initiated after the FOI examination.

The data collection was approved by the regional ethics committee in Norway and Denmark and all patients signed informed consent.

#### 2.2. FOI examination

The Xiralite-system is the only FOI device available for clinical use in rheumatology. To perform the FOI scan, the patient receives an intravenous injection with a fluorescent dye (ICG pulsion, 0.1 mg/kg body weight) and have near-infrared light from light-emitting diodes projected down on the hands for 6 minutes. With a highly sensitive camera, 360 images (one/second) are produced, showing the flooding in, distribution and washing out of the dye. All images can be scrolled through after the examination, and a composite picture (Prima Vista Mode, PVM) from the 240 first images is automatically generated by the XiraView software. Patients with poor liver function (transaminases above twice the upper reference limit), untreated hyperthyroidism with fT4 above 21 pmol/L and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) below 40 mL/min, reduced kidney function with glomerular filtration rate below 40 mL/min, pregnancy and breast-feeding or known allergy to iodine or indocyanine did not undergo FOI examination [13].

#### 2.3. FOI scoring methods

A detailed description of the three scoring methods with an atlas and scoring sheets are available online (Supplementary file 1). In short, four images are assessed with the Berlin method; one composite picture (Prima Vista Mode, PVM) of the 240 first images (Fig. 1a) and three images representing phase 1, 2, and 3 based on the distribution and washing out of the fluorescent dye in relation to the fingertips. The readers registered which image in the sequence was defined as representative of the different phases.

The Stockholm method is evaluated in PVM of 240 and 120 images in a specific setting in the XiraView software ('temperature' palette setting, as opposed to the standard 'rainbow' palette setting), with additional scrolling through the image sequences to detect further joint enhancement. The 'temperature' palette setting is being applied as the developers of the scoring method have experienced that it might be easier to discern between enhanced and non-enhanced tissue with this setting (Fig. 1b).

Finally, the Copenhagen method assumes that inflamed tissues will demonstrate more rapid FOI enhancement than surrounding tissues. FOI enhancement is defined as the first sharply marginated enhancement over a joint area lasting  $\geq$ 3 seconds when scrolling through the 360 images (Fig. 1c). When peak enhancement was detected in a joint, the readers registered which of the 360 images they assessed, and did not proceed scrolling through the remaining image sequence [14,15].

According to the Berlin and Stockholm methods each joint was graded on 0–3 scales based on color intensity and width of enhancement, while only the width of the enhancement was assessed with the Copenhagen method. The 2nd-5th distal interphalangeal (DIP), 2nd-5th proximal interphalangeal (PIP), 1st interphalangeal (IP1), 1st-5th metacarpophalangeal (MCP), first carpometacarpal (CMC1) joint and wrist were evaluated, with small differences across methods. Sum scores were based on 30 (Copenhagen, excluding the CMC1), 32 (Berlin) and 34 (Stockholm, excluding the CMC1 and interpreting the wrist as 3 joints; ulnar, radial and middle) joints. A mean FOI score from the five readers was calculated for each joint to be used in comparison with MRI.

#### 2.4. Reliability exercise

We arranged a two-day meeting in Berlin (Germany) where all five readers (SO, DG, MA, YK, ØM) and other co-authors (IKH, MØ) participated. Two representatives from Xiralite GmbH offered technical assistance. The three FOI scoring methods were demonstrated and discussed. After the meeting, an FOI atlas was created with examples of grade 0-3 enhancement in all joint groups (except CMC1) for all methods. A calibration exercise was conducted via video conference where all participants scored one patient in consensus using the atlas. Subsequently, the reliability exercise of 26 patients was performed in which the readers were blinded for diagnosis, sex and age of the patients. Each reader scored all patients according to one by one scoring method with at least one week interval between each method and with rearrangement of the order of patients between each method. The readers started with different FOI scoring methods to avoid learning effects and better reliability favoring one method. Time spent on scoring each patient was noted to assess feasibility.

#### 2.5. MRI

Patients with erosive hand OA from the Nor-Hand cohort underwent 1.5T MRI (Siemens Aera, Germany) of the dominant hand approximately 2 weeks after the FOI was obtained (mean (SD) 14 (8) days). The fingers and thumb base joints were covered by a 16-channel hand/wrist-coil and unless contraindications an intravenous contrast (Dotarem 279.3 mg/mL, 0.2 mL/kg body weight) was given. A T1-weighted volumetric interpolated breath-hold examination (VIBE) was reconstructed into three planes with 2 mm thickness [13], of which the axial and sagittal planes were used for evaluation of synovitis.

The images were assessed by two physicians: one experienced reader (IKH) and a PhD-student trained for assessing synovitis in the hand joints (ØM). Both readers were blinded to the FOI results and all clinical data. Synovitis in the DIP, PIP (incl. IP-1) and MCP joints were assessed on a 0–3 scale according to the Hand OA MRI scoring system (HOAMRIS) [16]. The MCP joints were scored as the PIP joints. The two readers

Ø. Maugesten et al.



Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Open 1 (2020) 100017

Fig. 1. a: The Berlin method, Prima Vista Mode. RA patient with enhancement in left PIP3, MCP3 and IP1, and right IP1, PIP2 and PIP4. Grading is based on signal intensity and width of enhancement. b: The Stockholm method, Prima Vista Mode 240 in temperature palette setting. OA patient with enhancement in the DIP and PIP joints. Grading is based on signal intensity and width of enhancement. c: The Copenhagen method. RA patient with enhancement in right MCP2. Grading is based on the width of enhancement in the 3rd image. Enhancement in other joints can also be seen in this image. however only one joint is assessed at a time with the Copenhagen method. See atlas in supplemental file 1 for details on grading for all methods.

reviewed all joints with disagreement regarding absence/presence of synovitis or inter-reader difference of 2 or 3 grades. The final grade was decided by consensus and an experienced radiologist (KF) was consulted if needed. In joints with one grade difference (grade 1 vs grade 2 and grade 2 vs grade 3), we used the lowest value. Tenosynovitis was assessed by one reader (ØM) according to the Oslo hand OA MRI scoring system (OHOA-MRI) [17], and consulted with KF and IKH in cases of uncertainties.

#### 2.6. Statistics

The average sum scores of FOI enhancement for all five readers in all methods were calculated for different joint groups and for all joints together and compared in erosive hand OA vs. RA using the Mann-Whitney U-test. The CMC1 was assessed by the Berlin method only and demonstrated no enhancement. Hence, we excluded CMC1 from all analyses. The IP1 was defined as a PIP joint in all analyses. To evaluate inter-reader reliability of sum scores, we calculated the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC, two-way mixed-effects model, absolute agreement, average of 10 reader pairs(range)). On joint level, we calculated linear weighted kappa values and prevalence and bias adjusted kappa values for ordinal scale (Pabak-OS) for pair of readers (ten pairs) and calculated mean kappa values across the four joint groups (DIP, PIP, MCP, wrist) and for all joint groups together. We assessed the percent exact agreement (PEA) and percent close agreement (PCA) with a maximum difference of one grade across the five readers. To compare FOI and MRI we calculated agreement rates for all joints together and in DIP, PIP, and MCP joints separately. The sensitivity, specificity, negative predictive and positive predictive values were calculated for FOI using MRI-defined synovitis as the reference. MRI-defined tenosynovitis was not included in the analysis due to low prevalence. For each of the three Berlin phases and the Copenhagen method we identified the images with the lowest and highest sequence number among the 5 readers. The average difference between maximum and minimum image per patient (Berlin) and per enhanced joint (Copenhagen) was then calculated for all 26 patients.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Demographic and clinical characteristics

Demographic and clinical characteristics for common variables in both studies are presented in Table 1. All patients with erosive hand OA fulfilled the American College of Rheumatology criteria for hand OA and they had substantial radiographic hand OA with mean (SD) Kellgren-Lawrence sum score of 45.3 (9) (range 0–128). All RA patients fulfilled the ACR/EULAR 2010-criteria, 69% of the patients were diagnosed within the last 2 years and had high disease activity with mean (SD) disease activity score 28 (DAS28) of 5.3 (0.7) and median (IQR) number

Table	1		

Demographic and clinical characteristics.

	Erosive hand osteoarthritis $(n = 13)$	Rheumatoid arthritis (n = 13)
Age, mean (SD)	62 (6)	50 (12)
Sex, n (%) female	12 (92)	12 (92)
Body mass index, mean (SD) kg/m <sup>2</sup>	25 (4)	n/a
NRS (0-10)/VAS (0-100) hand pain, median (IQR)	2 (1, 3)	60 (40, 72)
C-reactive protein, median (IQR) mg/l	3 (1, 4)	10 (7, 36)

OA (Osteoarthritis), RA (rheumatoid arthritis), NRS (Numeric Rating Scale), VAS (Visual Analogue Scale).

of 7 (5,9) swollen and 8 (6,10) tender joints. Six of the patients initiated or switched synthetic DMARD and seven patients added biological DMARD to current synthetic DMARD treatment. Three patients were DMARD naïve.

#### 3.2. Reading of the FOI image sequence

For the Berlin method, the difference between the highest and lowest chosen image across the five readers was smallest for phase 1 with a median (IQR) of 10 (5, 22) images for the 26 patients. The difference was large for phase 2 with median (IQR) of 83 (66, 105) images and phase 3 with median (IQR) of 92 (62, 124) images. For the Copenhagen method the readers differed with median (IQR) 6 (3,10) to 10 (5,21) images for different joint groups.

The median (IQR) reading time per patient was shorter for the Copenhagen method (12 (11,14) minutes) than for the Stockholm (15 (14,17) minutes) and Berlin (17 (16,18) minutes) methods. In total the 5 readers scored 4368 joints with the Stockholm method (n = 52 missing), 3860 joints with the Copenhagen method (n = 40 missing) and for Berlin Phase 1–3 and PVM 4091 to 4123 joints (n = 37–69 missing).

### 3.3. Comparison of FOI-enhancement between erosive hand OA and RA patients

Comparing the two diseases we found numerically more FOI enhancement in the DIP and PIP joints in the hand OA patients, while the RA patients demonstrated more FOI enhancement in the MCP joints. Statistical significance was not reached for all methods (Table 2). No consistent differences were observed in the wrists for erosive hand OA and RA patients. The erosive hand OA patients demonstrated more enhancement in the hands than the RA patients by the Berlin PVM (p < 0.001), Berlin Phase 2 (p = 0.12) and Stockholm method (p = 0.03).

#### Table 4

Inter-reader reliability for all joints, presented	l as mean values c	of weighted	kappa
and Pabak OS across ten reader pairs and PE	A and PCA for 5	readers.	

	Mean Pabak OS	Mean W. kappa	PEA	PCA
Berlin PVM	0.78	0.51	52	92
Berlin Phase 1	0.69	0.44	50	74
Berlin Phase 2	0.50	0.44	21	61
Berlin Phase 3	0.62	0.37	29	77
Stockholm	0.63	0.40	33	66
Copenhagen	0.56	0.39	38	74

Pabak OS (Prevalence and Bias adjusted kappa values for ordinal scales), W. kappa (Weighted kappa), PCA (Percent close agreement), PEA (Percent exact agreement).

#### 3.4. Inter-reader agreement of FOI

The ICC values were very good for the Berlin PVM while the Stockholm method and Berlin Phase 2 and 3 demonstrated good reliability (Table 3). On joint level the percent close agreement was good across all methods for all five readers (in all joint groups; Table 4). The readers had the highest percent exact agreement for Berlin PVM, and had highest agreement in the MCP joints (see supplement table 1).

Mean weighted kappa values for the ten reader pairs across all joint groups were moderate for Berlin PVM, Phase 1 and Phase 2, and fair for Stockholm, Copenhagen and Berlin phase 3. Using the Pabak-OS, we found clearly improved kappa values across all methods with moderate to good reliability (Table 4). We found moderate to very good agreement on joint level between two readers from the same center for all methods, while in Berlin phase 1 one of the five readers differed substantially from the rest, and if removing this reader from the analysis we found an ICC (min., max.) of 0.75 (0.49, 0.96). Similar reliability was found for erosive hand OA and RA except for Berlin Phase 1 where both ICC and Kappa values were stronger for RA vs. erosive hand OA (data not shown).

Table 2

Comparison of sum scores	(IOR)	for 5 readers a	cross different	joint g	groups in e	rosive haı	nd OA	patients vs	RA	patients
					/ /					

1		5	0 1	1		1			
Method	Diagnosis	DIP	Р	PIP	Р	MCP	Р	Wrist	Р
Berlin PVM	Erosive hand OA	4.8 (2.8, 7.6)	0.01	12.6 (11.2, 13.6)	< 0.001	1.4 (0.6, 2.2)	0.41	0.4 (0.0, 1.4)	0.51
	RA	1.0 (0.2, 2.8)		6.0 (3.8, 9.0)		2.0 (1.0, 3.6)		0.2 (0.0, 0.8)	
Berlin Phase 1	Erosive hand OA	3.0 (2.4, 4.2)	< 0.001	4.0 (3.0, 6.2)	0.57	0.8 (0.4, 1.0)	0.23	0.0 (0.0, 0.2)	0.28
	RA	1.4 (0.6, 2.0)		3.6 (2.4, 5.6)		2.2 (0.6, 5.0)		0.4 (0.0, 1.8)	
Berlin Phase 2	Erosive hand OA	10.2 (8.6, 11.6)	0.01	20.0 (18.8, 23.8)	0.23	6.6 (4.4, 8.8)	0.47	3.6 (2.4, 4.4)	0.01
	RA	6.4 (5.6, 6.8)		15.0 (11.6, 22.2)		10.0 (5.0, 10.8)		1.8 (0.8, 2.4)	
Berlin Phase 3	Erosive hand OA	2.6 (1.4, 2.8)	0.59	8.4 (6.4, 12.6)	0.94	2.6 (1.6, 4.0)	0.39	1.6 (0.6, 2.2)	0.03
	RA	1.2 (0.6, 3.4)		7.8 (5.4, 12.2)		3.2 (2.6, 6.8)		0.4 (0.4, 1.4)	
Stockholm	Erosive hand OA	6.4 (5.4, 9.8)	< 0.001	15.2 (12.8, 17.6)	0.01	1.2 (0.8, 2.4)	0.03	1.0 (0.4, 4.2)	0.80
	RA	1.6 (0.8, 3.4)		9.4 (6.6, 12.6)		3.8 (2.2, 7.0)		1.2 (0.4, 2.4)	
Copenhagen	Erosive hand OA	4.4 (3.4, 6.4)	< 0.001	10.0 (7.2, 11.0)	0.68	2.6 (1.0, 4.8)	0.11	1.2 (0.8, 1.6)	0.12
	RA	1.8 (1.0, 2.6)		7.6 (4.4, 11.4)		5.0 (2.8, 10.4)		1.8 (1.0, 3.0)	

IQR (Inter-quartile range), DIP (distal interphalangeal joint), PIP (proximal interphalangeal joint), MCP (metacarpophalangeal joint), PVM (Prima Vista Mode), RA (Rheumatoid Arhtiritis), OA (Osteoarthritis).

#### Table 3

Inter-reader reliability for sum scores in different joint groups. Average ICC values with range of minimum and maximum score for ten reader pairs.

	All joints ICC (min., max.)	DIP ICC (min., max.)	PIP ICC (min., max.)	MCP ICC (min., max.)	Wrist ICC (min., max.)
Berlin PVM	0.85 (0.75, 0.97)	0.73 (0.41, 0.95)	0.88 (0.79, 0.97)	0.71 (0.47, 0.96)	0.66 (0.46, 0.92)
Berlin Phase 1	0.43 (-0.17, 0.96)	0.24 (-0.08, 0.67)	0.32 (-0.11, 0.85)	0.79 (0.48, 0.99)	0.79 (0.68, 0.99)
Berlin Phase 2	0.70 (0.32, 0.98)	0.75 (0.56, 0.94)	0.72 (0.36, 0.98)	0.57 (0.08, 0.95)	0.80 (0.69, 0.93)
Berlin Phase 3	0.61 (0.25, 0.89)	0.63 (0.29, 0.83)	0.65 (0.35, 0.92)	0.55 (0.17, 0.95)	0.71 (0.55, 0.90)
Copenhagen	0.46 (0.09, 0.92)	0.64 (0.43, 0.90)	0.42 (-0.06, 0.90)	0.76 (0.52, 0.93)	0.60 (0.35, 0.86)
Stockholm	0.65 (0.44, 0.84)	0.73 (0.59, 0.88)	0.77 (0.69, 0.86)	0.76 (0.53, 0.90)	0.51 (0.10, 0.80)

ICC (intraclass correlation coefficient), DIP (distal interphalangeal joint), PIP (proximal interphalangeal joint), MCP (metacarpophalangeal joint), PVM (Prima Vista Mode).

#### Table 5

0	,			<b>j</b>	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	0		, , , , , , , ,
	FOI+/MRI+ <sup>a</sup>	FOI-/MRI- <sup>b</sup>	Sens.	Spes.	PPV	NPV	PEA	Pabak
Berlin PVM	83/128	49/54	65	91	94	52	73	0.45
Berlin Phase 1	45/128	49/54	35	91	90	37	52	0.03
Berlin Phase 2	117/128	20/54	91	37	78	65	75	0.51
Berlin Phase 3	65/128	40/54	51	74	82	39	58	0.15
Copenhagen	81/128	41/54	63	76	86	47	67	0.34
Stockholm	87/128	46/54	68	85	02	53	73	0.46

The agreement, sensitivity, specificity and predictive values of FOI enhancement in all joints in erosive hand OA patients using MRI as reference (182 joints).

FOI (Fluorescence Optical Imaging), MRI (Magnetic Resonance Imaging), PPV (Positive Predictive Value), NPV (Negative Predictive Value), PEA (Percent Exact Agreement), Pabak (Prevalence and Bias Adjusted Kappa values), PVM (Prima Vista Mode).

<sup>a</sup> Joints with FOI enhancement in joints with MRI synovitis.

<sup>b</sup> Joints without FOI enhancement in joints without MRI synovitis.

#### 3.5. Agreement between MRI and FOI in erosive hand OA patients

A total of 182 joints (13 patients, 14 joints per patient) were assessed with MRI, with no joints missing. The 13 erosive hand OA patients had substantial MRI-defined synovitis in the finger joints (DIP, PIP and MCP) with median (IQR) HOAMRIS sum score of 14 (13,15). There were only 4/ 107 DIP and PIP joints with no MRI-defined synovitis. Only one patient showed mild to moderate tenosynovitis in the MCP joints, thus tenosynovitis was not included in the analyses. We found the highest specificities for the Berlin PVM and Phase 1 and the Stockholm method, while Berlin Phase 2 had the highest sensitivity with a corresponding low specificity (Table 5). Among the different joint groups, the highest specificities and sensitivities were found in the PIP joints (supplement table 2).

MRI defined synovitis was present in 45/94 joints without FOI enhancement of which the majority (30 joints) was grade 1. When looking at agreement between MRI defined synovitis grade 2 and 3 vs. FOI grade 2 and 3 we found slightly improved specificity for all methods with corresponding lowering of the sensitivity (data not shown).

#### 4. Discussion

No previous studies have evaluated the reliability and validity of different FOI scoring methods in patients with erosive hand OA and RA. In this study we found moderate to very good inter-reader reliability on patient level for all methods and moderate to good agreement on joint level for all three methods. Our findings of best agreement between two readers from the same center underlines the importance of calibration before scoring.  $The \,Berlin\,PVM\,showed\,consistently\,the\,strongest\,inter-reader\,reliability\,on$ both patient and joint level for all joints summarised. PVM assesses a predefined composite picture generated by the XiraView software, as opposed to the Berlin phases 1, 2, and 3 and the Copenhagen method, where the reader selects which of the 360 images to be scored according to pre-defined criteria. We found good reliability for both Berlin phases 2 and 3, even if readers differed substantially on which image they scored. On the other hand, the Copenhagen method had slightly lower agreement rates on joint and patient-level, even if the readers differed with 6-10 images only, depending on joint group. Thus, the lower reliability for the Copenhagen method and the Berlin phase 1 may be due to rapid changes in enhancement shortly after the injection of ICG. Hence, small changes in the image selection may have a large impact on the result early in the image sequence. The discrepancy between readers with regards to image selection could be explained by the readers' interpretation of the definition of phase 1, 2, and 3 in the Berlin method or "sharply marginated enhancement" as described in the Copenhagen method.

We found different FOI enhancement patterns in erosive hand OA vs. RA patients with more enhancement in the DIP joints in the OA patients across all methods, in line with a previous study by Glimm et al. [12]. We also found FOI enhancement in the DIP joints of the RA patients. While this could be due to concomitant hand OA in these patients, we do not have radiographs to verify this finding. As expected we found more enhancement in the MCP joints in the RA patients, although the difference reached statistical significance for the Stockholm method only. Phase 1 has previously been suggested to represent active inflammation [10], however we did not find significantly more enhancement in RA patients than in erosive hand OA patients in this phase. For both the Berlin PVM and the Stockholm method the erosive hand OA patients had significantly more enhancement in their hands than the RA patients, highlighting the extensive inflammatory burden in those patients. In line with these findings the erosive hand OA patients also demonstrated high levels of inflammation in finger joints on MRI. The RA patients were highly symptomatic, however we did not obtain MRI images of these patients and it is uncertain whether they had high degree of synovitis in finger and wrist-joints. DMARD treatment in 10 out of 13 of the RA patients may have lowered the inflammation in these patients, making the difference between diseases less pronounced.

This is the first study to compare FOI to MRI in erosive hand OA patients. In two previous studies on patients with undifferentiated arthritis, Werner et al. found slightly lower sensitivities (51-59%) and comparable specificities (81-87%) of FOI using the Berlin method in comparison to MRI [10,11]. More recently Hirano et al. found higher specificities and sensitivities for all 3 phases and PVM, however only 6 RA patients were examined and a limited number of joints (wrist and MCP 2-4) was included in the analysis [9]. Our findings of low sensitivity of FOI might be due to the high prevalence of MRI-defined synovitis grade 1 in our patients. The majority of joints with inflammation by one method only (i.e. FOI enhancement or MRI-defined synovitis only), demonstrated mild degree of pathology, which may be difficult to distinguish from normal findings and may not represent pathology [18,19]. Secondly, as suggested by Werner et al., the low sensitivity of FOI compared to MRI might be due to FOI demonstrating other aspects (e.g. tenosynovitis) of the inflamed joint than synovitis [10]. FOI enhancement has corresponded to histological synovitis in animal models with induced arthritis [20], however similar studies have not been performed in humans. Nevertheless, presence of FOI enhancement represents inflammation in most cases, as demonstrated by our findings of high positive predictive values across all methods. Negative predictive values were low to moderate across all methods, suggesting that a lack of enhancement cannot exclude synovitis.

The Copenhagen method was the fastest scoring method. However, in this exercise the readers had to report which image frame they scored for each enhanced joint and in patients with much activity this added several minutes to the final scoring time compared to regular scoring with the Copenhagen method [14,15]. For the Berlin method the readers reported which image they defined as phase 1, 2, and 3 which also added extra time to the total, whereas no additional information was reported for the Stockholm method. Nevertheless, our results indicate that all three methods are feasible with scoring times ranging from 12 to 17 minutes.

There are several limitations to this study. We had MRIs from the erosive hand OA patients (n = 13) only. These patients had moderate to high level of inflammation with very few joints with no synovitis, making analysis on sensitivity and specificity difficult to interpret. Thus, a larger sample and more variety of MRI findings is needed in order to explore FOIs validity in hand OA. Secondly, we only assessed one patient per scoring method in the calibration exercise and we could possibly have reached higher reliability if

a larger number of patients had been scored by consensus before the reliability exercise. Third, intra-observer agreement was not included in the reliability exercise due to feasibility reasons. Finally, our findings cannot be generalised to the general hand OA population as we only included patients with erosive hand OA who had been referred to specialist health care. The FOI technology also has its limitations [6,11,21], with 2D-images only and no available device for combining radiographic and optical images. Near infrared light also has limited tissue penetration, and from our findings the frequently inflamed CMC-1 joint was not possible to visualise with the FOI device. Finally, several precautions must be taken before performing the FOI exam, as dry skin, wounds, tattoos, nail polish, cold fingers, excessive use of the hands before the examination and ambient light in the room might influence the final result on FOI.

In conclusion, FOI enhancement can be measured reliably in erosive hand OA and RA using three different scoring methods and from our findings the Berlin PVM was the most reliable method. Numerically more DIP and PIP enhancement in erosive hand OA patients, more MCP enhancement in RA patients and good agreement with MRI support the diagnostic performance of FOI. Future larger studies are needed to confirm these findings.

#### Role of the funding source

The Nor-Hand study was supported by funds from the Southern and Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, the Pahles Foundation, the Simon Fougner Hartmanns Family Foundation, and the Trygve Gythfeldt Research Foundation. The ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation through EXTRA funds has financed the PhD position of ØM.

#### Author contributions

ØM: Study design, data collection, analyzing the data, interpretation of results, drafting the work and final approval of the paper. IKH: Study design, analyzing the data, interpretation of results, drafting the work and final approval of the paper. SO, MA, DG, YK: Study design, data collection, interpretation of results, revising the work critically and final approval of the paper. LT, TKK, TU, MØ: Study design, interpretation of results, revising the work critically and final approval of the paper.

#### **Conflicts of interest**

No relevant disclosures.

#### Role of xiralite GmbH

The meeting before the reliability exercise was held in the Xiralite GmbH offices in Berlin. Xiralite GmbH has not contributed to the study design, collection or interpretation of the data, the writing of the manuscript or the decision to publish the data. None of the participants have received funding from Xiralite GmbH.

#### Acknowledgments

Karwan Faraj (KF) at the department of radiology at Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Oslo, Norway for kindly providing guidance with MRI assessment, statisticians Joe Sexton and Øivind Skare at Diakonhjemmet hospital for assistance with the statistical analyses and Jörn Berger and Matthias Cziumplik from Xiralite GmbH for contributing with technical assistance at the reliability meeting in Berlin.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocarto.2019.100017.

#### References

- A. Mathiessen, B. Slatkowsky-Christensen, T.K. Kvien, H.B. Hammer, I.K. Haugen, Ultrasound-detected inflammation predicts radiographic progression in hand osteoarthritis after 5 years, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 75 (5) (2016 May) 825–830.
- [2] I.K. Haugen, B. Slatkowsky Christensen, P. Boyesen, S. Sesseng, D. van der Heijde, T.K. Kvien, Increasing synovitis and bone marrow lesions are associated with incident joint tenderness in hand osteoarthritis, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 75 (4) (2016 Apr) 702–708.
- [3] I.K. Haugen, B. Slatkowsky-Christensen, P. Boyesen, S. Sesseng, D. van der Heijde, T.K. Kvien, MRI findings predict radiographic progression and development of erosions in hand osteoarthritis, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 75 (1) (2016 Jan) 117–123.
- [4] T. Fischer, B. Ebert, J. Voigt, R. Macdonald, U. Schneider, A. Thomas, et al., Detection of rheumatoid arthritis using non-specific contrast enhanced fluorescence imaging, Acad. Radiol. 17 (3) (2010 Mar) 375–381.
- [5] R. Meier, K. Thurmel, P. Moog, P.B. Noel, C. Ahari, M. Sievert, et al., Detection of synovitis in the hands of patients with rheumatologic disorders: diagnostic performance of optical imaging in comparison with magnetic resonance imaging, Arthritis Rheum. 64 (8) (2012 Aug) 2489–2498.
- [6] M.C. Beck, A.M. Glimm, S. Ohrndorf, K. Minden, R. Trauzeddel, S.G. Werner, et al., Fluorescence optical imaging in pediatric patients with inflammatory and noninflammatory joint diseases: a comparative study with ultrasonography, Arthritis Res. Ther. 19 (1) (2017 Oct 17) 233.
- [7] Y. Kisten, N. Gyori, E. Af Klint, H. Rezaei, A. Levitsky, A. Karlsson, et al., Detection of clinically manifest and silent synovitis in the hands and wrists by fluorescence optical imaging, RMD Open 1 (1) (2015) e000106.
- [8] M. Krohn, S. Ohrndorf, S.G. Werner, B. Schicke, G.R. Burmester, B. Hamm, et al., Near-infrared fluorescence optical imaging in early rheumatoid arthritis: a comparison to magnetic resonance imaging and ultrasonography, J. Rheumatol. 42 (7) (2015 Jul) 1112–1118.
- [9] F. Hirano, W. Yokoyama-Kokuryo, H. Yamazaki, M. Tsutsumino, R. Sakai, S. Satoh, et al., Comparison of fluorescence optical imaging, ultrasonography and clinical examination with magnetic resonance imaging as a reference in active rheumatoid arthritis patients, Immunol. Med. 41 (2) (2018 Jun) 75–81.
  [10] S.G. Werner, H.E. Langer, S. Ohrndorf, M. Bahner, P. Schott, C. Schwenke, et al.,
- [10] S.G. Werner, H.E. Langer, S. Ohrndorf, M. Bahner, P. Schott, C. Schwenke, et al., Inflammation assessment in patients with arthritis using a novel in vivo fluorescence optical imaging technology, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 71 (4) (2012 Apr) 504–510.
- [11] S.G. Werner, H.E. Langer, P. Schott, M. Bahner, C. Schwenke, G. Lind-Albrecht, et al., Indocyanine green-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging in patients with early and very early arthritis: a comparative study with magnetic resonance imaging, Arthritis Rheum. 65 (12) (2013 Dec) 3036–3044.
- [12] A.M. Glimm, S.G. Werner, G.R. Burmester, M. Backhaus, S. Ohrndorf, Analysis of distribution and severity of inflammation in patients with osteoarthitis compared to rheumatoid arthritis by ICG-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging and musculoskeletal ultrasound: a pilot study, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 75 (3) (2016 Mar) 566–570.
- [13] M. Gloersen, E. Mulrooney, A. Mathiessen, H.B. Hammer, B. Slatkowsky-Christensen, K. Faraj, et al., A hospital-based observational cohort study exploring pain and biomarkers in patients with hand osteoarthritis in Norway: the Nor-Hand protocol, BMJ Open 7 (9) (2017 Sep 24) e016938.
- [14] M.A. Danielsen, D.E. Malm, L. Terslev, M. Østergaard, Novel fluorescence optical imaging scoring system of inflammation in the hand and wrist in patients with rheumatoid arthritis-agreement with ultrasonography and sensitivity to change (Abstract), Arthritis Rheumatol. 70 (S9) (2018).
- [15] M.A. Danielsen, M. Østergaard, L. Terslev, S. Ohrndorf, D.E. Malm, Development and validation of a fluorescence optical imaging rheumatoid arthritis scoring system for synovitis in the wrist and hand (Abstract), Arthritis Rheumatol. 69 (S10) (2017).
- [16] I.K. Haugen, I. Eshed, F. Gandjbakhch, V. Foltz, M. Ostergaard, P. Boyesen, et al., The longitudinal reliability and responsiveness of the OMERACT hand osteoarthritis magnetic resonance imaging scoring system (HOAMRIS), J. Rheumatol. 42 (12) (2015 Dec) 2486–2491.
- [17] I.K. Haugen, S. Lillegraven, B. Slatkowsky-Christensen, E.A. Haavardsholm, S. Sesseng, T.K. Kvien, et al., Hand osteoarthritis and MRI: development and first validation step of the proposed Oslo Hand Osteoarthritis MRI score, Ann. Rheum. Dis. 70 (6) (2011 Jun) 1033–1038.
- [18] B. Ejbjerg, E. Narvestad, E. Rostrup, M. Szkudlarek, S. Jacobsen, H.S. Thomsen, et al., Magnetic resonance imaging of wrist and finger joints in healthy subjects occasionally shows changes resembling erosions and synovitis as seen in rheumatoid arthritis, Arthritis Rheum. 50 (4) (2004 Apr) 1097–1106.
- [19] L. Mangnus, H.W. van Steenbergen, M. Reijnierse, A.H. van der Helm-van Mil, Magnetic resonance imaging-detected features of inflammation and erosions in symptom-free persons from the general population, Arthritis Rheumatol. 68 (11) (2016 Nov) 2593–2602.
- [20] R. Meier, C. Krug, D. Golovko, S. Boddington, G. Piontek, M. Rudelius, et al., Indocyanine green-enhanced imaging of antigen-induced arthritis with an integrated optical imaging/radiography system, Arthritis Rheum. 62 (8) (2010 Aug) 2322–2327.
- [21] M.A. D'Agostino, E.A. Haavardsholm, C.J. van der Laken, Diagnosis and management of rheumatoid arthritis; what is the current role of established and new imaging techniques in clinical practice? Best Pract. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 30 (4) (2016 Aug) 586–607.
- [22] M. Ostergaard, S. Moller-Bisgaard, Is imaging needed to define remission in rheumatoid arthritis? Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 10 (6) (2014) 326–328, https:// doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2014.63.

Supplement table 1: Inter-reader reliability for different joint groups, presented as mean values of weighted kappa and Pabak OS across ten reader pairs and PEA and PCA for 5 readers.

		DIF				PIF				MC	Ь			Wris	st	
	Mean	Mean			Mean	Mean			Mean	Mean			Mean	Mean		
	Pabak	W.			Pabak	W.			Pabak	W.			Pabak	W.		
	OS	kappa	PEA	PCA												
<b>Berlin PVM</b>	0.74	0.47	49	86	0.72	0.58	40	89	0.84	0.53	60	98	0.79	0.45	50	94
Berlin Phase 1	0.69	0.26	40	68	0.56	0.30	32	61	0.83	0.60	67	88	0.81	0.61	67	83
Berlin Phase 2	0.56	0.43	17	76	0.58	0.51	21	69	0.38	0.37	15	43	0.51	0.45	17	65
Berlin Phase 3	0.77	0.36	44	98	0.57	0.40	14	71	0.56	0.30	20	65	0.62	0.40	25	87
Stockholm	0.61	0.41	39	77	0.47	0.39	20	74	0.74	0.45	53	87	0.71	0.34	62	83
Copenhagen	0.65	0.39	50	82	0.35	0.30	14	53	0.70	0.52	50	81	0.48	0.36	27	79

Pabak OS (Prevalence and Bias adjusted kappa values for ordinal scales), W. kappa (Weighted kappa), PCA (Percent close agreement), PEA

(Percent exact agreement).

			D	IP (52 jo	oints)			
	FOI-/ MRI-*	FOI+/ MRI+**	Sens.	Spes.	PPV	NPV	PEA	Pabak
Berlin PVM	2/3	27/49	55	67	96	8	56	0.12
Berlin Phase 1	2/3	21/49	43	67	95	7	44	-0.12
Berlin Phase 2	0/3	44/49	90	0	94	0	85	0.70
Berlin Phase 3	3/3	17/49	35	100	100	9	38	-0.23
Copenhagen	3/3	28/49	57	100	100	13	60	0.19
Stockholm	1/3	30/49	61	33	94	5	60	0.19
			Р	IP (65 jo	oints)			
	FOI-/ MRI-*	FOI+/ MRI+**	Sens.	Spes.	PPV	NPV	PEA	Pabak
Berlin PVM	1/1	54/64	84	100	100	9	85	0.69
Berlin Phase 1	0/1	23/64	36	0	96	0	35	-0.29
Berlin Phase 2	0/1	62/64	97	0	98	0	95	0.91
Berlin Phase 3	0/1	45/64	70	0	98	0	69	0.38
Copenhagen	0/1	49/64	77	0	98	0	75	0.51
Stockholm	1/1	55/64	86	100	100	10	86	0.72
			Μ	СР (65 ј	oints)			
	FOI-/ MRI-*	FOI+/ MRI+**	Sens.	Spes.	PPV	NPV	PEA	Pabak
Berlin PVM	46/50	2/15	13	92	33	78	74	0.48
Berlin Phase 1	47/50	1/15	7	94	25	77	74	0.48
Berlin Phase 2	20/50	11/15	73	40	27	83	48	-0.05
Berlin Phase 3	37/50	3/15	20	74	19	76	62	0.23
Copenhagen	38/50	4/15	27	76	25	78	65	0.29
Stockholm	44/50	2/15	13	88	25	77	71	0.42

Supplement table 2: The agreement, sensitivity, specificity and predictive values of FOI enhancement in different joint groups in hand OA patients using MRI as reference

\* Joints without FOI enhancement in joints without MRI synovitis.

\*\* Joints with FOI enhancement in joints with MRI synovitis

FOI (Fluorescence Optical Imaging), MRI (Magnetic Resonance Imaging), PPV (Positive

Predicitive Value), NPV (Negative Predictive Value), PEA (Percent Exact Agreement), Pabak

(Prevalence and Bias Adjusted Kappa values), PVM (Prima Vista Mode).

Supplement file 1: "Evaluation of three scoring methods for fluorescence optical imaging in erosive hand osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis"

Fluorescence Optical Imaging Atlas

Reliability exercise, 2018



Image contribution: Berlin method, description + images: S. Ohrndorf, Copenhagen method, description + images: M. Ammitzbøll-Danielsen & D. Glinatsi, Stockholm method, description + images: Y. Kisten, DIP images in Berlin + Copenhagen: Ø. Maugesten

## Outline

- Berlin method Description, scoring sheet, examples.
- Copenhagen method Description, scoring sheet, examples.
- Stockholm method Description, scoring sheet, examples.

Berlin method Berlin Method - Description: 3 Phases & PVM For the image sequence, **3** phases in position to the fingertips are defined regarding development of signal intensities depending on the phase of fluorescence dye flooding and individual perfusion: Phase 1 includes the period between starting the investigation, application of the dye and increased signal intensities in the fingertips; the last image before the dye leaves the fingertips (in yellow or in red or in white not in green) from distal to proximal in wrist direction is used for the scoring Phase 2 begins when the dye leaves the fingertips from distal to proximal in wrist direction and stops when only red colour in the fingertips is visible; the first image with red colour in the fingertips (no white is seen anymore) is used for the scoring Phase 3 begins when only yellow dots or no signal intensity can be seen in the fingertips; the first image without red dots in the fingertips is used for the scoring PVM: Prima Vista Mode. Composite picture of the 240 first FOI images. Adapted from Glimm AM, Werner SG, Burmester GR, Backhaus M, Ohrndorf S. Analysis of distribution and severity of inflammation in patients with osteoarthitis compared to rheumatoid arthritis by ICG-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging and musculoskeletal ultrasound: a pilot study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016 Mar;75(3):566-70. Supplement. Werner S.G., Langer H.E., Schott P., Bahner M., Schwenke C., Lind-Albrecht G., Indocyanine green-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging in patients with early and very early arthritis: a comparative study with magnetic resonance imaging Arthritis Rheum. 2013 Dec 3036-3044

Berlin method

Copenhagen method

Stockholm method

## Scoring of joint enhancement:

The enhancement in projection on the joint area is evaluated on the basis of the intensity of the affected joint area (reflected by its colour) as well as on the size of the enhanced joint area. On this account, the semiguantitative grading system 'fluorescence optical imaging activity score (FOIAS)' is used as follows:

Grade 0=no signal enhancement,

**Grade 1**=enhancement varies from yellow to red and can reach red with yellow spots, red covers ≤50% of the enhanced/affected joint area,

**Grade 2**=the signal intensity shows strong red colour intensity and can also include white signals, white covers ≤50% of the enhanced/affected joint area,

Grade 3=the signal intensity shows white colour intensity, white covers >50% of the enhanced/affected joint area1

When scoring the images, please give points for colour (colour more important than area) and affected joint area (from 0-3 each), and then let the lowest number decide the total grade per joint.

Adapted from

Glimm AM, Werner SG, Burmester GR, Backhaus M, Ohrndorf S. Analysis of distribution and severity of inflammation in patients with osteoarthitis compared to rheumatoid arthritis by ICG-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging and musculoskeletal ultrasound: a pliot study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016 Mar;75(3):566-70. Supplement. Werner S.G., Langer H.E., Schott P, Bahner M., Schwenke C., Lind-Albrecht G., Indocyanine green-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging in patients with early and very early arthritis: a comparative study with magnetic resonance imaging Arthritis Rheum. 2013 Dec 3036-3044

Berlir	n method		Co	penhagen	method	$\rightarrow$	Stock	nolm meth	nod
Berl	in M	etho	d; Sco	oring	shee	et			
		PVM left	PVM right	Phase 1 left	Phase 1 right	Phase 2 left	Phase 2 right	Phase 3 left	Phase 3 right
wrist	1								
CMC 1	2								
MCP I	3								
MCP II	4								
MCP III	5								
MCP IV	6								
MCP V	7								
IP	8								
PIP II	9								
PIP III	10								
PIP IV	11								
PIP V	12								
DIP II	13								
DIP III	14								
DIP IV	15								
DIP V	16								
Image N	o. (sec.)	not needed	not needed						
To	tal								
Sums	core								
Duration of	of scoring:								

































Berlin method	Copenhagen method	Stockholm method
Copenhagen FO	I scoring system /	FOIE-GRAS
<ul> <li>Rationale</li> <li>The Fluorescence Optica Score (FOIE-GRAS) for in tissues would demonstra healthy tissues.</li> </ul>	l Imaging Enhancement-Gen flammation is based on the a ate a more rapid enhanceme	erated Rheumatoid Arthritis Issumption that inflamed nt than the surrounding
<ul> <li>Assessment</li> <li>The wrist, 1<sup>st</sup>-5<sup>th</sup> MCP joi DIP joints may also be in assessed sequentially fro enhancement. At the pe "refresh") in order to inc</li> <li>Definition of inflammat</li> </ul>	nts, 1 <sup>st</sup> IP joint and 2 <sup>nd</sup> -5 <sup>th</sup> PIF cluded in the assessment. Fo om start of the injection of IC ak enhancement, the color ir crease the discrepancy betwe ion	P joints are assessed, but the or each joint, the images are G-pulsion to peak ndex is adjusted (by pressing een colors.
<ul> <li>Inflammation is defined delineation from surrous seconds.</li> </ul>	as a sharply marginated enhand in the second s	ancement with clear tomical location lasting ≥3


































Berlin method		Copenhagen method	Stockholm method
Stockholm metho	od - Des	scription	
For the sumere of this study we in			athed of avaluation, that is carried out huvidual
inspections of the composite image	in Prima Vista N	Mode (PVM) 240 and PVM 120 on '1	femperature' palette settings.
The rationale for using 'temperatur improved distinction of adjacent stru- increased axial and lateral resolution 'bony' outlines, which may appear n	e' settings is du uctures with int n in this format nore clearly def	ue to improved image contrast. The tensity values outside the scaling rar may allow further differentiation be fined in 'temperature' display.	binary shaded 'temperature' colored pixels allow nee for the smallest and largest intensities. The tween vessels and adjacent tissues, to include
For those joints that are FOI positiv tissue covering the joint width (<1/3 Copenhagen proposed joint evaluati	<b>e</b> , the strength <sup>rd</sup> covered; or ≥ on) are docume	of signal intensity (weak, moderate ≥1/3 <sup>rg</sup> , but <2/3 <sup>rg</sup> of joint covered; c ented in the score sheet below.	or strong) as well as the proportions of enhanced or $\geq 2/3^{\rm vd}$ of the joint covered, according to
Unsure/uncertain joints that contai through these ambiguous joint enha time to clarify uncertainties. Digital/ FOI examinations, but will not be inc	<b>n ambiguous si</b> incements (such Disease Activity cluded in this pa	<b>ignal intensities</b> should be 'flagged', h as distinguishing between normal y (DACT) automated quantitative sco art of the study.	and also evaluated in PVM 120. A quick scroll and abnormal vessel intensities) is done in real- ores are also recorded numerically for Stockholm
Abnormally increased focal optical high perfusion and/or capillary leak leakage, appear as narrow, tubular,	signal intensitie age, are regard well marginate	es/enhancements that are seen glo ded as FOI positive for the joint eva ed structural intensities, and should	wing within the joint tissue boundaries in areas of luated. Normal vessel enhancements without I be recorded if located over regions of interest.
Technicalities :			
<ul> <li>Prior to the FOI examination, pho mark subtle skin changes (scratch interest. Photography is complim advantages regarding ambiguous</li> </ul>	tographs are ta les, tattoos, old ented with FOI, signal intensitie	aken of the hands and wrists for all p l injuries, surgical scares etc.) that m , ultrasound and clinical assessment es other than that of joints.	patients whenever possible, to serve as a control to nay cause ambiguous signals over joint regions of s in Stockholm, and may have numerous
Hand washing is also advantageo	us in our standa	ard protocols for reasons described	elsewhere.
<ul> <li>Patients advised to restrict finger well maintained for all FOI examination</li> </ul>	and wrist move nations.	ements throughout 6 minutes unde	r darkroom conditions, and artefact reduction is
<ul> <li>IMPORTANT that the instrument prior to evaluation, so as to reve</li> </ul>	settings are re	corded on the score sheet for each	patient, especially the peak intensity gain setting,





<b>`</b>	Berlin method		Copen	hage	en method	Stockholm ı	method	
Patient No:	Date: Examiner: Ga	in settings: Time taken to score:		PVM 120, add	i new joints that appear inflamed, and re-evaluate those marke	d as ambiguous/unsure/suspected vessels. Previous gain settings	Combined Scores	Overall Grade
Wrist and Finger Joints (Left) PVM 240	Strength of Signal Intensity (0, 1, 2 or 3) ). Normal I. Weak 2. Moderate (pak-3. Strong (datus-white) whitepoint (bright white)	All reminerature rate exclusions Proportion of Joint Width Enhanced (0, 1, 2 or 3) 0. Not 1. <1/3 of 2. ≥1/3, but <2/3 3. ≥2/3 of enhanced joint width of joint width joint width	Ambiguous joints Unsure joint & ór vessels: Mark as yes, and re- evaluate in PVM 120 & Real-Time	Wrist and Finger Joints (Laft) PVM 120	0. Normal 1. Weak 2. Moderate (pab 3. Streng (daflaw white) white point) (hight white)	Proportion of Joint Width Enhanced (0, 1, 2 or 3) 0. Not 1. <1/3 of 2. ≥1/3, but <2/3 3. ≥2/3 of enhanced joint width of joint width joint width	Total Score Weak signash add 2 to score; and 8 Strang signash add 3 to score. Minus 1 if normalv essish seen without kakageperfusion in real-time	Combined Grades Score# = Grade#; Scores (1-3) = Grade#; Scores (4- 6) = Grade#; Scores (7-9) = Grade#
Wrist Ulaa. Wrist Mid. Wrist Rad.				Wrist Ulna. Wrist Mid. Wrist Rad.				
MCP2 MCP3 MCP4				MCP2 MCP3 MCP4				
MCP 5 PIP 2 PIP 3				MCP 5 PIP 2 PIP 3				
PIP 5 IP 1 DIP 2				PIP5 IP1 DIP2				
DIP 3 DIP 4 DIP 5				DIP 3 DIP 4 DIP 5				
NOTES:	DICUT HAND Prime Viste	240 Temperature Palette settings		NOTES:	DICHT HAND Prima Vista 120 Tam	I unerature Palette settings/ Deal Time		
Wrist and Finger Joints (Right)	Strength of Signal Intensity (0, 1, 2 or 3)	Proportion of Joint Width Enhanced (0, 1, 2 or 3)	Ambiguous joints	Wrist and Finger Joints (Right)	Strength of Signal Intensity (0, 1, 2 or 3)	Proportion of Joint Width Enhanced (0, 1, 2 or 3)	Total Score	Combined Grades
Wrist Ulna. Wrist Mid. Wrist Rad.				Wrist Ulna. Wrist Mid. Wrist Rad.				
MCP1 MCP2 MCP3				MCP1 MCP2 MCP3				
MCP4 MCP5 PIP2 PIP3				MCP4 MCP5 PIP2 PIP3				
PIP 4 PIP 5 IP 1				PIP 4 PIP 5 IP 1				
DIP2 DIP3 DIP4 DIP5				DIP 2 DIP 3 DIP 4 DIP 5				
TOTAL NOTES:				TOTAL NOTES:				

Berlin method	$\rightarrow$	Сс	open	hager	n me	thod			S	Stockh	nolm	method	d
In the PVM 240 image evaluation, the	Patie Prima V	nt Study No ista Mode:	: 240)120:	Date: Temperature	l e palette s	Baseline/f ettings	ollow-up:	Exami	ner:	G	ain setting	s: 2361 Ti	me taken to score:
scores were recorded on score sheet in (red), including unsure/uncertain joints (*) &/or ambiguous/ vessel signal (+) for further review in PVM 120 and in real- time.	Wrist and Finger Joints (Left & Right)	Signals absent within joint boundaries	1. W <1/3 of joint width	leak (dull/no w ≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	è2/3 of joint width	2. Mod <1/3 of joint width	erate (pale-wh ≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	ite spots) ≥2/3 of joint width	3. St <1/3 of joint width	trong (bright w ≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if vessels are suspected within joint boundaries	Total Weak Gr1 (use score); moderate Gr2 (+score); Strong Gr3 (+score). Minus 1 if vessel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
							LEF	T HAND					
	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	Wrist Mid.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	ম	
10 Mill 100	Wrist Rad.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
ALC: NOT ALC: NOT	MCP 1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2		~~ ~	
Sect and the sector	MCP 2	0	1	2	ò	1	2	3	1	2	3	X 7	
VIDE BUILDING IN	MCP 4	Ô	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	-5	
12.4.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1	MCP 5	8	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	4	
TTTT T	PIP 2	6	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	
R. J. M. S. market	PIP 3		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	
	PIP 4	G	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	
and the second s	PIP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	52	
	IP 1	0		2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	\$ \$	
	DIP 2		1	2	3	$\mathbf{G}$	2	3	1	2	3	ᢡᢩᡪᡘᡘ	
100,000	DIP 3	Q	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	2	
D) (0.4.2.40	DIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	~~	
PVIVI 240	DIP 5	(0)	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	42	
	TOTAL NOTES:												
	SCORE:												

Berlin method	$\geq$	Сс	pen	hager	n mei	thod			S	Stockh	olm	methoo	b
The other hand is then evaluated and	Patie	nt Study No	:	Date:	1	Baseline/f	ollow-up:	Exami	ner:	Ga	ain setting	gs 2361 Ti	me taken to score:
recorded as previously in (red) identifying	Prima V	ista Mode 🤇	240) 120:	Temperature	palette s	ettings							
unsure/uncertain joints (*) &/or ambiguous/ vessel signals (+) for further evaluation on the PVM 120 image, and/or in real-time. MCP5 was suspicious, but normal vessel filling suspected.	Wrist and Finger Joints	Signals absent	1. W	eak (dull/no w	hite)	2. Mode	erate (pale-wh	ite spots)	3. St	rong (bright w	hite)	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if	Total
	(Left & Right)	boundaries	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	suspected within joint boundaries	Weak Gr1 (use score); moderate Gr2 (+score); Strong Gr3 (+score). Minus 1 if vessel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
							RIGH	IT HAND					
	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	. <del></del> .	
	Wrist Mid.	0	1	2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	ጆሮ	
	Wrist Rad.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	MCP 1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	MCP 2	0	1	2	3	0	2	3	1	2	3		
100 C	MCP 3		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	MCP 4		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	MCP 5	0		2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- <del>1</del>	-
	PIP 2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	\$P	
	DID A	å	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	PIP 5		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	IP 1	ă	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	DIP 2	0	1	2	3	â	2	3	1	2	3	<u>م</u>	
	DIP 3	a	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	T	
	DIP 4	ŏ	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
PVM 240	DIP 5	ŏ	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		~
	TOTAL												
	NOTES:												
	SCORE:												

Berli			Cope			etho				Ste	ockho	lm n	nethod	
Next evaluation is		Patie	nt Study No		Date:	E	Baseline/f	ollow-up:	Exami	ner:	G	ain setting	s: 2361 Ti	me taken to score:
done on the PVM		Prima V	ista Mode	240/120	Temperature	e palette s	ettings							
120 image below. Only new joints that arise as FOI positive (i.e. Not	MIS.	Wrist and	Signals absent	1.W	eak (dull/no w	hite)	2. Mode	erate (pale-wh	ite spots)	3. SI	trong (bright w	hite)	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if	Total
inflamed previously) are to be added using another colour. The unsure joints are	S	Finger Joints (Left & Right)	within joint boundaries	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	vessels are suspected within joint boundaries	Weak Gr1 (use score); moderate Gr2 (+score); Strong Gr3 (+score). Minus 1 if vessel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
now graded on the	100 m		_					LEF	T HAND					
same score sheet	100	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
(Blue)	PVM 240 (red)	Wrist Mid.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	ম	Gr1 (3)-1
(blue)		Wrist Rad.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
		MCP 1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		Gr1 (2)
The adjacent example		MCP 2	0	1	2	3	1	۷	3	1	2	3	公中	Gr3 (3)-1
(blue), shows no		MCP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		Gr1 (3)
additional joints being		MCP 4		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	0
added. In fact, reduced		MCP 5	Ŏ	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	0
intensity and/or no		PIP 2	$\bigcirc$	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	0
signals are seen		PIP 3	$\bigcirc$	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- <del></del>	0
suggesting		PIP 4		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	0
inflammatory tissue		PIP 5		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	45	0
strength &/or vessel		IP 1	0		2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	⊕ <del>\</del> \	Gr1(1)-1=0
emancements		DIP 2	0	1	2	3	$\mathbf{O}$	2	3	1	2	3		Gr2 (1)-1
manifesting after 120		DIP 3		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- ¢	0
seconds for this		DIP 4	Ő	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	0
confirmed in real-time		DIP 5	X	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	45	0
(Notes and totals		TOTAL	After cont	irming nor	mal vessel sigr	als in MCP4	1&5, IP1, I	DIP3 &4 that h	ad weak na	rrow tubula	ar signals over 1	the joint pr	oportions scored	above, these joints were
documented).	PVM 120 (blue)	NOTES: SCORE:	regarded and there	as not-infla fore score	med . Aithoug l above. Wrist	h DIP2 cont mid-carpal o	ained tubu contained v	i <del>ar continuous</del> ressels, but wi	signals app th perfusion	earing as v h. MCP1, 2 &	essel, it had we & 3 were also p	ositively so	erate intensities cored as above.	covering <1/5 of joint width,

В	erlin method	$\geq$	Cope	enha	gen m	netho	bd			St	ockho	lm n	nethod	
The other		Patie Prima V	nt Study No	: 240 120:	Date: Temperature	l palette s	Baseline/f	ollow-up:	Exami	ner:	G	ain setting	s 2361 Ti	me taken to score:
hand below is now evaluated in the same way as we have described previously in PVM 120.		Wrist and Finger Joints (Left & Right)	Signals absent within joint boundaries	1. W <1/3 of joint width	leak (dull/no w ≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	⇔2/3 of joint width	2. Mod <1/3 of joint width	erate (pale-wh ≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	ite spots) ≥2/3 of joint width	3. St <1/3 of joint width	trong (bright w ≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	è2/3 of joint width	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if vessels are suspected within joint boundaries	Total Weak Gr1 (use score); moderate Gr2 (+score); Storeg Gr3 (+score); Storeg Gr3 (+score); Storeg Gr3 (+score); Storeg Gr3 (+score); Hussel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
								RIGH	IT HAND					(1)
In the PVM 120	PVM 240	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<u></u> .	Gr2 (3)
image evaluation	(red)	Wrist Mid.	ő	1	2	9	1	2	3	1	2	3	жv	Gr1 (3)
(blue) for this		Wrist Rad.		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
additional joints		MCP 1		1	2	3	â	2	3	1	2	3		Gr2 (1)
were included	0 0	MCP 3	å	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
The stronger		MCP 4	ă	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
inflammatory		MCP 5	<b>Ö</b>	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	ക	0
signals that were		PIP 2	0	0	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	Å	Gr1(1)
seen in PVM 240,		PIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	Ψ.	Gr1 (3)
occured later in		PIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
the phase,		PIP 5	Ŏ	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
confirmed in real-		IP 1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
time. The PVM		DIP 2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	¢	Gr2 (1)
240 score sheet		DIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
still holds as the		DIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
final score for this	DV/04 120	DIP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
nand. Notes and	PVIVI 120	TOTAL												
totals documented	(blue)	NOTES: SCORE:	After con above. M	firming ve ICP5 howe	ssel signals w ver is scored a	ith perfusion of the second seco	on in unce this enhan	rtain joints mi cement reflec	id-wrist, ul ting norma	nar, PIP2 & al vasculati	k DIP3 in real- ure	time, sho	ws FOI positive a	and remains as scored

Berlin method	$\geq$	Со	penh	nagen	met	nod			S	tockh	olm r	nethod	
New patient: In the PVM 240 image evaluation, the scores	Patie Prima V	ent Study No /ista Mode	): 240 <b>/</b> 120	Date: : Temperature	e palette s	Baseline/f ettings	ollow-up:	Exami	ner:	G	ain setting	gs: 3390 Ti	me taken to score:
sheet in (red), including unsure/uncertain joints (*) &/or ambiguous/ vessel signal (+) for further review in PVM 120 and in real-time.	Wrist and	Signals absent	1. W	/eak (dull/no w	vhite)	2. Mod	erate (pale-wh	ite spots)	3. SI	trong (bright v	vhite)	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if	Total
. 11 .	(Left & Right)	within joint boundaries	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	vessels are suspected within joint boundaries	Weak Gr1 (use score); moderate Gr2 (+score); Strong Gr3 (+score). Minus 1 if vessel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
							LEF	T HAND					
	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	X	
	Wrist Mid.	8	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
1 M L 2 M	Wrist Rad.		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
The second se	MCP 1		1	2	2	1	2	2	1	2	စ်		
	MCP 2	0	1	2	2	1	2	å	1	2	3	~	
	MCD 4	0	1	2	à	1	2	3	1	2	2	×	
	MCP 5	0	1	စ်	9	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷ 🗘	
19 T T	PIP 2	0	1	Ő	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<b>公</b> 公	
	PIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	ā	1	2	3	<b>₩</b>	
	PIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	ã	1	2	3		
and a start of the	PIP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	*	
All A	IP 1	0	1	(2)	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<b>₽</b> X	
A CONTRACT OF	DIP 2	0	1	0	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	⊕ ☆	
D)//M 240	DIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- ¢	
PVIVI 240	DIP 4	ର	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<b>4</b>	
Prima Vista	DIP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	_	
(zeitliche Summa	TOTAL												
0 s - 240 s	NOTES: SCORE:												

I

Berlin method	$\rightarrow$	Со	penh	nagen	met	hod			S	tockh	olm r	nethod	
The other hand is evaluated and recorded as previously using the diagram, intensity	Patie Prima V	nt Study No ista Mode <b>r</b>	: 240 <b>/</b> 120:	Date: Temperature	e palette s	Baseline/f ettings	ollow-up:	Exami	ner:	G	ain setting	<sub>IS</sub> : 3390 Ti	me taken to score:
scales and area of signal coverage as guidance. Identify unsure/uncertain joints (*) &/or ambiguous/ vessel signals (+) as prescribed previously. These are to be assessed in PVM 120 and in real-time	Wrist and Finger Joints (Left & Right)	Signals absent within joint	1. W	leak (dull/no w	hite)	2. Mode	erate (pale-whi	ite spots)	3. St	rong (bright w	/hite)	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if vessels are	Total Weak Gr1 (use score);
		boundaries	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	suspected within joint boundaries	moderate Gr2 (+score); Strong Gr3 (+score). Minus 1 if vessel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							LEF	T HAND					
	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	*	
	Wrist Mid.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	Wrist Rad.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	MCP 1	O	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
	MCP 2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	-	
	MCP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	лХ	
	MCP 4	ຄ	1	2	<sup>o</sup>	1	2	3	1	2	3	~~~	
The second se	DID 2		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<u>л</u> <del>//</del>	
	PIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	â	1	2	3	₩.	
	PIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	a	1	2	3	<b>^</b>	
	PIP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	ф.,	
No. of Concession, Name	IP 1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- ∲ <b>☆</b>	
	DIP 2	0	1	0	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	⊕ ☆	
	DIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- <del>(</del>	
PVIVI 240	DIP 4	6	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	ф	
	DIP 5	O	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		
ta mation)	TOTAL												
S	SCORE:												

Be			Co		hagen		hod			S	tockh	olm	methoo	i .
		Patie Prima V	nt Study No	:	Date:	e nalette s	Baseline/f	ollow-up:	Exami	ner:	G	ain setting	gs: 3390 Ti	me taken to score:
Although the scores remain unchanged according to protocol, it was evident that for		Wrist and Finger Joints	Signals absent	1. W	leak (dull/no v	vhite)	2. Mod	erate (pale-wh	ite spots)	3. Si	rong (bright w	vhite)	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if	Total
this patient, the PVM 120 showed stronger and more	1	(Left & Right)	within joint boundaries	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	<1/3 of joint width	≥1/3, but <2/3 of joint width	≥2/3 of joint width	vessels are suspected within joint boundaries	Weak Gr1 (use score); moderate Gr2 (+score); Strong Gr3 (+score). Minus 1 if vessel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
convincing	PV/M 240							LEF	T HAND					
signal	F VIVI 2-TU	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<b>\$</b>	Gr1 (3)
intensities for	(zeitliche Suma	Wrist Mid.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
each inflamed	0 5 - 240 5	Wrist Rad.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
finger joint in	· · ·	MCP 1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
this hand,		MCP 2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		Gr3 (3)
including wrist	a 🖉 🖉 🖉	MCP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	*	Gr3 (3)
ulnar, as		MCP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<b>*</b>	Gr1 (3)
confirmed in		MCP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	*	Gr1 (2)
real-time for	10 P P P P P	PIP 2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	-0-☆	Gr1 (2)
uncertain joint		PIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	*	Gr2 (3)
grades. DIP4		PIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	(3)	1	2	3		Gr2 (3)
was seen as	Contraction of the second	PIP 5	0	1	0	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<b>*</b>	Gr1 (2)
normal	19 - 10 17	IP 1	0	1	(2)	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	0 🗘 🏷	Gr1 (2)
vasculature and		DIP 2	0	1	۵ ا	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	⊕☆	Gr2 (2)
scored 0. No	ARE PROVIDENT	DIP 3	0	0	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<b>_</b> 4	Gr1 (1)
new joints were		DIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	Å	0
added	PVM 120	DIP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		Gr1 (3)
	1 0101 120	TOTAL	Although	the score	res remain u	unchange	d. excent	MCP3, the	PVM 120	showed	- stronger sig	nal inter-	sities for each	inflamed finger joint
	Prima Vista (zeitliche Summ	NOTES:	including	wrist ul	nar. as conf	irmed in i	real-time	for ambigue	os scores.	MCP3 ho	wever was	changed	due to real-tir	ne indicating strong
	0 s - 120 s	SCORE:	signals r	ather tha	n moderate	DIP4 wa	s seen as	normal vas	culature	and score	d 0 No new	i i oints w	ere added	

Berlin method	$\rightarrow$	Со	penh	nagen	meth	nod			S	tockho	olm r	nethod	
	Patie	ent Study No	):	Date:	- 	Baseline/f	ollow-up:	Exam	iner:	G	iain setting	gs: 3390 Ti	me taken to score:
	Prima	ista Wiode	1 1	nemperatur	e palette s	2 Mod	orato (nala ut	14 4 - 1	2.6	rong (h-l-h-			
	Wrist and	Signals absent	1. 0		nite)	2. 1000		ite spots)	3. 3		vnite)	Unsure joint mark with (*) if uncertain &/or (+) if	Total
New joints MCP5	(Left & Right)	within joint boundaries	<1/3 of	>1/3. hut	>2/3 of	<1/3 of	>1/3. but	>2/3 of	<1/3 of	>1/3. but	>2/3 of	vessels are	Weak Gr1 (use score);
been added as seen in PVM 120			joint width	<2/3 of joint width	joint width	joint width	<2/3 of joint width	joint width	joint width	<2/3 of joint width	joint width	within joint boundaries	Strong Gr3 (+score). Minus 1 if vessel (+) & no abnormal leakage in real-time
and confirmed							100						
with real-time PVM 240	Wrist Ulna.	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	<del>1</del>	Gr2 (3)
evaluation seen tailing diverged	Wrist Mid.	0	1	2	3	1	2	ă	1	2	3	<b>^</b>	Gr2 (3)
as perfused	Wrist Rad.	Ó	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
joints with OA	MCP 1	Õ	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
changes as well	MCP 2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		Gr2 (3)
on ultrasound.	MCP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	*	Gr3 (3)
PVM 120 showed	MCP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	む☆	Gr1 (3)
stronger signal	MCP 5	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		Added Gr1 (1)
	PIP 2	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	-0-☆	Gr3 (3)
Intensities for	PIP 3	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	*	Gr2 (3)
each inflamed	PIP 4	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		Gr2 (3)
finger including	PIP 5	0	1	0	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷.	Gr1 (2)
wrist ulnar and	IP 1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- ⊕ X	Gr1 (2)
mid-carpals.	DIP 2	0	1	9	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- ⊕ ☆	Gr1 (2)
	DIP 3	0		2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	- <b>-</b>	Gr1 (1)
	DIP 4	6	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	÷	Added Gr2 (3)
PVM 120	DIP 5		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3		0
	TOTAL	New joi	nts MCP5	and DIP4 ha	ave been	added as	seen in PVN	VI 120 and	l confirm	ed with rea	-time eva	aluation seen a	as perfused joints with
us (Due)	SCORE:	OA char	iges on u	ltrasound. P	VM 120 s	howed st	tronger sign:	al intensi	ties for ea	ich inflame	d finger in	cluding wrist	ulnar and mid-carpals

# 

(2020) 22:98

# RESEARCH ARTICLE

**Open Access** 

# Validity and diagnostic performance of fluorescence optical imaging measuring synovitis in hand osteoarthritis: baseline results from the Nor-Hand cohort



Øystein Maugesten<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Alexander Mathiessen<sup>1</sup>, Hilde Berner Hammer<sup>1,2</sup>, Sigrid Valen Hestetun<sup>1</sup>, Tore Kristian Kvien<sup>1,2</sup>, Till Uhlig<sup>1,2</sup>, Sarah Ohrndorf<sup>3</sup> and Ida Kristin Haugen<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

**Objective:** Fluorescence optical imaging (FOI) demonstrates enhanced microcirculation in finger joints as a sign of inflammation. We wanted to assess the validity and diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis in persons with hand OA, comparing it with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)- and ultrasound-detected synovitis.

**Methods:** Two hundred and twenty-one participants with hand OA underwent FOI and ultrasound (gray-scale synovitis and power Doppler activity) of the bilateral hands and contrast-enhanced MRI examination of the dominant hand. Fifteen joints in each hand were scored on semi-quantitative scales (grade 0–3) for all modalities. Four FOI images were evaluated: one composite image (Prima Vista Mode (PVM)) and three images representing phases of fluorescent dye distribution. Spearman's correlation coefficients were calculated between sum scores of FOI, MRI, and ultrasound. Sensitivity, specificity, and area under the curve (AUC) were calculated for FOI using MRI or ultrasound as reference.

**Results:** FOI did not demonstrate enhancement in the thumb base, and the joint was excluded from further analyses. FOI sum scores showed poor to fair correlations with MRI (rho 0.01–0.24) and GS synovitis sum scores (rho 0.12–0.25). None of the FOI images demonstrated both good sensitivity and specificity, and the AUC ranged from 0.50–0.61 and 0.51–0.63 with MRI and GS synovitis as reference, respectively. FOI demonstrated similar diagnostic performance with PD activity and GS synovitis as reference.

**Conclusion:** FOI enhancement correlated poorly with synovitis assessed by more established imaging modalities, questioning the value of FOI for the evaluation of synovitis in hand OA.

Keywords: Hand osteoarthritis, Xiralite, Inflammation, Synovitis, Ultrasound, MRI, Optical imaging, FOI

\* Correspondence: oystein.maugesten@gmail.com

<sup>1</sup>Department of Rheumatology, Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Diakonveien 12, 0370 Oslo, Norway

<sup>2</sup>Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2020 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

#### Background

Hand OA is a whole joint disease, affecting the cartilage, subchondral bone, synovium, and tendons [1]; however, the importance of inflammation in the hand OA pathogenesis remains debated. Ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) examinations have demonstrated a significant inflammatory burden in these patients, and synovitis is associated with pain [2] and radiographic progression on joint level [3, 4]. Inflammation has been of interest as a potential treatment target in recent OA trials. Whereas previous studies were not able to show clear clinically relevant effects [5], Kroon et al. recently showed significant effects of prednisolone on pain in persons with inflammatory hand OA, further supporting the role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of pain [6].

Valid and cost-efficient evaluation of inflammation will be important in future hand OA trials using synovitis as an inclusion criteria and/or outcome measure. Ultrasound and MRI are established modalities for assessing synovitis; however, they are limited by operator dependency and availability, contraindications, and higher cost, respectively. Fluorescence optical imaging (FOI) is a novel imaging modality using near-infrared light to demonstrate indocyanine green (ICG)-enhanced microcirculation in the region around finger joints as a sign of inflammation [7]. The method is without radiation, a scan of both hands takes only 6 min, and the device can be operated by trained health professionals.

Previous studies of patients with early and undifferentiated arthritis have shown moderate sensitivity (51– 54%) and good specificity (81–87%) of composite FOI images [7, 8] using MRI-detected synovitis as reference, while another study found similar sensitivity and specificity in the proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joints in persons with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) [9]. The validity and diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis have not been examined in persons with hand OA. Hence, we wanted to examine the frequency of FOI enhancement in persons with hand OA and assess whether FOI is correlated with MRI- and ultrasound-detected synovitis. Further, we wanted to investigate the diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis in hand OA.

#### Participants and methods

#### Study participants

We included participants from the Nor-Hand study, an observational hand OA cohort from the rheumatology outpatient clinic at Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Oslo, Norway [10]. The participants were between 40 and 70 years old with proven hand OA by clinical and/or ultrasound examination and had no suspected diagnosis of systemic inflammatory joint diseases, psoriasis, or major somatic and/or psychiatric comorbidities. Further exclusion criteria are described elsewhere [10]. All participants signed informed consent, and the study was approved by the regional ethics committee.

#### Fluorescence optical imaging (FOI)

The Xiralite°-system is the only FOI device available for clinical use in rheumatology. To perform the FOI scan, the patient receives an intravenous injection with a fluorescent dye (ICG pulsion, 0.1 mg/kg body weight) and have near-infrared light from light-emitting diodes (LED) projected down on the hands for 6 min. With a highly sensitive camera, 360 images (one/second) are produced, showing the flooding in, distribution, and washing out of the dye. All images can be scrolled through after the examination, and a composite picture (Prima Vista Mode (PVM)) from the 240 first images is automatically generated by the XiraView software. In short, four images are assessed with the FOI activity score (FOIAS): PVM and three images representing phases 1, 2, and 3 based on the distribution and washing out of the fluorescent dye in relation to the fingertips (Fig. 1). The distal interphalangeal (DIP) and proximal interphalangeal (PIP) including the 1st interphalangeal and metacarpophalangeal (MCP) joints and the thumb base were graded on 0-3 scales based on the color intensity and width of enhancement according to the FOIAS [8, 9, 11]. All FOI images were scored by one reader (SH) blinded for MRI and ultrasound results and all clinical data except age and sex. The reader was trained in assessing FOI images with good inter-reader reliability with an experienced reader (SO) and excellent intra-reader reliability for all phases except phase 1 (intraclass correlation coefficient for sum scores; PVM = 0.89, phase 1 = 0.10, phase 2 = 0.87, phase 3 = 0.89) in 21 patients [12]. Persons with known allergy to iodine or indocyanine, untreated hyperthyroidism with fT4 above 21 pmol/L and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) below 0.5 mIE/L, poor liver function (transaminases above twice the upper reference limit), reduced kidney function (glomerular filtration rate below 40 mL/min), or pregnancy or breast-feeding did not perform the FOI scan.

#### Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)

Participants without contraindications underwent 1.5 T MRI (Siemens Aera, Germany) of the dominant hand. MRI was obtained mean (standard deviation (SD)) 9 (13.9) days after the FOI scan. The fingers and thumb base joints were covered by a 16-channel hand/wrist-coil and an intravenous contrast (Dotarem 279.3 mg/mL, 0.2 mL/kg body weight) was given. A T1-weighted volumetric interpolated breath-hold examination (VIBE) was reconstructed into three planes with 2.0 mm thickness, and the axial and sagittal planes were used for evaluation of synovitis [10]. The images were scored by a PhD



Fig. 1 Examples of the different FOI activity score (FOIAS) images: phase 1 (a), phase 2 (b), phase 3 (c), and Prima Vista Mode (d)

student (ØM) trained in assessing synovitis in hand joints. Repeated training sessions with an experienced reader (IKH) were arranged prior to the calibration exercise with demonstration of atlases and evaluation of example images (n = 20). For calibration, 30 patients were scored separately in intervals of 13, 7, and 10 patients. Both readers scored the images until good inter-reader reliability (weighted kappa > 0.60) was obtained. For the last 10 patients, the scorers obtained a weighted kappa of 0.69. Joints with a difference of two or more grades and scores of 0 and 1 between the readers were reassessed and scored by consensus. For the remaining patients, the experienced reader (IKH) was consulted in case of uncertainties. The MRI reader was blinded for FOI and ultrasound results and all clinical data except age and sex. Synovitis in the DIP and PIP (incl. IP1) joints was assessed on a 0-3 scale according to the Hand OA MRI scoring system (HOAMRIS) [13], and the MCP joints were scored with same criteria as the PIP joints. All finger joints were assessed in the sagittal and axial planes and had to demonstrate consistent findings in 3 consecutive slices in both planes to qualify as MRI enhancement. The 1st carpometacarpal joint (CMC-1) and scaphotrapeziotrapezoidal (STT) joints were evaluated in the frontal and axial plane and evaluated using the TOMS atlas [14]. Flexor tenosynovitis was assessed according to the Oslo hand OA MRI scoring system (OHOA-MRI) and peritendinous inflammation along the extensor tendon was evaluated as absent/ present [15].

# Ultrasound

A GE Logic S8 ultrasound machine with a linear 6–15 MHz probe preset for optimal gray-scale synovitis and power Doppler was used. The ultrasound examination was performed by a medical student trained by two experienced ultrasonographers (HBH, AM). A training

session was arranged prior to study start with demonstration of the probe, normal B-mode musculoskeletal anatomy of the hand, and presentation of an atlas of synovitis grade 1-3 in the bilateral DIP and PIP including the first interphalangeal, MCP, and CMC-1 joints [16]. The hand joints were longitudinally scanned from the radial to the ulnar dorsal side, with additional transverse scanning in case of uncertainties. All joints were scored for gray-scale (GS) synovitis and power Doppler (PD) activity on semiquantitative 0-3 scales using the atlas from the training session as reference. The reader was blinded to MRI, FOI, and radiographic findings. The medical student and one of the experienced readers evaluated the 14 first patients together, and the medical student performed the remaining examinations independently. By the end of the data collection, a reliability exercise with the medical student and one ultrasonographer (AM) was performed, with consecutive enrollment of n = 10 patients with good interreader reliability (prevalence- and bias-adjusted kappa (PABAK) for GS in DIP/PIP (0.80) and CMC-1 joints (0.92) and power Doppler activity in DIP/PIP (0.85) and CMC-1 joints (0.92) [17].

# **Conventional radiographs**

Frontal images of bilateral hands were obtained with posterior-anterior view. One experienced reader (IKH) evaluated the DIP and PIP including the first interphalangeal, MCP, and CMC-1 according to the Kellgren Lawrence (KL) scale (grade 0–4) [18, 19] and Verbruggen Veys (VV) anatomical phase scoring system [20]. Erosive hand OA was defined as having at least one DIP or PIP joint(s) in the erosive or remodeling phase according to the VV anatomical phase scoring system. The reader demonstrated excellent intrareader reliability for both scoring systems with weighted kappa on 0.92 (KL)

and kappa on 0.93 (erosive vs. non-erosive for the VV score).

#### Statistics

Frequencies for different grades of FOI enhancement and synovitis detected by MRI and ultrasound were calculated and presented in histograms. Frequencies and trend of FOI enhancement in PVM across erosive vs. non-erosive and KL grades were assessed in cross tables and presented in histograms. We calculated Spearman's correlations for sum scores of the dominant hand for MRI-detected synovitis and FOI and the bilateral hands for ultrasound-detected synovitis and FOI. For diagnostic performance, we calculated sensitivity, specificity, negative (NPV) and positive predictive values (PPV), and area under the curve (AUC) using either MRI or GS synovitis as reference. Percent agreement (PA) was calculated on FOI enhancement yes/no vs. GS/MRI synovitis yes/no. For all imaging modalities, joints missing due to amputation, trapeziectomy, or arthrodesis were imputed with an average value from the remaining joints in the same hand for sum scores, while they remained missing in calculations on frequencies and diagnostic performance. All results are presented for all joints together and for joint groups. Stratified analyses for persons with erosive hand OA vs. non-erosive hand OA were performed. Stata 14.0 was used for all the statistical analyses.

#### Results

#### **Study population**

Three hundred participants in the Nor-Hand cohort underwent ultrasound and radiographs of both hands. Among those, 246 participants performed MRI of the dominant hand with gadolinium contrast, and 253 participants performed FOI. One adverse event was reported due to subcutaneous administration of ICG, and the FOI images from this participant were excluded from further analyses. Finally, FOI images from two participants were excluded due to a lack of contrast enhancement. In total, 221 participants performed both FOI and MRI and were included for further analyses. The majority of participants were women, and a wide range in symptom severity, degree of inflammation, and structural damage was observed (Table 1).

# Frequency distribution of synovitis according to FOI, MRI, and ultrasound

For GS synovitis and PD activity, 27 joints were missing due to amputation, trapeziectomy, arthrodesis, or unknown reasons. Five joints were missing due to trapeziectomy, arthrodesis, or amputation on MRI of the dominant hand. One phase 1 image, seven phase 2 images, and eight phase 3 images were excluded from

#### Table 1 Baseline characteristics (n = 221)

Age, mean (SD) years	60.6 (6.2)
Women, <i>n</i> (%)	194 (88)
Body mass index, mean (SD) kg/m <sup>2</sup>	26.2 (4.7)
ACR criteria for hand OA, $n$ (%)	203 (92)
Average NRS hand pain (range 0–10)*	3.7 (2.3)
HOAMRIS synovitis sum score DIP/PIP, mean (SD) [range 0–27]**	6.4 (4.8)
Patients with flexor tenosynovitis by MRI, $n$ (%)	53 (24)
GS synovitis sum score DIP/PIP, mean (SD) [range 0–54]	4.4 (5.3)
PD activity sum score DIP/PIP, mean (SD) [range 0–54]	2.4 (4.3)
FOI PVM sum score, DIP/PIP, mean (SD) [range 0–54]	14.2 (7.3)
FOI phase 1 sum score, DIP/PIP, mean (SD) [range 0–54]	0.7 (2.5)
FOI phase 2 sum score, DIP/PIP, mean (SD) [range 0–54]	21.4 (9.7)
FOI phase 3 sum score, DIP/PIP, mean (SD) [range 0–54]	4.9 (5.7)
KL sum score, (DIP/PIP/MCP/CMC-1) mean (SD) [range 0–120]	28.8 (18.0)
Erosive hand OA, n (%)	74 (34)
*NRS pain on 220 patients, 1 missing	

\*\*Dominant hand

ACR American College of Rheumatology, HOAMRIS Hand OA MRI score, KL Kellgren-Lawrence, DIP distal interphalangeal, PIP proximal interphalangeal, NRS numeric rating scale, OA osteoarthritis

analyses due to difficulties defining phases, i.e., no clear descending of the white from fingertips (phase 1) and white (phase 2) or red (phase 3) pixels persisting in fingertips.

None of the participants demonstrated FOI enhancement of the thumb base, while 81% of the participants had MRI-defined synovitis in this area (CMC-1 and/or STT). The CMC-1 joint was more frequently affected (69%) than the STT joint (54%). Ultrasound of the CMC-1 joint demonstrated less synovitis than MRI (gray-scale synovitis 26%, power Doppler activity 19%) (Fig. 2). Due to the lack of FOI enhancement in the thumb base, it was not included in further analyses. Only three MCP1 joints showed any FOI enhancement, and MRI was the only modality showing frequent findings in the MCP joints (32% of joints, predominantly grade 1). While MRI and FOI (PVM and phases 2 and 3) detected more synovitis and enhancement in the PIP joints than in the DIP joints, GS synovitis and PD activity and FOI phase 1 demonstrated more activity in the DIP joints.

None of the participants demonstrated MRI-enhanced peritendinous inflammation along the extensor tendon. Fifty-three participants had flexor tenosynovitis in one or more fingers, and the majority (n = 46) demonstrated grade 1 tenosynovitis adjacent to the MCP joint. Flexor tenosynovitis was not included in further analysis due to its localization on the palmar aspect of the hand and thus not detectable via FOI. When assessing frequency of FOI enhancement in PVM according to VV and KL



scores, we found a significant trend for higher proportion of joints with FOI enhancement in joints with severe KL and VV grades (Online supplementary figure 1).

#### Correlations between FOI, ultrasound, and MRI

Good correlations were found between MRI and GS synovitis for all joint groups except in the MCP joints (Table 2). Similarly, GS synovitis and PD activity demonstrated good to very good correlations for all joint groups. Overall, the correlations between FOI and MRI were poor to fair, while FOI was poorly correlated with GS synovitis. The strongest correlation with MRI was found for PVM in the PIP joints with Spearman's rho of 0.32, while the DIP joints had consistently the weakest correlations ranging from 0.00 to 0.14 (Table 2, Fig. 3).

# Diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis

Using MRI and GS synovitis as reference, FOI phase 1 demonstrated the highest specificity, with corresponding very low sensitivity (Table 3). FOI PVM and phase 2 had

**Table 2** Spearman's correlations for synovitis sum scores

 between MRI, ultrasound, and FOI

	, ,				
Variable 1	Variable 2	All joints	DIP	PIP	MCP
MRI*	PVM*	0.23	0.09	0.32	0.17
MRI*	Phase 1*	0.01	0.00	0.01	- 0.04
MRI*	Phase 2*	0.24	0.14	0.31	- 0.01
MRI*	Phase 3*	0.19	0.09	0.24	0.07
GS	PVM	0.15	0.07	0.26	0.20
GS	Phase 1	0.12	0.15	0.04	0.13
GS	Phase 2	0.25	0.15	0.30	0.13
GS	Phase 3	0.22	0.06	0.27	0.17
MRI*	GS*	0.58	0.45	0.60	- 0.04
MRI*	PD*	0.45	0.35	0.47	- 0.02
GS	PD	0.79	0.70	0.85	0.79

\*Dominant hand

*MRI* magnetic resonance imaging, *GS* gray-scale ultrasound, *PD* power Doppler, *FOI* fluorescence optical imaging, *PVM* FOI Prima Vista Mode, *Phase* 1 FOI phase 1, *Phase* 2 FOI phase 2, *Phase* 3 FOI phase 3, *DIP* distal interphalangeal joint, *PIP* proximal interphalangeal joint, *MCP* metacarpophalangeal joint





consistently the highest sensitivities with both MRI and GS synovitis as reference, with values ranging from 48% to 69%. FOI reached high NPV with GS synovitis as reference, suggesting that joints with no FOI enhancement were unlikely to have GS synovitis. However, presence of FOI enhancement did not consistently correspond with presence of GS synovitis, demonstrated by low PPV values. GS synovitis was less prevalent than MRI synovitis, which affected the results considerably. Using MRI instead of ultrasound as reference, FOI demonstrated higher PPV and lower NPV. However, improvement of sensitivity, specificity, and AUC was found for FOI when presence of MRI synovitis was increased to grade 2 or more (Online supplementary table 1, online supplemenfigure 2). The agreement between tary FOI

 Table 3 Diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis

 using MRI and GS synovitis as reference

using with and do synovitis as reference											
FOI+/MRI+	FOI-/MRI-	Sens.	Spec.	PPV	NPV	AUC	PA				
698/1456	1180/1635	0.48	0.72	0.61	0.61	0.61	61				
22/1442	1621/1635	0.02	0.99	0.61	0.53	0.50	53				
814/1408	984/1585	0.58	0.62	0.58	0.62	0.60	60				
332/1407	1408/1572	0.24	0.90	0.67	0.57	0.57	58				
FOI+/GS+	FOI-/GS-	Sens.	Spec.	PPV	NPV	AUC	PA				
407/688	3510/5473	0.59	0.64	0.17	0.93	0.62	64				
16/680	5412/5454	0.02	0.99	0.28	0.89	0.51	88				
461/667	2977/5299	0.69	0.56	0.17	0.94	0.63	58				
152/664	4545/5273	0.23	0.86	0.17	0.90	0.56	79				
	FOI+/MRI+ 698/1456 22/1442 814/1408 332/1407 FOI+/GS+ 407/688 16/680 461/667 152/664	FOI+/MRI+         FOI-/MRI-           698/1456         1180/1635           22/1442         1621/1635           814/1408         984/1585           332/1407         1408/1572           FOI+/GS+         FOI-/GS-           407/688         3510/5473           16/680         5412/5454           461/667         2977/5299           152/664         4545/5273	FOI+/MRI+         FOI-/MRI-         Sens.           698/1456         1180/1635         0.48           22/1442         1621/1635         0.02           814/1408         984/1585         0.58           332/1407         1408/1572         0.24           FOI+/GS+         FOI-/GS-         Sens.           407/688         3510/5473         0.59           16/680         5412/5454         0.02           461/667         2977/5299         0.69           152/664         4545/5273         0.23	FOI+/MRI+         FOI-/MRI-         Sens.         Spec.           698/1456         1180/1635         0.48         0.72           22/1442         1621/1635         0.02         0.99           814/1408         984/1585         0.58         0.62           332/1407         1408/1572         0.24         0.90           FOI+/GS+         FOI-/GS-         Sens.         Spec.           407/688         3510/5473         0.59         0.64           16/680         5412/5454         0.02         0.99           461/667         2977/5299         0.69         0.56           152/664         4545/5273         0.23         0.86	FOI+/MRI+         FOI-/MRI-         Sens.         Spec.         PPV           698/1456         1180/1635         0.48         0.72         0.61           22/1442         1621/1635         0.02         0.99         0.61           814/1408         984/1585         0.58         0.62         0.58           332/1407         1408/1572         0.24         0.90         0.67           FOI+/GS+         FOI-/GS-         Sens.         Spec.         PPV           407/688         3510/5473         0.59         0.64         0.17           16/680         5412/5454         0.02         0.99         0.28           461/667         2977/5299         0.69         0.56         0.17           152/664         4545/5273         0.23         0.86         0.17	FOI+/MRI+         FOI-/MRI-         Sens.         Spec.         PPV         NPV           698/1456         1180/1635         0.48         0.72         0.61         0.61           22/1442         1621/1635         0.02         0.99         0.61         0.53           814/1408         984/1585         0.58         0.62         0.58         0.62           332/1407         1408/1572         0.24         0.90         0.67         0.57           FOI+/GS+         FOI-/GS-         Sens.         Spec.         PPV         NPV           407/688         3510/5473         0.59         0.64         0.17         0.93           16/680         5412/5454         0.02         0.99         0.28         0.89           461/667         2977/5299         0.69         0.56         0.17         0.94           152/664         4545/5273         0.23         0.86         0.17         0.94	FOI+/MRI+         FOI-/MRI-         Sens.         Spec.         PPV         NPV         AUC           698/1456         1180/1635         0.48         0.72         0.61         0.61         0.61           22/1442         1621/1635         0.02         0.99         0.61         0.53         0.50           814/1408         984/1585         0.58         0.62         0.58         0.62         0.60           332/1407         1408/1572         0.24         0.90         0.67         0.57         0.57           FOI+/GS+         FOI-/GS-         Sens.         Spec.         PPV         NPV         AUC           407/688         3510/5473         0.59         0.64         0.17         0.93         0.62           16/680         5412/5454         0.02         0.99         0.28         0.89         0.51           461/667         2977/5299         0.69         0.56         0.17         0.94         0.63           152/664         4545/5273         0.23         0.86         0.17         0.90         0.56				

FOI fluorescence optical imaging, PVM FOI Prima Vista Mode, Phase 1 FOI phase 1, Phase 2 FOI phase 2, Phase 3 FOI phase 3, MRI magnetic resonance imaging, GS gray-scale ultrasound, Sens. sensitivity, Spec. specificity, PPV positive predictive value, NPV negative predictive value, PA percent agreement, AUC area under the curve

(enhancement yes/no) and MRI (synovitis yes/no) ranged from 53 to 61% while the same values for ultrasound (synovitis yes/no) ranged from 57 to 89%. Using PD activity as reference, the diagnostic performance of FOI was similar to the results when GS synovitis was used as reference (data not shown).

#### Results from subgroup analysis

Correlation analyses were repeated for participants with erosive hand OA without consistent improvements in the correlations between FOI, MRI, and GS synovitis. Further, the diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis with MRI and ultrasound as reference was similar in erosive hand OA and non-erosive hand OA patients (data not shown).

# Discussion

This is the first study to investigate the validity and diagnostic performance of FOI in persons with hand OA. To our knowledge, the Nor-Hand study is also the largest clinical study to date comparing FOI with MRI and ultrasound.

Our hand OA patients demonstrated a significant inflammatory burden with a high percentage of joints with MRI- and ultrasound-detected synovitis, with the DIP, PIP, and thumb base joints most frequently affected. FOI demonstrated most enhancement in DIP and PIP joints, whereas no enhancement was detected in the thumb base despite inflammation in these joints being highly prevalent on both MRI and ultrasound. FOI enhancement in the thumb base has not been detected in previous studies on FOI, and we hypothesize that the CMC-1 and STT joints are located too deep to be visualized by the limited tissue penetration of the FOI device. This represents an important limitation for the use of FOI in hand OA. The development of a 3D FOI device with pairing of lateral, medial, palmar, and dorsal images would possibly give a more complete representation of the inflamed joint and could therefore improve the correlation to MRI and ultrasound in persons with hand OA.

FOI showed poor to fair correlation with MRI and ultrasound in our cohort. In contrast, Fischer et al. found strong correlation between MRI and FOI in five RA patients with a similar near-infrared optical imaging device [21], and Werner et al. demonstrated moderate correlation between gray-scale synovitis and FOI (rho = 0.40) in patients with arthritis using the Xiralite<sup>®</sup> scanner [7]. Regarding diagnostic performance, we found moderate to very good specificities and poor to moderate sensitivities for FOI using MRI-detected synovitis as reference, with the best specificity in FOI phase 2 (99%) with corresponding low sensitivity (2%), suggesting substantial noise and false positive findings. Previous studies on RA and undifferentiated arthritis have demonstrated better specificity and sensitivity for FOI, particularly for phase 1 [7-9, 11, 22]. Phase 1 has been suggested to demonstrate active inflammation [23] and might explain the higher sensitivity of this phase in persons with RA rather than hand OA. This is supported by the finding of fewer joints with PD activity in our cohort, with mean sum score of 2.4 in DIP and PIP joints in the bilateral hands. In comparison, a group of 431 RA patients demonstrated a mean sum score of PD activity of 4.8 in the wrist, MCP 1-5 and PIP 2-3 of the dominant hand [24].

The percent agreement was better between FOI (enhancement yes/no) and ultrasound (synovitis yes/no) than FOI and MRI, most likely due to the high prevalence of low-grade MRI synovitis in our cohort. It is debated whether MRI grade 1 synovitis actually represents pathology or rather is a normal finding [25], and we found improved values when assessing the diagnostic performance and percent agreement of FOI with MRIdefined synovitis grade 2 and higher as reference.

Despite our findings of poor correlations and diagnostic performance, FOI enhancement has previously corresponded to histological synovitis in animal models with induced arthritis [26]. Interestingly, we found more FOI enhancement in joints with increasing KL and VV grade, especially in the erosive joints. Bone remodeling with increased vascularity of the bone in OA joints may have affected the enhancement, although it is unknown whether these signals can be detected by FOI. Further, it is unlikely that tenosynovitis has affected the results as the low degree of flexor tenosynovitis detected on MCP level in our cohort is located too deep to be detected by FOI, comparable to the aforementioned thumb base. Additionally, no participants had peritendinous inflammation along the extensor tendon. FOI enhancement in our participants might represent an extraarticular hypervascularity due to inflamed subcutaneous tissue; however, we did not specifically look for this feature when assessing the MRI images.

Poor agreement between FOI and MRI might also be a question of scoring method. The FOI reader in our study demonstrated good reliability with an experienced reader for phase 2 and 3 and PVM; however, phase 1 showed remarkably low inter-reader reliability (ICC = 0.10). Readers define phases 1, 2, and 3 from preset criteria and might assess different images. In a recently published paper, we found low reliability for phase 1 in both hand OA and RA patients and we hypothesized that the low agreement in phase 1 was due to rapid changes in the beginning of the FOI image sequence, while phase 2 and phase 3 had good reliability despite readers assessing images within a broad range [27]. Ultimately, the FOIAS might not be the best scoring method for analyzing the 360 images in persons with hand OA. FOI and its varying degrees of enhancement seems particularly suited for developing an automated algorithm for scoring affected joints through, e.g., machine learning, and might improve the diagnostic performance and validity of FOI in persons with hand OA. This study has several limitations. First, our participants were recruited from a rheumatology outpatient clinic, making it difficult to generalize the results to persons with hand OA in primary health care. Secondly, FOI was performed approximately 2 weeks prior to MRI. As low-grade MRI-defined synovitis might fluctuate and represent a normal finding, images should have been acquired on the same day in order to make FOI and MRI fully comparable. However, the ultrasound exam was conducted on the same day as the FOI exam and demonstrated good correlation (r =0.58) with the MRI findings.

#### Conclusion

To conclude, we found poor to fair correlation between FOI enhancement and MRI- and ultrasounddetected synovitis in persons with hand OA. None of the FOI phases or PVM demonstrated both good sensitivity and specificity. Although a frequent manifestation of hand OA, FOI was not able to detect synovitis in the thumb base. Our cohort demonstrated low-grade inflammation with less vascularization, which might explain the poor results compared with previous FOI studies on systemic inflammatory joint diseases. With the current scoring method and technology available, we conclude that MRI and ultrasound perform better than FOI for the assessment of inflammation in hand OA.

# Supplementary information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13075-020-02185-0.

**Additional file 1 : Figure S1.** Distribution of FOI PVM enhancement in joints with increasing degree of osteoarthritis.

Additional file 2 : Table S1. The diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis using MRI grade 2 & 3 as reference.

Additional file 3 : Figure S2. ROC curves showing the AUC of FOI PVM using a) MRI grade 1-3 and b) MRI grade 2-3 as reference.

#### Abbreviations

ACR: American College of Rheumatology; AUSCAN: Australian and Canadian Hand Index; CI: Confidence interval; CMC-1: 1st carpometacarpal joint; CR: Conventional radiography; DIP: Distal interphalangeal joints; FOI: Fluorescence optical imaging; HOAMRIS: Hand OA MRI score; ICC: Intraclass correlation coefficient; IP: Interphalangeal; IQR: Interquartile range; JSN: Joint space narrowing; KL: Kellgren Lawrence; MCP: Metacarpophalangeal joints; MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging; OA: Osteoarthritis; PA: Posterior-anterior; PIP: Proximal interphalangeal joint; RA: Rheumatoid arthritis; SD: Standard deviation; STT: Scaphotrapeziotrapezoid

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank all participants in the Nor-Hand study; staff at the rheumatology department at Diakonhjemmet hospital, Oslo, Norway for the help with performing the study; statisticians Joe Sexton and Øivind Skare at Diakonhjemmet Hospital for the assistance with the statistical analyses; and medical student Nikolai Ravn Aarskog for performing the ultrasound examinations. Finally, we would like to thank Dr. Stephanie Werner for kindly answering questions about the FOIAS and radiologist Karwan Faraj at the department of radiology at Diakonhjemmet hospital for guidance on MRI assessment.

#### Authors' contributions

ØM, IKH, TKK, TU, and HBH designed the study. ØM, IKH, SH, AM, and HBH participated in the acquisition of the data. ØM, IKH, HBH, TU, TKH, and AM interpreted the data. ØM and IKH drafted the work substantively and all authors read it, revised it critically, and approved the final manuscript.

#### Funding

The Nor-Hand study was supported by funds from the Southern and Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, the Pahles Foundation, the Simon Fougner Hartmanns Family Foundation, and the Trygve Gythfeldt Research Foundation. The ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation through EXTRA funds has financed the PhD position of Øystein Maugesten.

#### Availability of data and materials

The datasets during and/or analyzed during the current study available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### Ethics approval and consent to participate

All participants signed informed consent and the study was approved by the regional ethics committee.

#### Consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

There are no relevant competing interests for any of the authors. The FOI device Xiralite® has been applied in this study. Xiralite GmbH has not contributed to the study design, collection or interpretation of the data, the writing of the manuscript, or the decision to publish the data. None of the authors have received funding from Xiralite GmbH.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Department of Rheumatology, Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Diakonveien 12, 0370 Oslo, Norway. <sup>2</sup>Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway. <sup>3</sup>Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Charite Universitatsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany.

#### Received: 25 February 2020 Accepted: 13 April 2020 Published online: 01 May 2020

#### References

- Marshall M, Watt FE, Vincent TL, Dziedzic K. Hand osteoarthritis: clinical phenotypes, molecular mechanisms and disease management. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14(11):641–56.
- Haugen IK, Boyesen P, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Sesseng S, van der Heijde D, Kvien TK. Associations between MRI-defined synovitis, bone marrow lesions and structural features and measures of pain and physical function in hand osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(6):899–904.
- Mathiessen A, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Kvien TK, Hammer HB, Haugen IK. Ultrasound-detected inflammation predicts radiographic progression in hand osteoarthritis after 5 years. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(5):825–30.
- Haugen IK, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Boyesen P, Sesseng S, van der Heijde D, Kvien TK. MRI findings predict radiographic progression and development of erosions in hand osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(1): 117–23.
- Ghouri A, Conaghan PG. Treating osteoarthritis pain: recent approaches using pharmacological therapies. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2019;37 Suppl 120(5): 124–9.
- Kroon FPB, Kortekaas MC, Boonen A, Bohringer S, Reijnierse M, Rosendaal FR, et al. Results of a 6-week treatment with 10 mg prednisolone in patients with hand osteoarthritis (HOPE): a double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled trial. Lancet. 2019;394:1993–2001.
- Werner SG, Langer HE, Ohrndorf S, Bahner M, Schott P, Schwenke C, et al. Inflammation assessment in patients with arthritis using a novel in vivo fluorescence optical imaging technology. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(4):504– 10.
- Werner SG, Langer HE, Schott P, Bahner M, Schwenke C, Lind-Albrecht G, et al. Indocyanine green-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging in patients with early and very early arthritis: a comparative study with magnetic resonance imaging. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(12):3036–44.
- Krohn M, Ohrndorf S, Werner SG, Schicke B, Burmester GR, Hamm B, et al. Near-infrared fluorescence optical imaging in early rheumatoid arthritis: a comparison to magnetic resonance imaging and ultrasonography. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(7):1112–8.
- Gloersen M, Mulrooney E, Mathiessen A, Hammer HB, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Faraj K, et al. A hospital-based observational cohort study exploring pain and biomarkers in patients with hand osteoarthritis in Norway: the Nor-Hand protocol. BMJ Open. 2017;7(9):e016938.
- Thuermel K, Neumann J, Jungmann PM, Schaffeler C, Waldt S, Heinze A, et al. Fluorescence optical imaging and 3T-MRI for detection of synovitis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in comparison to a composite standard of reference. Eur J Radiol. 2017;90:6–13.
- Haugen IK, Hestetun S, Drude B, Burmester GR, Kvien TK, Ohrndorf S. Altered microcirculation as a proxy for inflammation in hand osteoarthritis can reliably be assessed using fluorescence optical imaging [abstract]. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69 (Suppl.10). https://acrabstracts.org/abstract/ altered-microcirculation-as-a-proxy-for-inflammation-in-hand-osteoarthritiscan-reliably-be-assessed-using-fluorescence-optical-imaging/. Accessed 23 Apr 2020.
- Haugen IK, Eshed I, Gandjbakhch F, Foltz V, Ostergaard M, Boyesen P, et al. The longitudinal reliability and responsiveness of the OMERACT hand osteoarthritis magnetic resonance imaging scoring system (HOAMRIS). J Rheumatol. 2015;42(12):2486–91.
- Kroon FPB, Conaghan PG, Foltz V, Gandjbakhch F, Peterfy C, Eshed I, et al. Development and reliability of the OMERACT thumb base osteoarthritis magnetic resonance imaging scoring system. J Rheumatol. 2017;44(11): 1694–8.
- Haugen IK, Lillegraven S, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Haavardsholm EA, Sesseng S, Kvien TK, et al. Hand osteoarthritis and MRI: development and first validation step of the proposed Oslo hand osteoarthritis MRI score. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(6):1033–8.

- Hammer HB, Bolton-King P, Bakkeheim V, Berg TH, Sundt E, Kongtorp AK, et al. Examination of intra and interrater reliability with a new ultrasonographic reference atlas for scoring of synovitis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(11):1995–8.
- Fjellstad CM, Mathiessen A, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Kvien TK, Hammer HB, Haugen IK. Associations between ultrasound-detected synovitis, pain and function in interphalangeal and thumb base osteoarthritis: data from the Nor-Hand study. Arthritis Care Res.(Hoboken). 2019;10.1002/acr.24047. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.24047.
- Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 1957;16(4):494–502.
- Kellgren JH. Epidemiology of chronic rheumatism. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific; 1963.
- Verbruggen G, Veys EM. Numerical scoring systems for the anatomic evolution of osteoarthritis of the finger joints. Arthritis Rheum. 1996;39(2): 308–20.
- Fischer T, Ebert B, Voigt J, Macdonald R, Schneider U, Thomas A, et al. Detection of rheumatoid arthritis using non-specific contrast enhanced fluorescence imaging. Acad Radiol. 2010;17(3):375–81.
- 22. Hirano F, Yokoyama-Kokuryo W, Yamazaki H, Tsutsumino M, Sakai R, Satoh S, et al. Comparison of fluorescence optical imaging, ultrasonography and clinical examination with magnetic resonance imaging as a reference in active rheumatoid arthritis patients. Immunol Med. 2018;41(2):75–81.
- Glimm AM, Werner SG, Burmester GR, Backhaus M, Ohrndorf S. Analysis of distribution and severity of inflammation in patients with osteoarthitis compared to rheumatoid arthritis by ICG-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging and musculoskeletal ultrasound: a pilot study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(3):566–70.
- 24. Terslev L, Christensen R, Aga AB, Sexton J, Haavardsholm EA, Hammer HB. Assessing synovitis in the hands in patients with rheumatoid arthritis by ultrasound: an agreement study exploring the most inflammatory active side from two Norwegian trials. Arthritis Res Ther. 2019;21(1):166.
- Ejbjerg B, Narvestad E, Rostrup E, Szkudlarek M, Jacobsen S, Thomsen HS, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of wrist and finger joints in healthy subjects occasionally shows changes resembling erosions and synovitis as seen in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(4):1097–106.
- Meier R, Krug C, Golovko D, Boddington S, Piontek G, Rudelius M, et al. Indocyanine green-enhanced imaging of antigen-induced arthritis with an integrated optical imaging/radiography system. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(8): 2322–7.
- Maugesten Ø, Ohrndorf S, Glinatsi D, Ammitzbøll-Danielsen M, Kisten Y, Østergaard M, et al. Evaluation of three scoring methods for fluorescence optical imaging in erosive hand osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Open. 2020;1(3–4).

#### **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- $\bullet\,$  gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

#### At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Online supplement Table S1: The diagnostic performance of FOI measuring synovitis using MRI grade 2 & 3 as reference.

FOI	FOI+/MRI+	FOI-/MRI-	Sens.	Spec.	PPV	NPV	AUC	PA
PVM	192/268	1862/2823	0.72	0.66	0.17	0.96	0.72	66
Phase 1	10/265	2786/2812	0.04	0.99	0.28	0.92	0.51	91
Phase 2	213/260	1531/2733	0.82	0.56	0.15	0.97	0.74	58
Phase 3	111/260	2334/2719	0.43	0.86	0.22	0.94	0.64	82

FOI=Fluorescence optical imaging, PVM=FOI Prima Vista Mode, Phase 1= FOI Phase 1, Phase 2= FOI Phase 2, Phase 3= FOI Phase 3, MRI= Magnetic Resonance Imaging, GS= Grey Scale Ultrasound, Sens.= sensitivity, Spec.= Specificity, PPV= Positive Predictive Value, NPV= Negative Predictive Value, PA= Percent Agreement, AUC= Area under the curve.





AUC; Area under the curve ROC; Receiver operating characteristics

# 

# symptoms in hand osteoarthritis

Øystein Maugesten, MD<sup>12</sup>, Sarah Ohrndorf, MD PD<sup>3</sup>, Barbara Slatkowsky-Christensen, MD PhD<sup>1</sup>, Prof. Tore K Kvien, MD PhD<sup>12</sup>, Prof. Till Uhlig MD PhD<sup>12</sup>, Ida Kristin Haugen, MD PhD<sup>1</sup>

1 Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Division of Rheumatology and Research, Oslo, Norway

2 University of Oslo, Faculty of Medicine, Oslo, Norway

3 Charite Universitatsmedizin Berlin, Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Berlin, Germany

There are no relevant disclosures for any of the authors.

The Nor-Hand study was supported by funds from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, the Pahles Foundation/the Norwegian Rheumatism Association, the Simon Fougner Hartmanns Family Foundation, and the Trygve Gythfeldt and Wife's Research Foundation. The ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation through EXTRA funds has financed the PhD position of Øystein Maugesten.

Corresponding author:

Øystein Maugesten, Dept. of Rheumatology, Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Box 23 Vinderen, N-

0319 Oslo, Norway.

e-mail: oystein.maugesten@gmail.com

Orcid ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7228-8507

# Abstract

<u>Objectives</u>: To investigate whether Fluorescence Optical Imaging (FOI) enhancement and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)-defined synovitis are associated with pain and physical function in hand osteoarthritis (OA) patients.

<u>Methods:</u> Bilateral FOI scans and MRI of the dominant hand were available for 221 patients. Finger joints were examined for tenderness on palpation. Pain in individual finger joints during the last 24 hours and last 6 weeks and hand pain intensity by the Australian/Canadian hand index and Numeric Rating Scale were self-reported. On joint level, we applied logistic regression with generalized estimating equations to examine whether FOI enhancement and MRI-defined synovitis were associated with pain in the same joint. On subject level, we applied linear regression to assess whether FOI and MRI sum scores were associated with pain intensity and physical function.

<u>Results:</u> Metacarpophalangeal and thumb base joints were excluded from analyses due to little/no FOI enhancement. Finger joints with FOI enhancement on the composite image had higher odds (95% confidence interval) of pain during the last 6 weeks (grade 1: 1.4 (1.2-1.6), grade 2-3: 2.1 (1.7-2.6)). Similar results were found for joint pain during the last 24 hours and joint tenderness in fingers. Numerically stronger associations were found between MRIdefined synovitis and finger joint pain/tenderness. FOI and MRI sum scores demonstrated no/weak associations with hand pain and physical function.

<u>Conclusion</u>: FOI enhancement and MRI-defined synovitis were associated with pain in the same finger joint. None of the imaging modalities demonstrated consistent associations with pain, stiffness and physical function on subject level.

Keywords: hand; osteoarthritis; mri; diagnostic imaging; inflammation

Key messages:

- FOI has been suggested to measure inflammation in finger joints.
- FOI enhancement was associated with pain in the same interphalangeal joint.
- FOI enhancement was not associated with hand pain on patient level.

# Introduction

Inflammation is a prominent feature in persons with hand osteoarthritis (OA), and ultrasound- and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)-detected synovitis are associated with pain in the same joint (1, 2). Synovitis has been suggested to be a treatment target, and both ultrasound- and MRI-detected synovitis have been applied as outcome measures in recent hand OA trials (4, 5). However, both modalities have their limitations, with operator dependency and high cost, respectively. Fluorescence Optical Imaging (FOI) is a fast nonionizing imaging technique that can be operated by trained medical personnel. FOI has been suggested to demonstrate enhanced microcirculation around finger and wrist joints as a sign of inflammation and has shown moderate to good agreement with MRI in primary inflammatory joint diseases(6, 7). We recently showed that FOI exams can be assessed with good reliability in erosive hand OA (8), and persons with hand OA demonstrated FOI enhancement in distal interphalangeal (DIP) and proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joints (9). However, we recently presented poor diagnostic performance for FOI enhancement in hand OA using MRI and ultrasound as a reference (10).

Our primary aim in this paper was to explore the associations between FOI enhancement and markers of pain on joint level and the associations between FOI sum scores and measures of pain, stiffness and physical function on subject level. Secondly, we examined the associations between MRI-defined synovitis and symptoms in the same patient cohort.

# Methods

# Study participants

We included participants from the Nor-Hand study at Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Oslo, Norway. Their age ranged from 40 to 70 years and all had hand OA by clinical examination and/or ultrasound (11). All participants provided written informed consent and the study was approved by the Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics (number 2014/2057).

# Fluorescence optical imaging (FOI)

The optical images were obtained with a Xiralite<sup>®</sup> scanner. Unless contraindications, the participants were injected with a fluorescent dye (indocyanine green 0.1 mg/kg body weight) prior to the FOI examination. Thereafter, the hands were inserted in the Xiralite<sup>®</sup> scanner, and near-infrared light from light-emitting diodes were projected onto the hands for six minutes. A highly sensitive camera produced 360 images (one per second) , showing the distribution of the fluorescent dye. According to the FOI activity score (FOIAS) (6, 9, 12) four images were assessed; Prima vista mode (PVM, a composite image from the 240 first images) and three images representing phase 1, 2, and 3 based on the distribution and washing out of the fluorescent dye in relation to the fingertips (Supplementary Figure 1). The DIP, PIP including the 1st interphalangeal (IP1), metacarpophalangeal (MCP) and thumb base (including the first carpometacarpal (CMC1) and scaphotrapeziotrapezoidal (STT) joints) were graded on 0-3 scales based on color intensity and width of enhancement. A medical

doctor trained in assessing FOI images with good inter-reader reliability with an experienced reader (SO) evaluated all FOI scans(10).

# MRI

Unless contraindications, MRI with gadolinium contrast (Dotarem 279.3 mg/mL, 0.2 mL/kg body weight) of the dominant hand was obtained with a 1.5T MRI (Siemens Aera, Germany) covering the fingers and thumb base by a 16-channel hand/wrist coil. The axial and sagittal planes of a TI-weighted volumetric interpolated breath-hold examination (VIBE) reconstructed into three planes with 2.0 mm thickness were used for assessment of synovitis. One trained reader (ØM) scored the images after obtaining good to very good inter-reader reliability with an experienced reader (IKH) (weighted kappa: 0.69, intraclass correlation coefficient: 0.89) (10). Synovitis in the DIP and PIP (including IP1) joints was assessed on a 0-3 scale according to the Hand OA MRI scoring system (HOAMRIS)(13). The MCP joints were scored with the same criteria as the PIP joints. The CMC1 and STT joints were evaluated in the frontal and axial planes using the TOMS atlas (14).

# Clinical examination

An experienced rheumatologist (BSC) examined the DIP, PIP (including IP1), MCP and thumb base joints for bony enlargement, joint tenderness and soft tissue swelling with the EULAR handbook as reference(16). The Doyle index (scale 0-3) was used to assess joint tenderness on palpation(17), and dichotomized scores were used in analyses (0=no tenderness, grade 1-3=presence of joint tenderness).

Grip strength, self-reported pain variables and pain medication

Grip strength of the dominant hand was measured twice with 15 seconds interval with a Jamar dynamometer and the mean value was calculated.

The participants marked painful hand joints during the last 24 hours and the last 6 weeks on two separate hand diagrams. They also completed the Australian/Canadian Osteoarthritis Hand Index (AUSCAN) including 5 questions about hand pain (0-20 scale), one question on hand stiffness (0-4 scale) and nine questions on hand function (0-36 scale), all within the last 48 hours. Hand pain intensity during the last 24 hours was evaluated on a numeric rating scale (NRS) from 0=no pain to 10=worst imaginable pain, and regular use of oral nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and corticosteroids was self-reported.

# Statistics

On joint level, we applied logistic regression analyses to investigate if FOI enhancement and MRI-defined synovitis were associated with pain. Data from the bilateral DIP/PIP joints were used in analyses of FOI and pain, whereas data from the DIP/PIP joints in the dominant hand only were used in analyses of MRI and pain. Generalized estimating equations (GEE) was applied to account for dependency between joints within each participant. Separate models were used for each of the FOI phases, PVM and MRI and the three variables on pain in individual joints.

On subject level, we calculated sum scores for FOI enhancement and MRI synovitis in the DIP/PIP joints of the dominant hand and performed linear regression analysis to explore associations with AUSCAN pain, stiffness and physical function subscales, NRS hand pain, and grip strength. All analyses were adjusted for age, sex, body mass index and daily use of oral NSAIDs or corticosteroids. Results were presented as unstandardized B coefficients with 95% confidence intervals (CI) per increase in one SD of the sum scores. Stata version 14.0 was used, and p-values<0.05 was regarded as statistically significant.

# Results

# Study population

Among the 300 participants in the Nor-Hand study, n=253 performed FOI. Three additional FOI exams were excluded due to lack of any fluorescence enhancement. No adverse events were reported. Among the 250 participants with available FOI examinations, n=221 performed MRI and were included in further analyses (Table 1). The mean(standard deviation, SD) interval between MRI scans and the FOI scan/clinical examination was 9.0 (13.9) days. The MCP and thumb base joint showed little and no enhancement and were excluded from further analyses.

# Associations with pain in individual joints (joint level analyses)

FOI enhancement in the DIP/PIP joints was associated with pain last 24 hours, last 6 weeks and tenderness on palpation with the strongest associations observed for moderate/severe enhancement (Table 2). MRI-defined synovitis showed numerically stronger associations with pain during the last 24 hours, last 6 weeks and tenderness compared with the results on FOI.

# Associations with hand pain and physical function (subject level analyses)

FOI PVM, Phase 2 and Phase 3 sum scores were weakly associated with NRS hand pain (B coefficients ranging from 0.33 to 0.43 per one SD of the sum scores), whereas no association with NRS hand pain was detected for FOI Phase 1 and MRI. No associations were found for AUSCAN pain, AUSCAN physical function and grip strength, except for an association between FOI Phase 3 and AUSCAN physical function. FOI Phase 2 and 3 were weakly

associated with AUSCAN stiffness. Although not statistically significant, inverse associations were found between sum scores of MRI-defined synovitis and AUSCAN pain, AUSCAN physical function and NRS pain (Supplementary Table 1).

# Discussion

This is the first study to investigate the associations between FOI enhancement and pain in persons with hand OA. On joint level we found statistically significant associations between increasing levels of FOI enhancement and self-reported pain and tenderness by clinical examination. The associations between synovitis and pain are numerically stronger for MRIdefined synovitis (as shown in the current paper) and ultrasound-detected synovitis (shown in the same patient population)(1). However, this numerical difference in strength of associations must be interpreted with caution as their confidence intervals are overlapping. On subject level, we found no or only weak associations between sum scores of FOI enhancement and patient-reported variables and grip strength. Similarly, previous studies have shown weak associations between MRI- and ultrasound-detected synovitis and pain on subject level in persons with hand OA(1, 2). Our analyses did not include the thumb base joints, which might affect pain and function to a larger degree than DIP/PIP involvement in hand OA, and could thus explain the lack of associations with AUSCAN subscales and grip strength. We found weak but statistically significant associations between FOI sum scores (PVM, Phase 2 and 3) and NRS hand pain, while no associations were demonstrated with AUSCAN pain subscale. The majority of questions in AUSCAN pain subscale are related to pain during hand activities, while the NRS pain variable consists of one question about hand pain in the course of the last 24 hours, which does not discriminate between pain during activities or at rest. Hence, the NRS pain question might have picked up pain at rest to a

larger degree than the AUSCAN pain subscale, and could thus explain why different associations were found for the two pain measures. It is acknowledged that several factors contribute to the overall pain experience in hand OA, i.e. structural changes, genetics, pain sensitization and psychosocial factors. On joint level these factors may be less important, as illustrated by our findings of strong associations with presence of pain in the same joint, and weaker, if any, associations with the overall severity of hand pain.

Our finding of clear associations between FOI enhancement and pain in the same joint, combined with previous findings of poor correlations between FOI and MRI- and ultrasound-defined synovitis, is intriguing and raises the question of what FOI enhancement represent in persons with hand OA. Extra-articular inflammation caused by local tissue stress from protruding osteophytes or increased vascularity of the bone in OA joints due to bone remodeling are two hypotheses, and can only be confirmed by histology. Nonetheless, the previously demonstrated low diagnostic performance of FOI in hand OA suggests that FOI enhancement is associated with more noise than established imaging modalities and support the validity of MRI and ultrasound in hand OA(10).

The thumb base joints are commonly affected by OA and the lack of FOI enhancement in this joint group is an important limitation of this modality. The lack of enhancement might be explained by the joints being surrounded by more soft tissue than the DIP/PIP joints, making it more difficult to visualize the joint inflammation. Furthermore, the participants were recruited from a hospital-based cohort and the results might not be applicable to a hand OA population in primary care. MRI images were acquired on average 9 days after the FOI images and the synovitis might have fluctuated between exams. Nevertheless, since FOI was obtained on the same day as the clinical examination, a stronger, and not weaker (as shown in our analyses), association for FOI would be expected. Finally, we scored the FOI images with the FOIAS, a semi-quantitative scoring method applied in several studies(7, 9, 12). However, quantitative and dynamic scoring methods have been applied on patients with inflammatory joint disease and could possibly have yielded stronger associations between FOI and pain in our cohort (19, 20).

In a patient perspective, pain is an important aspect. We found that FOI enhancement was strongly associated with pain on joint level. However, previous findings of poor correlation with MRI makes it difficult to conclude what aspect of the pathological process FOI represents. On subject level, FOI demonstrated weak, if any, associations with severity of hand pain and functioning in hand OA, comparable to previous findings on MRI and ultrasound.
<u>Acknowledgments</u>: We would like to thank all participants in the Nor-Hand study, staff at the rheumatology department at Diakonhjemmet hospital, Oslo, Norway for help with performing the study, statisticians Joe Sexton and Øivind Skare at Diakonhjemmet Hospital for assistance with the statistical analyses and MD Sigrid Hestetun for scoring the FOI images. We would also like to thank radiologist Karwan Faraj at the department of radiology at Diakonhjemmet hospital for instructions on MRI assessment and Dr. Stephanie Werner for guidance about the FOI activity score (FOIAS).

<u>Author contributions:</u> ØM, IKH, SO: a) Substantial contributions to study conception and design; and b) Substantial contributions to acquisition of data; and c) Substantial contributions to analysis and interpretation of data. TKK, TU: a) Substantial contributions to study conception and design and c) Substantial contributions to analysis and interpretation of data. BSC: b) Substantial contributions to acquisition of data and c) Substantial contributions to analysis and interpretation of data. All authors revised the final draft critically for important intellectual content and approved the final version.

<u>Competing interests</u>: There are no relevant disclosures for any of the authors.

<u>Data availability</u>: The data underlying this article will be shared on reasonable request to the corresponding author.

<u>Funding</u>: The Nor-Hand study was supported by funds from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority, the Pahles Foundation/Norwegian Rheumatology Association, the Simon Fougner Hartmanns Family Foundation, and the Trygve Gythfeldt and Wife's Research Foundation. The ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation through EXTRA funds has financed the PhD position of Øystein Maugesten. <u>Role of Xiralite GmbH</u>: The FOI device Xiralite<sup>®</sup> from Xiralite GmbH has been applied in this study. Xiralite GmbH has not contributed to the study design, collection or interpretation of the data, the writing of the manuscript or the decision to publish the data. None of the authors have received funding from Xiralite GmbH.

## References:

Fjellstad CM, Mathiessen A, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Kvien TK, Hammer HB, Haugen IK. Associations between ultrasound-detected synovitis, pain and function in interphalangeal and thumb base osteoarthritis: Data from the Nor-Hand study. Arthritis Care Res. 2019.

 Haugen IK, Boyesen P, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Sesseng S, van der Heijde D, Kvien TK. Associations between MRI-defined synovitis, bone marrow lesions and structural features and measures of pain and physical function in hand osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(6):899-904.

Oo WM, Yu SP-C, Daniel MS, Hunter DJ. Disease-modifying drugs in osteoarthritis:
current understanding and future therapeutics. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs. 2018;23(4):331 47.

4. Kroon FPB, Kortekaas MC, Boonen A, Bohringer S, Reijnierse M, Rosendaal FR, et al. Results of a 6-week treatment with 10 mg prednisolone in patients with hand osteoarthritis (HOPE): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2019;394:1993-2001.

5. Kloppenburg M, Ramonda R, Bobacz K, Kwok W-Y, Elewaut D, Huizinga TWJ, et al. Etanercept in patients with inflammatory hand osteoarthritis (EHOA): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(12):1757-64. 6. Werner SG, Langer HE, Ohrndorf S, Bahner M, Schott P, Schwenke C, et al. Inflammation assessment in patients with arthritis using a novel in vivo fluorescence optical imaging technology. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(4):504-10.

7. Krohn M, Ohrndorf S, Werner SG, Schicke B, Burmester GR, Hamm B, et al. Nearinfrared Fluorescence Optical Imaging in Early Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Comparison to Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Ultrasonography. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(7):1112-8.

Maugesten Ø, Ohrndorf S, Glinatsi D, Ammitzbøll-Danielsen M, Kisten Y, Østergaard
M, et al. Evaluation of three scoring methods for Fluorescence Optical Imaging in erosive
hand osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis Osteoarthritis and Cartilage Open. 2020;1(3-4).

9. Glimm AM, Werner SG, Burmester GR, Backhaus M, Ohrndorf S. Analysis of distribution and severity of inflammation in patients with osteoarthitis compared to rheumatoid arthritis by ICG-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging and musculoskeletal ultrasound: a pilot study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(3):566-70.

10. Maugesten Ø, Mathiessen A, Hammer HB, Hestetun SV, Kvien TK, Uhlig T, et al. Validity and diagnostic performance of fluorescence optical imaging measuring synovitis in hand osteoarthritis: baseline results from the Nor-Hand cohort. Arthritis Res Ther. 2020;22(1):98.

11. Gloersen M, Mulrooney E, Mathiessen A, Hammer HB, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Faraj K, et al. A hospital-based observational cohort study exploring pain and biomarkers in patients with hand osteoarthritis in Norway: The Nor-Hand protocol. BMJ Open. 2017;7(9):e016938.

12. Werner SG, Langer HE, Schott P, Bahner M, Schwenke C, Lind-Albrecht G, et al. Indocyanine green-enhanced fluorescence optical imaging in patients with early and very early arthritis: a comparative study with magnetic resonance imaging. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(12):3036-44.

13. Haugen IK, Ostergaard M, Eshed I, McQueen FM, Bird P, Gandjbakhch F, et al. Iterative development and reliability of the OMERACT hand osteoarthritis MRI scoring system. J Rheumatol. 2014;41(2):386-91.

14. Kroon FPB, Conaghan PG, Foltz V, Gandjbakhch F, Peterfy C, Eshed I, et al. Development and Reliability of the OMERACT Thumb Base Osteoarthritis Magnetic Resonance Imaging Scoring System. J Rheumatol. 2017;44(11):1694-8.

15. Haugen IK, Lillegraven S, Slatkowsky-Christensen B, Haavardsholm EA, Sesseng S, Kvien TK, et al. Hand osteoarthritis and MRI: development and first validation step of the proposed Oslo Hand Osteoarthritis MRI score. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(6):1033-8.

16. van Riel PLCM, van Gestel AM, Scott DL, Trials ELaRSCfICSiT. EULAR Handbook of Clinical Assessments in Rheumatoid Arthritis: On Behalf of the EULAR Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutic Trials -ESCISIT (chairman, Piet L.C.M Van Riel): Van Zuiden; 2000.

17. Bijsterbosch J, Wassenaar MJE, le Cessie S, Slagboom PE, Rosendaal FR, Huizinga TWJ, et al. Doyle Index is a valuable additional pain measure in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2010;18(8):1046-50.

18. Kroon FPB, van Beest S, Ermurat S, Kortekaas MC, Bloem JL, Reijnierse M, et al. In thumb base osteoarthritis structural damage is more strongly associated with pain than synovitis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2018;26(9):1196-202.

19. Schäfer VS, Hartung W, Hoffstetter P, Berger J, Stroszczynski C, Müller M, et al. Quantitative assessment of synovitis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis using fluorescence optical imaging. Arthritis Res Ther. 2013;15(5):R124. 20. Meier R, Thuermel K, Noel PB, Moog P, Sievert M, Ahari C, et al. Synovitis in patients with early inflammatory arthritis monitored with quantitative analysis of dynamic contrastenhanced optical imaging and MR imaging. Radiology. 2014;270(1):176-85.

Age, mean (SD) years	60.6 (6.2)
Sex, n (%) women	194 (87.8)
BMI, mean (SD) kg/m <sup>2</sup>	26.2 (4.7)
Fulfillment of the ACR criteria for hand OA, n (%)	203 (91.9)
Erosive hand OA, n (%)	74 (33.5)
KL sum score, mean (SD) [range 0-120]	28.9 (18.0)
FOI PVM sum score, mean (SD) [range 0-27] <sup>12</sup>	6.6 (3.8)
FOI Phase 1 sum score, mean (SD) [range 0-27] <sup>12</sup>	0.4 (1.8)
FOI Phase 2 sum score, mean (SD) [range 0-27] <sup>12</sup>	11.2 (5.2)
FOI Phase 3 sum score, mean (SD) [range 0-27] <sup>12</sup>	2.7 (3.0)
HOAMRIS sum score, mean (SD) [range 0-27] <sup>2</sup>	6.4 (4.8)
Tender joint count by CE, median (IQR) [range 0-9] <sup>2</sup>	3 (1-5)
NRS hand pain intensity, mean (SD) [range 0-10] $^{1}$	3.7 (2.3)
AUSCAN pain, mean (SD) [range 0-20]	8.1 (4.1)
AUSCAN physical, mean (SD) [range 0-36]	12.8 (7.9)
AUSCAN stiffness, mean (SD) [range 0-4] <sup>1</sup>	1.63 (0.9)
Grip strength of dominant hand, mean (SD) kg	22.4 (9.4)
Regular use of anti-inflammatory drug <sup>3</sup> , n (%)	30 (13.6)

<sup>1</sup> Missing values for the following variables: AUSCAN stiffness (n=1), NRS hand pain (n=1), Phase 1 (n=1), Phase 2 (n=7), Phase 3 (n=8).

<sup>2</sup> Sum score of DIP and PIP joints of the dominant hand only.

<sup>3</sup> Oral NSAIDS or corticosteroids.

ACR=American College of Rheumatology, AUSCAN=Australian/Canadian Hand Index, BMI= Body mass index, CE= clinical examination, DIP=distal interphalangeal, FOI=Fluorescence Optical Imaging, HOAMRIS=Hand OA MRI scoring system, KL=Kellgren-Lawrence, NRS=Numeric rating scale, NSAIDs=non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs,

OA=osteoarthritis, PIP=proximal interphalangeal

Table 2: Associations between FOI and MRI enhancement and pain in individual DIP and PIP joints

	Self-reported pain	Self-reported	Joint tenderness by CE
	last 24 hours	pain last 6 weeks	OR (95 % CI)
	OR (95 % CI)	OR (95 % CI)	
FOI Phase 1			
Grade 0 (n=3899)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)
Grade 1-3 <sup>1</sup> (n=46)	1.87 (1.07, 3.26)	2.04 (1.20, 3.48)	2.32 (1.35, 3.99)
FOI Phase 2			
Grade 0 (n=1058)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)
Grade 1 (n=1307)	1.24 (1.03, 1.49)	1.28 (1.06, 1.53)	1.19 (1.01, 1.40)
Grade 2 (n=1192)	1.81 (1.48, 2.21)	1.94 (1.59, 2.36)	1.43 (1.20, 1.71)
Grade 3 (n=280)	2.08 (1.54, 2.81)	2.48 (1.85, 3.33)	1.98 (1.51, 2.60)
FOI Phase 3			
Grade 0 (n=2940)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)
Grade 1 (n=768)	1.28 (1.07, 1.53)	1.31 (1.09, 1.56)	1.27 (1.07, 1.49)
Grade 2+3 <sup>2</sup> (n=111)	1.81 (1.21, 2.71)	2.02 (1.37, 2.97)	1.93 (1.32, 2.82)
FOI PVM			
Grade 0 (n=1596)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)
Grade 1 (n=1665)	1.24 (1.06, 1.45)	1.37 (1.17, 1.60)	1.24 (1.08, 1.43)
Grade 2 <sup>3</sup> (n=701)	1.98 (1.62, 2.42)	2.09 (1.71, 2.55)	1.84 (1.53, 2.22)

MRI-defined synovitis

Grade 0 (n=888)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)	1.00 (ref.)
Grade 1 (n=841)	1.41 (1.11, 1.80)	1.43 (1.12, 1.82)	1.63 (1.32, 2.02)
Grade 2 (n=195)	3.36 (2.39, 4.74)	3.27 (2.33, 4.59)	3.85 (2.78, 5.33)
Grade 3 (n=64)	5.15 (3.08, 8.64)	6.09 (3.69, 10.06)	9.02 (4.98, 16.35)

<sup>1</sup> Grade 1, 2 and 3 combined in Phase 1 due to few joints with enhancement.

<sup>2</sup> Grade 2 and 3 combined due to few joints with grade 3 in Phase 3.

<sup>3</sup> No joints with grade 3 in Prima Vista Mode.

CE=clinical examination, CI=confidence interval, DIP=distal interphalangeal,

FOI=Fluorescence Optical Imaging, MRI=Magnetic Resonance Imaging, PIP=proximal

interphalangeal.

				5	-
	NRS pain	AUSCAN pain	AUSCAN physical	AUSCAN stiffness	Grip strength
	B (95 % CI)	B (95 % CI)	B (95 % CI)	B (95 % CI)	B (95 % CI)
FOI PVM	0.43 (0.12, 0.74)	0.46 (-0.10, 1.01)	0.76 (-0.29, 1.81)	0.11 (-0.02, 0.24)	-0.23 (-1.30, 0.85)
FOI Phase 1	0.21 (-0.09, 0.51)	0.49 (-0.04, 1.02)	0.85 (-0.16, 1.87)	0.01 (-0.11, 0.14)	0.56 (-0.47, 1.60)
FOI Phase 2	0.35~(0.03,0.68)	0.31 (-0.27, 0.89)	0.74 (-0.37, 1.85)	0.12 (-0.02, 0.26)	0.19 (-0.95, 1.33)
FOI Phase 3	0.33 $(0.01, 0.64)$	0.42 (-0.14, 0.97)	1.24 (0.19, 2.30)	0.18~(0.04,0.31)	0.00 (-1.09, 1.10)
MRI-defined	-0.26 (-0.56, 0.05)	-0.33 (-0.88, 0.22)	-0.68 (-1.71, 0.36)	0.00 (-0.13, 0.13)	0.36 (-0.70, 1.42)
synovitis					

Supplementary table 1: Associations between sum scores of FOI enhancement and MRI-synovitis and hand symptoms

AUSCAN=Australian/Canadian hand index, CI = confidence interval, DIP = distal interphalangeal, FOI = Fluorescence Optical Imaging, MRI= Presented as unstandardized B coefficients (95 % CI) for SD of sum scores, adjusted for age, sex, BMI, and use of anti-inflammatory drugs. Magnetic Resonance Imaging, NRS= numeric rating scale, PIP = proximal interphalangeal, PVM = Prima Vista Mode.

Supplementary Figure 1:

Phase 1-3 and PVM images from a hand OA patient, with examples of enhancement grade 0-3 in 3rd PIP of the right hand. a) phase 1, grade 0; b) phase 2, grade 3; c) phase 3, grade 1; d) PVM, grade 2.

PVM; Prima Vista Mode, PIP; Proximal interphalangeal joint.

